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Unless the context indicates otherwise, reference to "Visa," "Company," "we," "us" or "our" refers to Visa Inc. and its subsidiaries.
"Visa" and our other trademarks referenced in this report are Visa's property. This report may contain additional trade names and trademarks
of other companies. The use or display of other companies' trade names or trademarks does not imply our endorsement or sponsorship of, or a
relationship with these companies.
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Forward-Looking Statements:
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
of 1995 that relate to, among other things, our future operations, prospects, developments, strategies, growth of our business, integration of Visa
Europe, anticipated expansion of our products in certain countries, plans to issue additional debt, industry developments, expectations regarding
litigation, timing and amount of stock repurchases, sufficiency of sources of liquidity and funding, effectiveness of our risk management programs
and expectations regarding the impact of recent accounting pronouncements on our consolidated financial statements. Forward-looking statements
generally are identified by words such as "believes," "estimates," "expects," "intends," "may," "projects," “could," "should," "will," "continue" and other
similar expressions. All statements other than statements of historical fact could be forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date they
are made, are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are beyond our
control and are difficult to predict. We describe risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in, or
implied by, any of these forward-looking statements in Item 1 — Business , Item 1A — Risk Factors , Item 7—Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and elsewhere in this report. Except as required by law, we do not intend to update or
revise any forward-looking statements as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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PART I
ITEM 1.

Business

OVERVIEW
Visa is a global payments technology company that connects consumers, merchants, financial institutions, businesses, strategic partners and
government entities in more than 200 countries and territories to fast, secure and reliable electronic payments. We enable global commerce through
the transfer of value and information among these participants. Our advanced transaction processing network facilitates authorization, clearing and
settlement of payment transactions and enables us to provide our financial institution and merchant clients a wide range of products, platforms and
value-added services.
Our vision is to be the best way to pay and be paid for everyone, everywhere. To deliver on this vision, we focus on six strategic goals:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Evolve our client interactions to build deeper partnerships with financial institutions, merchants and new industry partners;
Transform Visa’s technology assets to drive efficiency and enable innovation;
Achieve success as a leading partner for digital payments comparable to what we have achieved in the physical world;
Expand access to Visa products and services globally;
Champion payment system security for the industry; and
Be the employer of choice for top talent.

Visa is one of the world’s largest retail electronic payments network based on payments volume, number of transactions and number of cards
in circulation.
Visa Network

* Total volume includes Europe for the fourth quarter.

Visa operates in a four party model, which includes card issuing financial institutions, acquirers and merchants. We are not a bank and do not
issue cards, extend credit or set rates and fees for account holders on Visa products. In most cases, our financial institution clients are responsible
for and manage account holder and merchant relationships.
We do not earn revenues from, or bear credit risk with respect to, interest or fees paid by account holders on Visa products. Interchange
reimbursement fees represent a transfer of value between the financial institutions participating in our open-loop payments network. We administer
the collection and remittance of interchange reimbursement fees through the settlement process, but we generally do not receive any revenue
related to interchange reimbursement fees. In addition, we do not receive as revenue any of the fees that merchants are charged directly for
acceptance by the acquirers.
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Visa Brand
The Visa brand is one of the most well-known and valuable brands in the world. Anchored on the notion that Visa is 'everywhere you want to
be,' the brand stands for acceptance, security, convenience and universality. In recognition of its strength among clients and consumers, the Visa
brand is ranked highly in a number of widely recognized brand studies, including the 2016 BrandZ Top 100 Most Valuable Global Brands Study (#6),
Interbrand’s 2016 Best Global Brands (#61) and Forbes 2016 World’s Most Valuable Brands (#30). We leverage our brand strength to deliver added
value to financial institutions, merchants and other clients through compelling brand expressions, expanded products and services, and innovative
marketing efforts.
Payment Security
Security is critical to maintaining trust and confidence in electronic payments. To ensure that Visa remains one of the safest ways to pay and be
paid, we deploy a multi-layered security approach focused on eliminating vulnerable data from the payments environment, securing the data that
remains, preventing fraud and empowering system participants to protect themselves. This approach has historically kept fraud rates low as
payment volumes have grown. With commerce moving to digital channels, we are investing in new technologies and solutions in order to maintain
the trust that consumers, clients and merchants place in Visa. This requires innovation, leadership and cross-industry collaboration.
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Fiscal 2016 Key Statistics

*Please see Item 7—Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for a reconciliation of our adjusted
financial results.
KEY INITIATIVES
Visa Europe Acquisition . Prior to our 2007 reorganization, Visa operated as a collection of member-owned associations, with each region
serving its member financial institutions and administering Visa programs within a global framework. In 2007, Visa reorganized, with all of the
regions except Visa Europe coming together to form Visa Inc., a Delaware corporation. Visa Europe remained owned by its European member
financial institutions.
On June 21, 2016, we acquired Visa Europe. We believe the acquisition positions our Company to create additional value through increased
scale, efficiencies realized by integration of the businesses, and benefits related to Visa Europe's transition from a member-owned association to a
for-profit enterprise. We plan to bring Visa's global capabilities to our European clients, deliver a more seamless experience operating as one single
global company and grow our business in that region. As part of the acquisition, we acquired 100% of the share capital of Visa Europe for €12.2
billion ($13.9 billion) and €5.3 billion ($6.1 billion) in preferred stock, with an additional €1.0 billion, plus 4% compound annual interest, to be paid on
June 21, 2019.
Capital Structure . In December 2015, we issued $16 billion of senior notes with maturities ranging between two and 30 years, and in June
2016, we issued two new series of preferred stock to Visa Europe's member financial institutions that are convertible into approximately 79 million
shares of class A common stock as part of the Visa Europe transaction. We also have plans to raise an additional $2 billion in debt by the end of
calendar year 2016, subject to market conditions.
Technology Transformation. At its heart, Visa is a technology company. With the intensifying digital economy and the ubiquity of mobile
technology, data and enhanced security driving the future of payments, we embarked on a multi-year journey in 2015 to transform technology at
Visa with the main areas of focus on opening our network and creating a digital platform for innovation while at the same time adding layers of
security and operational resilience. We have executed on our workforce plan by hiring a total of 1,700 technology employees globally over the past
two years, including nearly 750 new college graduates, replacing a significant percentage of our contractor and vendor spend. We are making
steady progress on our technology strategic roadmap, resulting in enhanced services for our ecosystem stakeholders and positive impacts to our
infrastructure. Since the launch of Visa’s Developer Platform (VDP) in 2015, more than 180 of Visa’s product or service functions are available in API
or application program interface format to our clients and partners. We added new services to enable clients to develop support for tokenized
transactions and create new and innovative solutions in mobile, ecommerce and digital face-to-face transactions. Cybersecurity remains a top focus
and in fiscal 2016 we launched our new Threat Intelligence Fusion Platform, a cyber command and control center that provides integrated
cybersecurity operations to further help protect our data and assets. At the same time, new open technologies have been added
6
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systematically to our infrastructure and platform components and we continue to bolster the resiliency of our infrastructure and application services
to provide high availability of our services for our clients.
How We Work with Partners - Innovation Centers, VDP & API Suite. To drive new technologies in the payments space and accelerate the
proliferation of safe and fast digital payments, we opened new innovation centers in Dubai, Miami and Singapore in fiscal 2016. Along with the San
Francisco innovation center and European innovation hubs in London, Tel Aviv and Berlin, these centers foster collaboration with our financial
institution clients, partners and developers across the regions to spur creation of the next generation of payments and commerce applications and
solutions. In 2016, VDP became generally available, offered application developers around the globe access to Visa technology, services and tools,
and provided safe testing environments for the development of new digital payments and commerce solutions. By exposing new and modified APIs
through a variety of channels, Visa has made digital payment solutions available to support hundreds of financial institutions and technology partners
such as Google, Microsoft and Samsung.
PRODUCTS & SERVICES
Core Products
Debit: Debit cards are issued by banks to allow consumers to access funds held in their demand deposit accounts (DDAs). Debit cards allow
consumers to transact without needing cash or checks and without accessing a line of credit. Visa provides the network infrastructure, product
support and industry knowledge to help issuers optimize their debit offerings and help consumers and merchants efficiently transact for the purchase
of goods and services, whether in person or through online or mobile channels. Across all Visa’s core products, Visa offers security protections that
help prevent, detect and resolve fraud. Where applicable, Visa's zero-liability policy protects consumer cardholders from any unauthorized charges.
Credit: Credit cards are issued by banks to allow consumers to access credit to pay for goods and services. Visa does not extend credit;
however, we provide combinations of card benefits and brand support, that financial institutions use to support and enable their credit products. We
also partner with our clients on product design, customer segmentation and customer experience design to help financial institutions better deliver
products and services that match their consumers’ needs. In fiscal 2016, we saw significant volume growth from the conversion of the USAA
portfolio to Visa and opening of credit acceptance at Costco membership warehouses in the U.S.
Prepaid: Prepaid products draw funds from a designated pool of funds. Prepaid cards can be funded by individuals, corporations or
governments. Prepaid cards address many consumer use cases and needs:
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Commercial: We offer a portfolio of corporate (travel) cards and purchasing card (P-card) products covering all major segments. The
Commercial category is not one single product but a portfolio of products designed to bring efficiency, controls and automation to corporate and
government travel and procurement processes ranging from employee travel to fully integrated, invoice-based payables. We support financial
institutions, accounts payable platforms, like Bottomline and MineralTree, and technology companies as they build and expand their business-tobusiness platforms.
Processing Infrastructure
VisaNet authorizes, clears and settles transactions processed by Visa, excluding European domestic transactions, which are routed through
the European processing platform. VisaNet consists of multiple synchronized processing centers that are linked by a global telecommunications
network and engineered for minimal downtime and uninterrupted connectivity. While Visa Europe's systems are being integrated with our systems,
we will continue to maintain mostly separate authorization, clearing and settlement systems from Visa Europe while ensuring interoperability with
their processing centers in the United Kingdom (U.K.).
VisaNet is capable of handling more than 65,000 transactions per second reliably, conveniently and securely. In fiscal 2016, Visa processed
over 83 billion payment and cash disbursement authorization transactions, which included Europe during the fourth quarter. VisaNet is built on a
centralized architecture, enabling us to analyze each authorization we process in real time and provide value-added processing services, such as
risk scoring and tokenization. It provides the infrastructure for delivering innovation and other payment system enhancements for domestic payment
systems and cross border international transactions globally.
A typical Visa transaction begins when the account holder presents his or her Visa product to a merchant as payment for goods or services.
The transaction is then sent to the acquirer and routed over VisaNet or Visa Europe's processing platform to an issuer for an authorization decision.
The transaction is either approved or declined and routed back to the acquirer and merchant usually in a matter of seconds.
Transaction Processing Services
Our core transaction processing services involve the routing of payment information and related data to facilitate the authorization, clearing and
settlement of transactions between our issuers and acquirers. Our processing services also address the varied needs of other participants in the
evolving payments ecosystem, through such offerings as our merchant gateway and Visa DPS issuer processing. Merchant gateway services,
provided through CyberSource, enable merchants to accept, process and reconcile payments, manage fraud and safeguard payment security online
and in-store. CyberSource additionally enables acquirers and other partners to offer these services to their merchants. DPS provides comprehensive
issuer processing services for participating issuers of Visa debit, prepaid and ATM products. Value-added offerings by DPS to issuer clients include:
fraud and risk services, data analytics, marketing campaign management, mobile and digital solutions, back office tools and services, card fulfillment
and management, network gateway services, call centers and web hosting solutions. These and other services support our issuers and acquirers
and their use of our products, and promote the growth and security of our payments network by expanding the payment value chain and increasing
network utilization.
Digital Products
Visa Checkout: Visa Checkout offers consumers an expedited and secure payment experience for online transactions wherever Visa
Checkout is enabled. Visa Checkout helps merchants convert higher numbers of consumers to sale, a particularly important issue as digital
commerce shifts from desktop devices to mobile devices which have lower conversion rates. At the end of fiscal 2016, Visa Checkout had over 15
million consumer accounts in 21 countries, seven languages and over 1,400 financial institution partners across the globe participating. More than
300,000 merchants, including some of the largest global retailers accept Visa Checkout. In October 2016, we rolled out a redesigned Visa Checkout
experience, making it easier for consumers to enroll and complete purchases on mobile devices. We recently announced that we are opening the
Visa Checkout platform to clients and partners, allowing them to integrate their digital wallets into Visa Checkout for streamlined authentication and
checkout.
Visa Direct: Visa Direct is a push payment product platform that facilitates payer-initiated transactions that are sent directly to the Visa account
of the recipient. It supports faster payments use cases like person-to-person (P2P) payments, and disbursements. We are working with key
partners, including processors like Fiserv, FIS and Jack Henry & Associates, and originators like Early Warning (EWS), Ingo Money, Hyperwallet,
Wells Fargo and QIWI, along with merchants to expand the distribution and usage of push payments.
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We are also enabling push payments in developing economies to electronify payments. We recently launched a new service called mVisa in
Kenya. First launched in Rwanda in 2014 and India in 2015, mVisa allows consumers to transfer money to merchants in real time using their mobile
phones and merchants are able to accept Visa transactions without the need to install card acceptance hardware.
Visa Token Service: The Visa Token Service replaces the card account numbers from the transaction with a token. Tokenization helps to
protect consumer financial information and lessen the risk of stolen card credentials. In fiscal 2017, we announced new specifications that allow
certified third party service providers such as Gemalto, Giesecke & Devrient and Inside Secure to connect directly to our Token Service and become
Token Service Providers (TSP). These TSPs will be able to provide a range of services to support Visa tokens for issuers and token requestors
participating in the Visa Token Service, including new account provisioning and life cycle management. By expanding access to the Visa Token
Service to new partners, we expect Visa issuers will be able to more quickly and easily offer secure digital payment services across a wide range of
solutions.
Merchant Products
Visa has a suite of products and services to help merchants reduce their payment fraud and improve their customer engagement. Visa
Advertising Solutions, Visa Commerce Network and CyberSource’s product offerings are examples of Visa’s continued investment to deliver
industry-leading products and capabilities to our merchant partners.
Visa launched Visa Advertising Solutions, a service that allows merchants to better target and track the efficacy of their digital campaigns. Visa
has partnered with strategic advertising technology leaders to help deliver targeting and measurement capabilities using aggregated and anonymous
spend insights. The Visa Commerce Network (VCN) uses Visa’s global payment network to enable merchants to promote relevant offers to acquire
new customers, drive loyalty and increase sales. For example, Uber uses the platform to provide its customers with card-linked offers from local
restaurants and retailers. Qualifying purchases are recognized at the point of sale and rewards are applied to the riders' Uber accounts - eliminating
the need for coupons.
CyberSource offers a suite of products and services for merchants to manage online, mobile and in-store payments. CyberSource gateway
services enable global payment acceptance of cards and other digital payment types. CyberSource Decision Manager is a comprehensive solution
for fraud management including a merchant risk model, rules engine, managed services and solutions for specific categories such as airline fraud.
Decision Manager Replay is an analytical tool that allows merchants to compare fraud strategies in real-time using their historical data to test and
quantify the expected impact of various risk management strategies. CyberSource additionally offers payment security services including
tokenization and payer authentication, commerce services such as tax calculation and recurring billing, and merchant reporting and analytics.
CyberSource also offers products and services tailored to the needs of small and mid-sized merchants under the Authorize.Net brand. CyberSource
and Authorize.Net capabilities are offered through Visa and our partners.
Risk Products & Payment Security Initiatives
Visa continues to develop our suite of risk products and services to help clients minimize risk and enable secure commerce. Visa Risk Manager
is a decision making solution that helps issuers improve loss prevention and profitability through effective, enhanced risk evaluation capabilities.
Products like Visa Advanced Authorization evaluate the risk associated with every participating VisaNet transaction. Our case studies have shown
that an issuer employing Visa Advanced Authorization can significantly improve fraud detection. In addition to reducing fraud, approval rates can be
increased by accepting transactions that were once deemed too risky. For example, in fiscal 2016 we introduced Mobile Location Confirmation, a
service that enhances Visa Advanced Authorization by adding geolocation intelligence in real time. Mobile Location Confirmation informs issuers if
their participating account holder’s mobile phone is near a purchase location. This new data improves the issuer’s ability to make more informed
approve or decline decisions.
We have also extended our fraud prediction capabilities to merchants via Visa Transaction Advisor. Our first implementation of this product is at
fuel pumps, whereby we provide a risk indicator to the merchant for each Visa card transaction so the merchant can decide if they would like to
require incremental authentication for risky transactions. Fuel merchants using our Visa Transaction Advisor product have seen a significant decline
in counterfeit fraud rates and in lost and stolen fraud chargebacks.
Verified by Visa is a solution designed to make online transactions safer by authenticating an account holder’s identity at the time of purchase.
It is designed to improve account holder and merchant confidence in online
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purchases and to reduce disputes and fraud related to the use of Visa payment products. Visa Consumer Authentication Service is a hosted solution
for issuers on Verified by Visa transactions delivering protection against online fraud through risk-based authentication. Issuers have full control of
when and how they decide to authenticate based on their transaction risk threshold, existing fraud-detection tools, operational requirements and
user demands.
We also launched Visa Consumer Transaction Controls in fiscal 2016, which allow account holders to place restrictions on their enrolled cards
that define when, where and how those cards can be used to better manage account spending and security. Issuers can utilize this solution across
their entire card portfolio.
EMV Migration in the United States: To enhance payment security and mitigate counterfeit fraud, we have been working with U.S. merchants
and financial institutions to encourage the adoption of EMV chip payment technology. EMV, which stands for Europay, MasterCard and Visa, is a
global standard for chip cards and chip terminals. Chip technology generates a one-time use code for every transaction that is used to authenticate
that the transaction is originating from a valid (i.e., not fraudulent) card. Under policies announced by Visa in 2011, effective October 2015, the party
that has not adopted the more secure chip technology is responsible for any resulting counterfeit fraud. Over the last year, there has been steady
growth in chip card issuance and in the activation of chip-enabled terminals. As of September 30, 2016, more than 373 million Visa chip cards have
been issued, making the United States the largest chip card market in the world. Nearly 1.6 million merchant locations in the United States are now
chip-enabled, or roughly 30% of all U.S. merchants that accept Visa cards at the physical point of sale. Over 30% of U.S. in-store payment volume is
now being processed as chip transactions. We continue to work to help improve the merchant and account holder experience, with the roll out of
Quick Chip, a solution designed to reduce the time it takes to complete a chip transaction. We are also working with merchants and acquirers to
simplify the terminal certification process, and have taken steps to limit merchants’ exposure to counterfeit fraud liability for those that have had
challenges getting terminals certified and activated.
SIGNIFICANT BUSINESS DEVELOPMENTS
CEO Succession. On October 17, 2016, we announced that Alfred Kelly, Jr. will become CEO, effective December 1, 2016, replacing Charles
Scharf. Mr. Scharf will serve as an advisor to Mr. Kelly for a period of several months to assist with the transition.
Interchange Multidistrict Litigation . Visa, MasterCard and various U.S. financial institutions are defendants in class and individual actions
challenging, among other things, Visa’s and MasterCard’s purported setting of interchange reimbursement fees and certain network rules. In 2012,
Visa, MasterCard, various U.S. financial institution defendants, and class plaintiffs signed a settlement agreement to resolve the class plaintiffs’
claims. On January 14, 2014, the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of New York entered a final judgment order approving the settlement,
from which a number of objectors appealed. On June 30, 2016, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit vacated the lower court's
certification of the merchant class and reversed the approval of the settlement. The Second Circuit determined that the class plaintiffs were
inadequately represented and remanded the case to the lower court for further proceedings not inconsistent with its decision. Prior to November 23,
2016, class plaintiffs may file a petition for writ of certiorari with the U.S. Supreme Court seeking review of the Second Circuit’s decision. Until the
appeals process is complete, it is uncertain whether the Company will be able to resolve the class plaintiffs' claims as contemplated by the
settlement agreement. See Item 1A—Risk Factors—We may be adversely affected by the outcome of litigation or investigations, despite certain
protections that are in place and Item 8—Financial Statements and Supplementary Data — Note 20—Legal Matters of this report for more
information.
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
We own and manage the Visa brand, which stands for acceptance, security, convenience and universality. Our portfolio of trademarks, in
particular our family of Visa marks, our PLUS mark and our Dove design mark, are important to our business. We give our clients access to these
assets through agreements with our issuers and acquirers, which authorize the use of our trademarks in connection with their participation in our
payments network. We also own a number of patents, patent applications and other intellectual property relating to payment solutions, transaction
processing, security systems and other matters. We rely on a combination of patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws in the U.S. and
other jurisdictions, as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions, to protect our proprietary technology.
NET OPERATING REVENUES
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Our gross revenues are principally comprised of service revenues, data processing revenues, international transaction revenues and other
revenues. Net operating revenues are gross revenues reduced by costs incurred under client incentive arrangements. We have one reportable
segment, Payment Services.
Revenue Details

COMPETITION
The global payments industry continues to undergo dynamic change. Existing and emerging competitors compete with Visa for consumers,
financial institution clients and merchant participation in our network and payment solutions. Technology and innovation is shifting consumer habits
and driving growth opportunities in ecommerce, mobile payments, block chain technology and digital currencies. These advances are enabling new
entrants, many of which depart from traditional network payment models. In certain countries, the evolving regulatory landscape is changing how we
compete, creating local networks or enabling processing competition.
We compete against all forms of payment. This includes paper-based payments, primarily cash and checks, and all forms of electronic
payments. Our electronic payment competitors principally include:
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Global or Multi-Regional Networks, which typically offer a range of branded, general purpose card payment products that can be used at
millions of merchant locations around the world. Examples include MasterCard, American Express, Discover and JCB. These competitors may be
more concentrated in specific geographic regions, such as JCB in Japan and Discover in the U.S., or have a leading position in certain countries.
For example, UnionPay operates the sole domestic acceptance mark in China. Based on available data, Visa is one of the largest retail electronic
funds transfer networks used throughout the world. The following chart compares our network with these network competitors for calendar year 2015
(1)
:

(1)

(2)

(3)

UnionPay, which operates primarily within the Chinese domestic market, is not included in this table as Visa currently does not compete in that market under
local law. Although we are uncertain how UnionPay reports certain volumes, reportedly its numbers could approach or exceed some of those listed in this
chart.
The data presented are provided by our financial institution clients. Previously submitted information may be updated and all data are subject to review by
Visa. Visa Europe data are included.
MasterCard, American Express, JCB and Discover/Diners Club data sourced from The Nilson Report issue 1085 (April 2016). Includes all consumer and
commercial credit, debit and prepaid cards. Some figures are estimates and currency figures are in U.S. dollars. MasterCard excludes Maestro and Cirrus
figures. American Express includes figures for third-party issuers. Discover figures consist of U.S. data only and include third-party issuers. JCB figures
include third-party issuers and other payment-related products.

Local and regional networks, that operate in many countries, often with the support of government influence or mandate. In some cases, they
are owned by financial intuitions. These networks typically focus on debit payment products, have functionality or their brand marks present with the
Visa brand on the card or payment device, and may have strong local acceptance and recognizable brands. Examples include STAR, NYCE, and
Pulse in the United States, Interac in Canada, and EFTPOS in Australia.
Alternate Payment Providers, which often have a primary focus of enabling payments through ecommerce and mobile channels. These
companies may process payments using in-house account transfers between parties, electronic funds transfer networks like the Automated Clearing
House (ACH), or global or local networks like Visa. In some cases, these entities are both a partner and a competitor to Visa. Examples include
PayPal and Alipay.
Other Electronic Payment Networks like the ACH in the U.S. are often created and governed by local governments. Historically focused on
interbank transfers, many are adding capabilities that may make them more competitive for retail payments. We also compete with closed-loop
payment systems, wire transfers and electronic benefit transfers.
Payment Processors, where we face competition for the processing of Visa transactions or are not permitted to do so under local regulation.
For example, as a result of regulation in Europe under the Second Payment Services Directive (PSD2), we may face competition from other
networks, processors and other third-parties who could process Visa transactions directly with issuers and acquirers.
We also face increasingly intense competitive pressure on the prices we charge our financial institution clients. We believe our fundamental
value proposition of acceptance, security, convenience and universality offers us a key competitive advantage. We succeed in part because we
understand the needs of the individual markets in which we operate. We do so by partnering with local financial institutions, merchants,
governments, non-governmental
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organizations and business organizations to provide tailored solutions to meet their varied needs. We believe Visa is well-positioned competitively,
due to our global brand, our broad set of Visa-branded payment products and our proven track record of processing payment transactions securely
and reliably through VisaNet.
SEASONALITY
We generally do not experience any pronounced seasonality in our business. No individual quarter of fiscal 2016 or fiscal 2015 accounted for
more than 30% of our operating revenues in those years.
WORKING CAPITAL
Payments settlement due to and from our financial institution clients can represent a substantial daily working capital requirement. Most U.S.
dollar settlements are settled within the same day and do not result in a receivable or payable balance, while settlement in currencies other than the
U.S. dollar generally remain outstanding for one to two business days, which is consistent with industry practice for such transactions.
FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT GEOGRAPHIC AREAS
For more information on the concentration of our operating revenues and other financial information, see Item 8—Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data — Note 13—Enterprise-wide Disclosures and Concentration of Business included elsewhere in this report.
GOVERNMENT REGULATION
As a global payments technology company, we are subject to complex and evolving global regulations in the various jurisdictions in which our
products and services are used. The most significant government regulations that impact our business are discussed below. For further discussion
of how global regulations may impact our business, see Item 1A — Risk Factors — Regulatory Risks.
Supervisory Oversight of the Payments Industry. Visa is subject to financial sector oversight and regulation in substantially all of the
jurisdictions in which we operate. In the U.S., the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council (FFIEC) has supervisory oversight over Visa
under applicable federal banking laws and policies. The federal banking agencies comprising the FFIEC are the Federal Reserve Board, the
Comptroller of the Currency, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and the National Credit Union Administration. Visa also may be examined
by the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) as a service provider to the banks that issue Visa-branded consumer credit and debit card
products. Central banks in other countries, including Russia, Ukraine, Hong Kong and Europe (as discussed below), have recognized or designated
Visa for purposes of various degrees of financial stability regulation as a retail payment system. Visa is also subject to oversight by banking and
financial sector authorities in other jurisdictions, such as Brazil, Mexico and Colombia.
Government-imposed Market Participation and Restrictions. Certain governments, including China, Russia and India, have taken actions
to advantage domestic payments systems and/or certain issuers, payments networks or processors, including by imposing regulations that favor
domestic providers or that mandate domestic processing be done entirely in that country.
Interchange Rates and Fees. An increasing number of jurisdictions around the world regulate or influence debit and credit interchange
reimbursement rates in their regions. For example, the Dodd-Frank Act in the U.S. limits interchange reimbursement rates for certain debit card
transactions, the E.U.’s Interchange Fee Regulation (IFR) limits interchange rates in Europe (as discussed below) and the Reserve Bank of Australia
has regulated average permissible levels of interchange for over a decade.
Network Exclusivity and Routing. In the U.S., the Dodd-Frank Act limits network exclusivity and preferred routing for the debit and prepaid
market segments. Other jurisdictions impose similar limitations, such as the IFR’s prohibition on restrictions that prevent multiple payment brands or
functionality on the same card.
No-surcharge Rules. We have historically enforced rules that prohibit merchants from charging higher prices to consumers who pay using
Visa products instead of other means. However, merchants’ ability to surcharge varies by geographic market as well as Visa product type, and
continues to be impacted by litigation, regulation and legislation.
Privacy and Data Protection. Aspects of our operations or business are subject to privacy, data use and data security regulations, which
impact the way we use and handle data, operate our products and services, and even
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impact our ability to offer a product or service. In addition, regulators are proposing new laws or regulations which could require Visa to adopt certain
cybersecurity practices. In many jurisdictions consumers must be notified in the event of a data breach, and such notification requirements continue
to increase in scope and cost. The European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation, which will become effective in May 2018, will create new
individual privacy rights and impose worldwide obligations on companies handling personal data.
Anti-corruption, Anti-money Laundering, Anti-terrorism and Sanctions. We are subject to anti-corruption laws and regulations, including
the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA), the U.K. Bribery Act and other laws, that generally prohibit the making or offering of improper
payments to foreign government officials and political figures for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business or to gain an unfair business
advantage. We are also subject to anti-money laundering and anti-terrorist financing laws and regulations, including the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act and
the USA PATRIOT Act. In addition, we are subject to economic and trade sanctions programs administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control
(OFAC) in the U.S.
Internet Transactions. Many jurisdictions have adopted regulations that require payments system participants to monitor, identify, filter,
restrict or take other actions with regard to certain types of payment transactions on the Internet, such as gambling and the purchase of cigarettes or
alcohol.
Additional Regulatory Developments. Various regulatory agencies also continue to examine a wide variety of other issues, including mobile
payment transactions, tokenization, money transfer, identity theft, account management guidelines, disclosure rules, security and marketing that
could affect our financial institution clients and us.
European Regulations and Supervisory Oversight. In addition, following the Visa Europe acquisition in June 2016, we are subject to
complex and evolving regulation of our business in the European Union. Visa Europe has been designated as a Recognized Payment System,
bringing it within the scope of the Bank of England’s oversight to ensure the financial stability of the U.K. Visa Europe is also subject to the
Eurosystem’s oversight, including the security of payment instruments and ecommerce security policies and scheme rules. Furthermore, Visa
Europe is regulated by the U.K.’s Payment Systems Regulator (PSR), which has wide ranging powers and authority to review our business
practices, systems, rules and fees with respect to promoting competition and innovation in the U.K., and ensuring payments meet account holder
needs. It also is the regulator responsible for monitoring and enforcing the IFR in the U.K. Outside the U.K., in relation to IFR, Visa is also subject to
compliance monitoring by national competent authorities in all markets. The IFR regulates interchange rates within Europe, requires Visa Europe to
separate its payment card scheme activities from processing activities for accounting, organization and decision making purposes within the E.U.
and imposes limitations on network exclusivity and routing.
There are other regulations in the E.U. that impact our business, as discussed above, including, privacy and data protection, anti-bribery, antimoney laundering, anti-terrorism and sanctions. Other recent regulatory changes in Europe such as the PSD2 could reduce perceived barriers to
entry for emerging, non-card payments.
AVAILABLE INFORMATION
We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act) and its rules and
regulations. The Exchange Act requires us to file periodic reports, proxy statements and other information with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC). Copies of these reports, proxy statements and other information can be viewed at http://www.sec.gov . Our corporate website is
accessible at http://corporate.visa.com . We make available, free of charge, on our investor relations website at http://investor.visa.com our annual
reports on Form 10-K, our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, our current reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those reports as soon as
reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. We also may include supplemental financial information on
our investor relations website at http://investor.visa.com and may use this website as a means of disclosing material, non-public information and for
complying with our disclosure obligations under Regulation FD. Accordingly, investors should monitor such portions of our investor relations website,
in addition to following SEC filings and publicly available conference calls. The information contained on, or accessible through, our corporate
website, including the information contained on our investor relations website, is not incorporated by reference into this report or any other report
filed with, or furnished to, the SEC.
ITEM 1A. Risk Factors
Regulatory Risks
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Increased regulation of the global payments industry, including with respect to interchange reimbursement fees, operating rules and
related practices, could harm our business .
Regulators around the world have been establishing or increasing their authority to regulate certain aspects of the payments industry. See Item
1. Business —Government Regulation for more information . In the U.S. and many other jurisdictions, we have historically set default interchange
reimbursement fees. Even though we generally do not receive any revenue related to interchange reimbursement fees in a purchase transaction
(those fees are paid by the acquirers to the issuers), interchange reimbursement fees are a factor on which we compete with other payments
providers and are therefore an important determinant of the volume of transactions we process. Consequently, changes to these fees, whether
voluntarily or by mandate, can substantially affect our overall payments volumes and revenues.
Interchange reimbursement fees, certain operating rules and related practices continue to be subject to increased government regulation
globally, and regulatory authorities and central banks in a number of jurisdictions have reviewed or are reviewing these fees, rules and practices. For
example, in 2011, in accordance with the U.S. Dodd-Frank Act, the U.S. Federal Reserve capped the maximum U.S. debit interchange
reimbursement rate received by large financial institutions at 21 cents plus 5 basis points, plus a possible fraud adjustment of 1 cent. This amounted
to a significant reduction in the average system-wide interchange reimbursement fees received by large issuers. The Dodd-Frank Act also limited
issuers' and our ability to adopt network exclusivity and preferred routing in the debit and prepaid area, which also impacted our business. In 2015,
the E.U.’s IFR placed an effective cap on consumer credit and consumer debit interchange fees for both domestic and cross border transactions (30
basis points and 20 basis points, respectively), significantly reducing the fees received by E.U. issuers. E.U. Member States have the ability to
further restrict these interchange levels within their territories. More recently, in September 2016, Argentina's Senate approved a bill to reduce
existing caps on the merchant discount rate charged by acquirers to 1.5% for credit transactions and zero for debit transactions.
In addition to the regulation of interchange reimbursement fees, a number of regulators impose restrictions on other aspects of our payments
business. For example, government regulations or pressure may require or allow other networks to be supported by Visa products or services or to
have the other network's functionality or brand marks on our products. As innovations in payment technology have enabled us to expand into new
products and services, they have also expanded the potential scope of regulatory influence. In addition, the E.U.’s requirement to separate scheme
and processing adds costs and could impact the efficient integration of Visa Europe; the execution of our commercial, innovation and product
strategies; our ability to provide effective customer service; and the amount of data available for use in fraud and risk systems and loyalty services.
We are also subject to central bank oversight in the U.K. and the E.U. This oversight could result in new governance, reporting, licensing,
cybersecurity, processing infrastructure, capital or credit risk management requirements. We could also be required to adopt policies and practices
designed to mitigate settlement and liquidity risks, including increased requirements to maintain sufficient levels of capital and financial resources
locally. Increased central bank oversight could also lead to new or different criteria for financial institution participation in, and access to our
payments system. Additionally, regulators in other jurisdictions are considering or adopting approaches based on similar regulatory principles.
Regulators around the world increasingly take note of each other’s approaches to regulating the payments industry. Consequently, a
development in one jurisdiction may influence regulatory approaches in another. The risks created by a new law or regulation in one jurisdiction have
the potential to be replicated and to negatively affect our business in another jurisdiction or in other product offerings. The U.S. Dodd-Frank Act and
the E.U. IFR are developments with such potential, as are approaches taken by regulators in Australia, Canada and other countries. See Note 20—
Legal Matters of this report. Similarly, new regulations involving one product offering may prompt regulators to extend the regulations to other
product offerings. For example, credit payments could become subject to the same regulation as debit payments. Additionally, regulation in an
individual country could continue and expand. For example, in Australia the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) initially capped credit interchange, but
subsequently capped debit interchange as well.
When we cannot set default interchange reimbursement rates at optimal levels, issuers and acquirers may find our payments system less
attractive. This may increase the attractiveness of other payments systems, such as our competitors' closed-loop payments systems with direct
connections to both merchants and consumers. We believe some issuers may react to such regulations by charging new or higher fees to
consumers, making our products less appealing to consumers. Some acquirers may elect to charge higher merchant discount rates regardless of
the Visa interchange reimbursement rate, causing merchants not to accept our products or to steer customers to alternate
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payments systems or forms of payment. In addition, in an effort to reduce the expense of their card programs, some issuers and acquirers have
obtained, and may continue to obtain, incentives from us and reductions in the fees that we charge, which may directly impact our revenues. For
these reasons, increased global regulation of the payments industry may make our products less desirable, diminish our ability to compete, reduce
our transaction volumes and harm our business.
Government-imposed restrictions on payment systems may prevent us from competing against providers in certain countries .
Governments in various jurisdictions, such as in Asia and the Gulf Cooperation Countries in the Middle East, protect certain domestic payment
card networks, brands and processors. These governments may impose regulatory requirements that favor domestic providers or that mandate
domestic payments processing be done entirely in that country, which would prevent us from overseeing the end-to-end processing of certain
transactions. In China, for example, UnionPay continues to enjoy advantages over other international networks, remains the sole processor of
domestic payment card transactions and operates the sole domestic acceptance mark. Though the Chinese State Council has announced that
international schemes, such as Visa would be able to participate in the domestic market and be eligible to apply for a license to operate a Bank Card
Clearing Institution (BCCI) in China, the full implementation guidelines for BCCI’s have yet to be finalized. In Russia, legislation has effectively
prevented us from processing in the domestic market and mandated that we migrate our domestic processing business to the state-owned NSPK (or
national payment card system), which is the only entity allowed to process domestically.
Due to our inability to oversee the end-to-end processing of transactions for cards carrying our brands in these countries, we depend on our
close working relationships with our clients or third party processors in these regions to ensure transactions involving our products are processed
effectively. National laws that protect domestic processing may increase our costs, decrease the number of Visa products issued or processed,
impede us from utilizing our global processing capabilities and control the quality of the services supporting our brands, restrict our activities, force
us to leave countries or prevent us from entering new markets, all of which could harm our ability to operate our business, maintain or increase our
revenues globally and extend our global brands.
We are subject to complex and evolving global regulations that could harm our business and financial results .
As a global payments technology company, we are subject to complex and evolving regulations that govern our operations. See Item 1 —
Business — Government Regulation for more information on the most significant areas of regulation that affect our business. The impact of these
regulations on us (and on our clients and other third parties) could limit our ability to enforce our payments system rules or require us to adopt new
rules or change existing rules, and it may increase our compliance costs and reduce our revenue opportunities. We may face differing rules and
regulations in matters like interchange reimbursement rates, preferred routing, domestic processing requirements, currency conversion, point-of-sale
transaction rules and practices, privacy, data use or protection and associated product technology. As a result, the Visa Rules and our other
contractual commitments may differ from country to country or by product offering. Complying with these and other regulations increases our costs
and can reduce our revenue opportunities. Further, as regulations change, they may affect our existing contractual arrangements.
If widely varying regulations come into existence worldwide, we may have difficulty rapidly adjusting our product offerings, services and fees,
and other important aspects of our business in the various regions where we operate. Our compliance programs and policies are designed to
support our compliance with a wide array of regulations and laws, and we continually enhance our compliance programs as regulations evolve.
However, we cannot guarantee that our practices will be deemed compliant by all applicable regulatory authorities. In the event our controls should
fail or we are found to be out of compliance for other reasons, we could be subject to monetary damages, civil and criminal penalties, litigation and
damage to our global brands and reputation. Furthermore, the evolving and increased regulatory focus on the payments industry could reduce the
number of Visa products our clients issue, the volume of payments we process and our revenue; negatively impact our brands and our competitive
positioning; and limit the types of products and services that we offer, the countries in which our products are used and the types of customers and
merchants who can obtain or accept our products, all of which could harm our business.
We may be subject to tax examinations or disputes, or changes in the tax laws .
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We exercise significant judgment in calculating our worldwide provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities. Although we believe our tax
estimates are reasonable, many factors may limit their accuracy. We are currently under examination by, or in disputes with, the U.S. Internal
Revenue Service, the U.K.’s HM Revenue & Customs as well as tax authorities in other jurisdictions, and we may be subject to additional
examinations or disputes in the future. Relevant tax authorities may disagree with our tax treatment of certain material items and thereby increase
our tax liability. Failure to sustain our position in these matters could harm our cash flow and financial position. In addition, changes in existing laws,
such as recent proposals for fundamental U.S. and international tax reform or those resulting from the Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS)
project being conducted by the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, may also increase our effective tax rate. A substantial
increase in our tax payments could have a material, adverse effect on our financial results. See also Note 19—Income Taxes to our consolidated
financial statements included in Item 8 of this report.
Litigation Risks
We may be adversely affected by the outcome of litigation or investigations, despite certain protections that are in place .
We are involved in numerous civil actions and government investigations alleging violations of competition and antitrust law, consumer
protection law and intellectual property law, among others. Details of the claims and the status of those proceedings are described more fully in Note
20—Legal Matters . Legal and regulatory proceedings and investigations are inherently uncertain, expensive and disruptive to our operations. In the
event we are found liable in any material litigation, proceedings or investigations, particularly in a large class action lawsuit or an antitrust claim
entitling the plaintiff to treble damages, we may be required to pay significant awards or settlements. In addition, settlement terms, judgments or
pressures resulting from legal proceedings or investigations may require us, to modify the default interchange reimbursement rates we set, revise
the Visa Rules or the way in which we enforce our rules, modify our fees or pricing, or modify the way we do business, which may harm our
business. Finally, we are required by some of our commercial agreements to indemnify other entities for litigation asserted against them, even if Visa
is not a defendant.
For certain litigation matters like the U.S. covered litigation and the VE territory covered litigation, which are described in Note 3—U.S. and
Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plans and Note 20—Legal Matters , we have certain protections provided for in the respective retrospective
responsibility plans. The two retrospective responsibility plans are different in the protections they provide and the mechanisms by which we are able
to either fund the settlements and judgments in the case of the U.S. covered litigation or recoup covered losses in the case of the VE territory
covered litigation. The failure of one or both of the retrospective responsibility plans to adequately insulate us from the impact of such settlements,
judgments, losses or liabilities could materially harm our financial condition or cash flows, or even cause us to become insolvent.
Business Risks
We face intense competition in our industry .
The global payments space is intensely competitive. As technology evolves, new competitors emerge and existing clients and competitors
assume different roles. Our products compete with cash, checks, electronic funds, virtual currency payments, global or multi-regional networks, other
closed-loop payments systems, and alternative payment providers primarily focused on enabling payments through ecommerce and mobile
channels. As the global payments space becomes more complex, we face increasing competition from our clients, emerging payment providers and
other digital and technology companies. Many of these providers have developed payments systems enabled through online activity in ecommerce
and mobile channels, and are seeking to expand into other channels that compete with or replace our products and services.
Additionally, some of our competitors may develop substantially better technology, more widely adopted delivery channels or have greater
financial resources. They may offer a wider range of programs, products and services, including some that are more innovative. They may use
advertising and marketing strategies that are more effective than ours, achieving broader brand recognition, and greater issuance and merchant
acceptance. They may also develop better security solutions or more favorable pricing arrangements.
Certain of our competitors operate with different business models, have different cost structures or participate in different market segments.
Those business models may ultimately prove more successful or more adaptable to
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regulatory, technological and other developments. In some cases, these competitors have the support of government mandates that prohibit, limit or
otherwise hinder our ability to compete for transactions within certain countries and regions.
Some of our competitors, including American Express, Discover, private-label card networks, virtual currency providers, technology companies
that enable the exchange of digital assets and certain alternate payments systems, operate closed-loop payments systems, with direct connections
to both merchants and consumers. Government actions or initiatives such as the U.S. Dodd-Frank Act or the U.S. Federal Reserve’s Faster
Payments initiatives may provide them with increased opportunities to derive competitive advantages from these business models. Similarly,
regulation in Europe under PSD2 and in the U.K. through the PSR may require us to open up access to, and allow participation in, our network to
additional participants, and reduce the infrastructure investment and regulatory burden on potential competitors. We also run the risk of
disintermediation due to factors such as emerging technologies, including mobile payments, alternate payment credentials, other ledger
technologies or payment forms, and by virtue of increasing bilateral agreements between entities that prefer not to use our payments network for
processing payments. For example, merchants could process transactions directly with issuers, or processors could process transactions directly
with issuers and acquirers.
We expect the competitive landscape to continue to shift and evolve. For example:
•

competitors, clients and others are developing alternative payment networks or products that could disintermediate us from the transaction
processing or the value-added services we provide to support such processing. Examples include initiatives like The Clearing House, an
ACH-based payment system comprised of large financial institutions, and EWS, an alternative to an ACH payment system that provides
faster funds or real-time payments across P2P, corporate and government disbursement, bill pay and deposit check transactions;

•

similarly, multiple countries are developing or promoting ACH-based real-time payment systems or mandating local networks with clients
that also present a risk of disintermediation to our business;

•

parties that process our transactions may try to minimize or eliminate our position in the payments value chain;

•

parties that access our payment credentials, tokens and technologies, including clients, technology solution providers or others might be
able to migrate account holders and other clients to alternate payment methods or utilize our payment credentials, tokens and
technologies to establish or help bolster alternate payment methods and platforms;

•

competitors, clients and others may develop methods to use our payment credentials, tokens and technologies to compete with, impair or
replace digital payment products that use and support our network and processing over our network;

•

we may need to adjust our local rules and practices to remain competitive amidst evolving regulatory landscapes and competitors’
practices;

•

we may be asked to develop or customize certain aspects of our payment services for use by our customers, processors or other third
parties, thereby increasing operational costs;

•

we may need to agree to business arrangements with terms less protective of Visa’s proprietary technology and interests in order to
compete with others, including those with issuers and with competing networks;

•

participants in the payments industry may merge, form joint ventures or enable or enter into other business combinations that strengthen
their existing business propositions or create new, competing payment services;

•

competition may increase from alternate types of payment services, such as mobile payment services, ecommerce payment services,
P2P payment services, faster payment initiatives and payment services that permit ACH payments or direct debit of consumer checking
accounts;
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•

new players and intermediaries in the payments value chain may redirect transactions or steer participants away from our network;

•

we may face increasing risk of others asserting their intellectual property rights and potential litigation, as market entrants include
technology companies and companies from industries where patent rights are actively asserted;

•

as this landscape is quickly evolving, we may not be able to foresee or respond sufficiently to emerging risks associated with new
business, products, services and practices; or

•

new or revised industry standards related to EMV-chip payment technology, cloud-based payments, tokenization or other technologies set
by organizations such as the International Organization for Standardization, American National Standards Institute and EMVCo may result
in additional costs and expenses for Visa and its clients, or otherwise negatively impact the functionality and competitiveness of our
products and services.

Our failure to compete effectively in light of any such developments could harm our business and prospects for future growth.
Our revenues and profits are dependent on our client and merchant base, which may be costly to win, retain and maintain .
Our financial institution clients and merchants can reassess their commitments to us at any time or develop their own competitive services.
While we have certain contractual protections, our clients, including some of our largest clients, generally have flexibility to issue non-Visa products.
Further, in certain circumstances, our financial institution clients may decide to terminate our contractual relationship on relatively short notice
without paying significant early termination fees. Because a significant portion of our operating revenues is concentrated among our largest clients,
the loss of business from any one of these larger clients could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
In order to stay competitive, we offer incentives to our clients to increase payments volume, enter new market segments and expand their use
and acceptance of Visa products and services. These include up-front cash payments, fee discounts and rebates, credits, performance-based
incentives, marketing and other support payments that impact our revenues and profitability. In addition, we offer incentives to certain merchants or
acquirers to win routing preference in situations where other network functionality is enabled on our products and there is a choice of network routing
options. Market pressures on providing incentives, fee discounts and rebates could moderate our growth. If we are not able to implement cost
containment and productivity initiatives in other areas of our business or increase our volumes in other ways to offset the financial impact of these
incentives, fee discounts and rebates, it may harm our net revenues and profits.
In addition, it may be difficult or costly for us to acquire or conduct business with financial institutions or merchants that have longstanding
exclusive, or nearly exclusive, relationships with our competitors. These financial institutions or merchants may be more successful and may grow
more quickly than our existing clients or merchants. In addition, if there is a consolidation or acquisition of one or more of our largest clients or cobrand partners by a financial institution client or merchant with a strong relationship with one of our competitors, it could result in our business
shifting to a competitor, which could put us at a competitive disadvantage and harm our business.
Merchants' and processors' continued push to lower acceptance costs and challenge industry practices could harm our business .
We rely in part on merchants and their relationships with our clients to maintain and expand the acceptance of Visa products. Certain large
retail merchants have been exercising their influence in the global payments system to attempt to lower their acceptance costs by lobbying for new
legislation, seeking regulatory enforcement, filing lawsuits and in some cases, refusing to accept Visa products. If they are successful in their efforts,
we may face increased compliance and litigation expenses and issuers may decrease their issuance of our products. In the U.S., the cost of
payment card acceptance has emerged in the context of payment security. A number of merchant trade associations claim that EMV cards without
PIN cardholder verification are not worth the investment. The October 2015 liability shift and ongoing transition to EMV resulted in calls for a PIN
verification mandate. More recently, U.S. merchant-affiliated groups and processors have expressed concerns regarding the EMV certification
process. Some
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policymakers have called upon U.S. competition authorities to consider potential concerns arising from the roles of industry bodies such as EMVCo
and the Payment Card Industry Security Standards Council. Additionally, some merchants and processors have pushed for changes to industry
practices and our requirements for Visa acceptance at the point of sale, including the ability for merchants to accept only certain types of Visa
products, to mandate only PIN authenticated transaction, to differentiate or steer among Visa product types issued by different financial institutions,
and to impose surcharges on customers presenting Visa products as their form of payment. If successful, these efforts could adversely impact
consumers' usage of our products, lead to regulatory enforcement and/or litigation, increase our compliance and litigation expenses, and harm our
business.
We depend on relationships with our financial institution clients, acquirers, merchants and other third parties .
We depend significantly on relationships with our financial institution clients and on their relationships with customers and merchants to support
our programs and services and thereby compete effectively in the marketplace. Our relationships with industry participants are complex and require
us to balance the interests of multiple third parties. For example, in the U.S., the EMV migration has been resisted by certain merchants, leading to
conflicts and litigation concerning the timing and scope of the liability shift, chargebacks and debit routing, among others.
We engage in discussions with merchants, acquirers and processors to provide incentives to promote routing preference and acceptance
growth. We engage in many payment card co-branding efforts with merchants, who receive incentives from us. As these and other relationships
become more prevalent and take on a greater importance to our business, our success will increasingly depend on our ability to continue to engage
in these discussions in order to sustain and grow these relationships.
In addition, we depend on third parties, including suppliers, and our financial institution clients to provide various services associated with our
payments network, on our behalf. To the extent that such parties fail to perform or deliver adequate services, our business and reputation could be
harmed.
If we are not able to maintain and enhance our brands, if events occur that damage our reputation or brands or we experience brand
disintermediation, it could harm our business .
Our brands are globally recognized and are key assets of our business. We believe that our clients and customers associate our brands with
acceptance, security, convenience and universality. Our success depends in large part on our ability to maintain the value of our brands and
reputation of our products and services in the payments ecosystem, elevate the brand through new and existing products, services and partnerships,
and uphold our corporate reputation. The increased use or popularity of products that we have developed in partnership with large technology and
financial institution companies could result in consumer confusion or brand disintermediation and decrease the value of our brand. In addition, our
brands and reputation may be negatively impacted by a number of factors, including data security breaches, compliance failures, negative
perception of our industry or the industries of our clients, actions by clients or other third parties, such as sponsorship partners, that do not reflect our
views or are inconsistent with our own business practices, and fraudulent or other illegal activity using our payment products. If we are unable to
maintain our reputation, or if events occur that damage our reputation, the value of our brands may be impaired, which could harm our relationships
with clients, customers and the public, as well as impact our business.
Global economic, political, market and social events or conditions may harm our business .
Our revenues are dependent on the volume and number of payment transactions made by customers, governments and businesses, whose
spending patterns may be affected by prevailing economic conditions. In addition, almost half of our operating revenues are earned outside the U.S.
International transaction revenues represent a significant part of our revenue and are an important part of our growth strategy. Therefore, adverse
macroeconomic conditions, including recessions, inflation, high unemployment, currency fluctuations, actual or anticipated large-scale defaults or
failures, or slowdown of global trade, could decrease consumer and corporate confidence and reduce consumer, government and corporate
spending, which have a direct impact on our revenues. In addition, outbreaks of illnesses, pandemics or other local or global health issues like the
Zika virus, political uncertainties like Brexit, international hostilities, armed conflict, or unrest, and natural disasters could impact our operations, our
clients and our activities in a particular location. These events could also reduce cross-border travel and spend, which impacts our international
transaction revenues, which are generated by processing cross-border payments and cash volume transactions, as well as from foreign currency
exchange transactions. Any
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such decline in cross-border activity could impact the number of cross-border transactions we process and our foreign currency exchange activities,
and in turn reduce our revenues.
A decline in economic conditions could impact our clients as well, and their decisions to reduce the number of cards, accounts and credit lines
of their account holders, which ultimately impact our revenues. They may also implement cost-reduction initiatives that reduce or eliminate marketing
budgets, and decrease spending on optional or enhanced, value-added services from us.
Any events or conditions that impair the functioning of the financial markets, tighten the credit market or lead to a downgrade of our current
credit rating could increase our future borrowing costs and impair our ability to access the capital and credit markets on favorable terms, which could
affect our liquidity and capital resources, or significantly increase our cost of capital. If clients default on their settlement obligations, it may also
impact our liquidity. Any of these events could adversely affect the growth of our volumes and revenue.
Our indemnification obligation to fund settlement losses of our clients exposes us to significant risk of loss and may reduce our liquidity .
We indemnify issuers and acquirers for any settlement loss they suffer due to the failure of another issuer or acquirer to honor its settlement
obligations in accordance with the Visa Rules. In certain instances, we may indemnify issuers or acquirers even in situations in which a transaction is
not processed by our system. This indemnification creates settlement risk for us due to the difference in timing between the date of a payment
transaction and the date of subsequent settlement. Our indemnification exposure is generally limited to the amount of unsettled Visa payment
transactions at any point in time. Concurrent settlement failures involving more than one of our largest clients, several of our smaller clients or
systemic operational failures lasting more than a single day could cause us to exceed our available financial resources, which could negatively
impact our financial position. Even if we have sufficient liquidity to cover a settlement failure, we may be unable to recover the amount of such
payment. This could expose us to significant losses and harm our business. See Note 11—Settlement Guarantee Management to our consolidated
financial statements included in Item 8 of this report.
The United Kingdom’s proposed withdrawal from the European Union could harm our business and financial results .
In June 2016, a referendum was held in the United Kingdom to determine whether the country should remain a member of the E.U., with voters
approving withdrawal from the E.U. (commonly referred to as Brexit). The U.K. government is working towards triggering Article 50 of the Lisbon
Treaty, which will commence the official E.U. withdrawal process. Uncertainty over the terms of the U.K.’s departure from the E.U. could harm our
business and financial results. In addition, other E.U. member countries may consider referendums regarding their E.U. membership. Any of these
events, along with any political changes that may occur as a result of Brexit, could cause political and economic uncertainty in Europe. As a result,
our operations in the U.K., resulting from the recent acquisition of Visa Europe, as well as our global operations, could be impacted.
The announcement of Brexit caused significant volatility in global stock markets and currency exchange rate fluctuations that resulted in the
strengthening of the U.S. dollar. The strengthening of the U.S. dollar relative to the British pound and other currencies may harm our results of
operations as the local currency results of our international operations may translate into fewer U.S. dollars. Uncertainty over Brexit and currency
fluctuations could also impact our clients, who may curtail or postpone investments in growing their credit portfolios, limit credit lines, modify fees and
loyalty programs, or take other actions that harm our volume and revenue.
In addition, Brexit could lead to legal uncertainty and potentially divergent national laws and regulations in the U.K. and E.U. We, as well as our
clients who have significant operations in the U.K., may incur additional costs and expenses as we adapt to potentially divergent regulatory
frameworks from the rest of the E.U. and as a result, our Visa Rules and contractual commitments in the U.K. may be impacted. In addition, because
we conduct business in and have operations in the U.K., we may need to apply for regulatory authorization and permission in separate E.U. Member
States. These factors may impact our ability to operate in the E.U. and U.K. seamlessly. Any of these effects of Brexit, among others, could harm
our business and financial results.
Technology and Information Security Risks
Failure to anticipate, adapt to or keep pace with new technologies in the payments industry could harm our business and impact our
future growth .
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The global payments industry is undergoing significant and rapid technological change, including mobile and other proximity payment and
acceptance technologies, ecommerce, tokenization, crypto-currency, distributed ledger and blockchain technologies, and as a result we expect new
services and technologies to continue to emerge and evolve. In addition to our own initiatives and innovations, we work closely with third parties,
including some potential competitors, for the development of and access to new technologies. It is difficult, however, to predict which technological
developments or innovations will become widely adopted. It is also difficult to predict how these technologies may be regulated. Moreover, some of
these new technologies could be subject to intellectual property-related lawsuits or assertions, potentially impacting our development efforts and/or
requiring us to obtain licenses. If we or our partners fail to adapt or keep pace with new technologies in the payments space in a timely manner, it
could harm our ability to compete, decrease the value of our products and services to our clients, impact our intellectual property or licensing rights,
and harm our business and impact our future growth.
A failure in or breach of our networks or systems, including as a result of cyber-attacks, could harm our business .
Our information security and processing systems, as well as those of our clients, merchants and other third-party service providers, may
experience damage or disruption from a number of causes, including power outages, computer and telecommunication failures, computer viruses,
worms or other destructive software, internal design, manual or usage errors, cyber-attacks, terrorism, workplace violence or wrongdoing,
catastrophic events, natural disasters and severe weather conditions. Our visibility and role in the global payments industry may also put us at a
greater risk of being targeted by hackers. In the normal course of our business, we have been the target of malicious cyber-attack attempts.
Additionally, several merchants have encountered substantial cybersecurity breaches and re-breaches affecting their customers, some of whom
were Visa account holders. Although these merchant breaches have not had a direct, material impact on us, we believe these incidents are likely to
continue and we may be unable to predict the direct or indirect impact of these future attacks to our business. We may also be impacted by
breaches of our financial institution clients and third-party processors that affect the broader payment system.
In addition, numerous and evolving information security threats, including advanced and persistent cyber-attacks, particularly on our internetfacing and reliant applications, could compromise the confidentiality, availability and integrity of our data. The security measures and procedures we,
our clients, merchants and other service providers have in place to protect sensitive account holder data and other information may not be
successful or sufficient to counter all data breaches, cyber-attacks or system failures. Although we devote significant resources to our information
security program and have implemented security measures to protect our systems and data, there can be no assurance that our efforts will prevent
these known or unknown threats.
If we are sued in connection with any data security breach, we could be involved in protracted litigation. If unsuccessful in defending such
lawsuits, we may have to pay damages or change our business practices, any of which could harm our business. In addition, any reputational
damage resulting from an account data breach, cyber-attack or system failure at one or more of our clients, merchants or other third parties could
decrease the use and acceptance of our products, which could harm our payments volume, revenues and future growth prospects. Finally, a breach
may also subject Visa to additional regulations or governmental or regulatory investigations, which could result in significant compliance costs, fines
or enforcement actions or potential restrictions imposed by regulators on our ability to process transactions.
We may experience errors, interruptions, delays or cessations of service in our information technology infrastructure and processing systems,
which could significantly disrupt our operations; impact our clients and customers; damage our reputation; result in litigation, violations of applicable
privacy and other laws, and regulatory fines or penalties; decrease the overall use and acceptance of our products; and be costly, time consuming
and difficult to remedy. In the event of damage or disruption to our business due to these occurrences, we may not be able to successfully and
quickly recover all of our critical business functions, assets and data through our current business continuity program. Furthermore, while we
maintain insurance, our coverage may not sufficiently cover all types of losses or claims that may arise.
Structural and Organizational Risks
Failure to maintain interoperability with Visa Europe's systems during the integration phase of our acquisition could damage the business
and global perception of our brands .
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While Visa Europe's systems are being integrated with our legacy systems, we and Visa Europe will continue to maintain mostly separate
authorization, clearing and settlement systems. As a result, we have to ensure that the two systems can process every transaction involving both of
our territories, regardless of where it originates. Visa Europe's independent system operations could present challenges to our business in the event
of increasing costs or difficulties in maintaining the interoperability of our respective systems during the integration phase. The separation of
payment card scheme and processing may also exacerbate this risk. Any inconsistency in the payment processing services and products between
Visa Europe and our legacy operations could negatively affect the experience of customers using Visa products globally. Failure to authorize, clear
and settle inter-territory transactions quickly and accurately could harm our business and impair the global perception of our brands.
We may not achieve the anticipated benefits of the Visa Europe acquisition or those of our other strategic investments or acquisitions,
and may face other risks and uncertainties as a result .
In June 2016, we acquired 100% of the share capital of Visa Europe. We believe the acquisition positions us to create additional value through
increased scale, efficiencies realized by the integration of both businesses, and benefits related to Visa Europe’s transition from an association to a
for-profit enterprise, although there can be no guarantee that we will realize these benefits. In addition, we may make other strategic investments or
acquisitions, which like the Visa Europe acquisition are inherently risky and subject to many factors outside our control. The Visa Europe acquisition
involves, and any future strategic endeavors may involve, significant risks and uncertainties, which could include:
•

disruption to our ongoing business, including diversion of resources and management’s attention from our existing business;

•

greater than expected investment of resources or operating expenses;

•

failure to develop the acquired business adequately;

•

difficulty implementing controls, procedures and policies at the acquired company;

•

challenges of integrating new employees, business cultures, business systems and technology;

•

failure to retain employees, clients or partners of the acquired business;

•

in the case of foreign acquisitions such as the acquisition of Visa Europe, risks related to the integration of operations across different
cultures and languages, and the economic, political and regulatory risks associated with operating in new regions or countries. For more
information on regulatory risks, please see Item 1 — Business — Government Regulations and Item 1A — Risk Factors — Regulatory
Risks above;

•

discovery of unidentified issues after the acquisition or investment was made;

•

failure to mitigate the liabilities of the acquired business; for example, while we have attempted to mitigate the risk of loss associated with
certain Visa Europe litigation through the issuance of the preferred stock, there can be no guarantee that the liabilities associated with that
litigation will not exceed the value of such preferred stock;

•

dilutive issuance of equity securities, if new securities are issued;

•

potential incurrence of debt, including the substantial amount of debt incurred in connection with the Visa Europe acquisition;

•

negative impact on our financial position and/or statement of operations; and

•

anticipated benefits or value of the investment or acquisition not materializing.

We may be unable to attract, hire and retain a highly qualified and diverse workforce, including key management .
23

Table of Contents
The talents and efforts of our employees, particularly our key management, are vital to our success. Our management team has significant
industry experience and would be difficult to replace. We may be unable to retain them or to attract other highly qualified employees, particularly if
we do not offer employment terms that are competitive with the rest of the labor market. Failure to attract, hire, develop, motivate and retain highly
qualified and diverse employee talent, or failure to develop and implement an adequate succession plan for the management team, could disrupt our
operations and adversely affect our business and our future success.
The conversions of our class B and class C common stock or series B and series C preferred stock into shares of class A common stock
would result in voting dilution to, and could impact the market price of, our existing class A common stock .
The market price of our class A common stock could fall as a result of many factors. Under our U.S. retrospective responsibility plan, upon final
resolution of our U.S. covered litigation, all class B common stock will become convertible into class A common stock. In connection with the
acquisition of Visa Europe, we issued series B and series C preferred stock, which will become convertible into class A common stock in stages
based on developments in current and potential litigation and will become fully convertible no later than 2028 (subject to a holdback to cover any
pending claims). Conversion of our class B and class C common stock into class A common stock, or our series B and series C preferred stock into
class A common stock, would increase the amount of class A common stock outstanding, which could adversely affect the market price of our
existing class A common stock and would dilute the voting power of existing class A common stockholders.
Holders of our class B and C common stock and series B and series C preferred stock may have different interests than our class A
common stockholders concerning certain significant transactions .
Although their voting rights are limited, holders of our class B and C common stock and, in certain specified circumstances, holders of our
series B and series C preferred stock, can vote on certain significant transactions. With respect to our class B and C common stock, these
transactions include a proposed consolidation or merger, a decision to exit our core payments business and any other vote required under Delaware
law. With respect to our series B and series C preferred stock, voting rights are limited to proposed consolidations or mergers in which holders of the
series B and series C preferred stock would either (i) receive shares of stock or other equity securities with preferences, rights and privileges that are
not substantially identical to the preferences, rights and privileges of the applicable series of preferred stock or (ii) receive securities, cash or other
property that is different from what our class A common stockholders would receive. Because the holders of classes of capital stock other than class
A common stock are our current and former financial institution clients, they may have interests that diverge from our class A common stockholders.
As a result, the holders of these classes of capital stock may not have the same incentive to approve a corporate action that may be favorable to the
holders of class A common stock, and their interests may otherwise conflict with interests of our class A common stockholders.
Delaware law, provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, and our capital structure could make a merger, takeover attempt
or change in control difficult .
Provisions contained in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, and our capital structure could delay or prevent a merger, takeover attempt
or change in control that our stockholders may consider favorable. For example, except for limited exceptions:
•

no person may beneficially own more than 15% of our class A common stock (or 15% of our total outstanding common stock on an asconverted basis), unless our board of directors approves the acquisition of such shares in advance;

•

no competitor or an affiliate of a competitor may hold more than 5% of our total outstanding common stock on an as-converted basis;

•

the affirmative votes of the class B and C common stock and series B and series C preferred stock are required for certain types of
consolidations or mergers;

•

our stockholders may only take action during a stockholders’ meeting and may not act by written consent; and

•

only the board of directors, Chairman or CEO may call a special meeting of stockholders.
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ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable.
ITEM 2.

Properties

At September 30, 2016, we owned and leased approximately 3.9 million square feet of office and processing center space in 67 countries
around the world, of which approximately 2.0 million square feet are owned and the remaining 1.9 million square feet are leased. Our corporate
headquarters is located in the San Francisco Bay Area and consists of four buildings that we own, totaling 0.9 million square feet, and 0.1 million
square feet of office space that we lease. We also own an office building in Miami, Florida, totaling approximately 0.2 million square feet.
In addition, we own and operate two primary processing centers with adjacent office facilities in the United States, totaling approximately 0.8
million square feet.
We believe that these facilities are suitable and adequate to support our ongoing business needs.
ITEM 3.

Legal Proceedings

Refer to Note 20—Legal Matters to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this report.
ITEM 4.

Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II
ITEM 5.

Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

All per share amounts and number of shares presented below reflect the four-for-one stock split that was effected in the second quarter of fiscal
2015. See Note 14—Stockholders' Equity in Item 8—Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this report.
Price Range of Common Stock
Our class A common stock has been listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “V” since March 19, 2008. At November 9,
2016 , we had 362 stockholders of record of our class A common stock. The number of beneficial owners is substantially greater than the number of
record holders, because a large portion of our class A common stock is held in "street name" by banks and brokers. The following table sets forth
the intra-day high and low sale prices for our class A common stock in each of our last eight fiscal quarters:
Fiscal 2016

High

Low

First Quarter

$

81.01

$

68.36

Second Quarter

$

77.00

$

66.12

Third Quarter

$

81.73

$

73.25

Fourth Quarter

$

83.79

$

73.83

Fiscal 2015

High

Low

First Quarter

$

67.33

$

48.80

Second Quarter

$

69.66

$

61.29

Third Quarter

$

70.69

$

64.35

Fourth Quarter

$

76.92

$

60.00

There is currently no established public trading market for our class B or class C common stock. There were 1,656 and 676 holders of record of
our class B and class C common stock, respectively, as of November 9, 2016 .
Dividend Declaration and Policy
During the fiscal years ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 , we paid the following quarterly cash dividends per share of our class A common
stock (determined in the case of class B and C common stock and U.K.&I and Europe preferred stock, on an as-converted basis) to all holders of
record of our common and preferred stock on the respective record dates.
Dividend
Per Share

Fiscal 2016

First Quarter

$

0.14

Second Quarter

$

0.14

Third Quarter

$

0.14

Fourth Quarter

$

0.14
Dividend
Per Share

Fiscal 2015

First Quarter

$

0.12

Second Quarter

$

0.12

Third Quarter

$

0.12

Fourth Quarter

$

0.12

Additionally, in October 2016 , our board of directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.165 per share of class A common stock
(determined in the case of class B and C common stock and U.K.&I and Europe preferred
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stock on an as-converted basis) payable on December 6, 2016 , to holders of record as of November 18, 2016 of our common and preferred stock.
Subject to legally available funds, we expect to continue paying quarterly cash dividends on our outstanding common and preferred stock in the
future. However, the declaration and payment of future dividends is at the sole discretion of our board of directors after taking into account various
factors, including our financial condition, settlement indemnifications, operating results, available cash and current and anticipated cash needs.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The table below sets forth the Company's purchases of common stock during the quarter ended September 30, 2016 .

Period

Total Number Of
Shares Purchased (1)

Average Price Paid
Per Share

Approximate
Dollar Value
Of Shares That
May Yet Be
Purchased
Under The Plans Or
Programs (2),(3)

Total Number Of
Shares Purchased
As Part Of Publicly
Announced Plans Or
Programs (2), (3)

July 1-31, 2016

2,597,645

$

77.65

2,574,980

$

7,122,065,457

August 1-31, 2016

8,280,851

$

79.85

8,279,268

$

6,460,797,525

September 1-30, 2016

9,648,865

$

82.37

9,648,865

$

5,665,815,457

20,527,361

$

80.76

20,503,113

Total
(1)

(2)

(3)

Includes 24,248 shares of class A common stock withheld at an average price of $78.23 per share (per the terms of grants under the Visa 2007
Equity Incentive Compensation Plan) to offset tax withholding obligations that occur upon vesting and release of restricted shares.
The figures in the table reflect transactions according to the trade dates. For purposes of our consolidated financial statements included in this
Form 10-K, the impact of these repurchases is recorded according to the settlement dates.
Our board of directors from time to time authorizes the repurchase of shares of our common stock up to a certain monetary limit. In October 2015
and July 2016, our board of directors authorized share repurchase programs for $5.0 billion each. These authorizations have no expiration date.
All share repurchase programs authorized prior to October 2015 have been completed.
EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The table below presents information as of September 30, 2016 , for the Visa 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan (the "EIP") and the Visa Inc.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP"), which were approved by our stockholders. We do not have any equity compensation plans that have
not been approved by our stockholders. For a description of the awards issued under the EIP and the ESPP, see Note 16—Share-based
Compensation to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8—Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this report.

Plan Category

Equity compensation plans approved by
stockholders
(1)

(a)
Number Of Shares
Of Class A
Common Stock Issuable Upon
Exercise Of
Outstanding Options And
Purchase Rights

9,221,389

Number Of Shares Of
Class A
Common Stock
Remaining Available For
Future Issuance Under
Equity Compensation
Plans (Excluding Shares
Reflected In Column (a))

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price Of
Outstanding Options And
Purchase Rights

(1)

$

38.42

(2)

170,655,889

(3)

Includes 8,876,484 outstanding options under the EIP and 344,905 outstanding purchase rights under the ESPP. In addition, the EIP authorizes
the issuance of restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance shares and other stock-based awards. The maximum number of shares
issuable as of September 30, 2016 , pursuant to outstanding restricted stock units and performance shares, totals 3,146,954 and 1,042,012 ,
respectively.
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(2)

(3)

Does not include the weighted-average exercise price of the outstanding purchase rights under the ESPP as the exercise price is based on the
future stock price, net of discount, at the end of each monthly purchase over the offering period.
In January 2015, the Company's class A stockholders approved the ESPP which permits eligible employees to purchase shares of Class A
common stock at a 15% discount to the stock price on the purchase date, subject to certain restrictions. See Note 16—Share-based
Compensation to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8—Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this report. As of
September 30, 2016, 152 million shares and 19 million shares were available for issuance under the EIP and the ESPP, respectively.
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ITEM 6.

Selected Financial Data

The following table presents selected Visa Inc. financial data for the past five fiscal years. The data below should be read in conjunction with
Item 7—Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Item 8—Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data of this report.
Selected Financial Data
Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
Statement of Operations Data :

2016

2015 (2),(3)

(1),(2)

2014 (2),(4)

2013 (2)

2012 (5)

(in millions, except per share data)

Operating revenues

$

15,082

$

13,880

$

12,702

$

11,778

$

10,421

Operating expenses

$

7,199

$

4,816

$

5,005

$

4,539

$

8,282

Operating income

$

7,883

$

9,064

$

7,697

$

7,239

$

2,139

Net income

$

5,991

$

6,328

$

5,438

$

4,980

$

2,144

$

2.49

$

2.58

$

2.16

$

1.90

$

0.79

$

2.48

$

2.58

$

2.16

$

1.90

$

0.79

Basic earnings per share—class A common stock

(6)

Diluted earnings per share—class A common stock (6)

At September 30,
Balance Sheet Data :

2016

2015

(2)

2014 (2),(4)

(2),(3)

2013 (2)

2012 (5)

(in millions, except per share data)

Total assets

$

64,035

$

39,367

$

37,543

$

35,495

$

38,002

Accrued litigation

$

981

$

1,024

$

1,456

$

5

$

4,386

$

32,912

$

29,842

$

27,413

$

26,870

$

27,630

$

0.56

$

0.48

$

0.40

$

0.33

$

0.22

Total equity
Dividend declared and paid per common share
(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(6)

We did not include Visa Europe's financial results in our consolidated statement of operations from the acquisition date, June 21, 2016, through
June 30, 2016 as the impact was immaterial. Our consolidated statement of operations for fiscal 2016 does include Visa Europe's financial
results for the three months ended September 30, 2016. Further, our financial results for fiscal 2016 include the impact of several significant onetime items. See Overview within Item 7—Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this report.
During fiscal 2013, we made payments from the U.S. litigation escrow account totaling $4.4 billion in connection with the U.S. covered litigation.
During fiscal 2014, the court entered the final judgment order approving the settlement with the class plaintiffs in the interchange multidistrict
litigation proceedings. Certain merchants in the settlement classes objected to the settlement and filed opt-out claims. Takedown payments of
approximately $1.1 billion related to the opt-out merchants were received and deposited into the U.S. litigation escrow account, and a related
increase in accrued litigation to address the opt-out claims were recorded in the second quarter of fiscal 2014. An additional accrual of $450
million associated with these opt-out claims was recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014. Payments totaling $ 528 million were made from
fiscal 2014 through 2016 from the U.S. litigation escrow account reflecting settlements with a number of individual opt-out merchants, resulting in
an accrued balance of $978 million related to U.S. covered litigation as of September 30, 2016. See Note 3—U.S. and Europe Retrospective
Responsibility Plans and Note 20—Legal Matters to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8—Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data of this report.
During fiscal 2015, we recorded a tax benefit of $296 million resulting from the resolution of uncertain tax positions with taxing authorities, of
which $239 million relates to prior fiscal years.
During fiscal 2014, we recorded a $264 million tax benefit related to a deduction for U.S. domestic production activities, of which $191 million was
a one-time tax benefit related to prior fiscal years.
During fiscal 2012, we recorded: a one-time, non-cash tax benefit of $208 million related to the remeasurement of our net deferred tax liabilities; a
U.S. covered litigation provision of $4.1 billion and related tax benefits; and the reversal of previously recorded tax reserves and interest, which
increased net income by $326 million.
The per share amounts for the prior periods presented have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the four-for-one stock split effected in the fiscal
second quarter of 2015.
29

Table of Contents
ITEM 7.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This management’s discussion and analysis provides a review of the results of operations, financial condition and liquidity and capital
resources of Visa Inc. and its subsidiaries (“Visa,” “we,” "us," “our” and the “Company”) on a historical basis and outlines the factors that have
affected recent earnings, as well as those factors that may affect future earnings. The following discussion and analysis should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included in Item 8 of this report.
Overview
Visa is a global payments technology company that connects consumers, merchants, financial institutions, businesses, strategic partners and
government entities in more than 200 countries and territories to fast, secure and reliable electronic payments. We enable global commerce through
the transfer of value and information among these participants. Our advanced transaction processing network facilitates authorization, clearing and
settlement of payment transactions and enables us to provide our financial institution and merchant clients a wide range of products, platforms and
value-added services.
Overall economic conditions. Our business is affected by overall economic conditions and consumer spending. Our business performance
during fiscal 2016 reflects the impacts of continued uneven and tepid economic growth.
Visa Europe acquisition. On June 21, 2016, we acquired 100% of the share capital of Visa Europe. The purchase price consisted of: (a) at the
closing of the transaction (Closing), up-front cash consideration of €12.2 billion ($13.9 billion) and preferred stock convertible upon certain conditions
into class A common stock or class A equivalent preferred stock, equivalent to a value of €5.3 billion ($6.1 billion) at the closing stock price of $77.33
on June 21, 2016, and (b) following the third anniversary of the Closing, an additional €1.0 billion, plus 4% compound annual interest. The preferred
stock conversion rates may be reduced from time to time to offset certain liabilities, if any, which may be incurred by us, Visa Europe or its affiliates
as a result of certain existing and potential litigation relating to the setting of multilateral interchange fee rates in the Visa Europe territory before the
Closing. As part of the acquisition, we also entered into the U.K. loss sharing agreement with Visa Europe and certain of Visa Europe’s members
located in the United Kingdom to compensate us for certain losses which may be incurred by us or Visa Europe as a result of certain existing and
potential litigation relating to the setting and implementation of domestic multilateral interchange fee rates in the United Kingdom before the Closing.
Our consolidated balance sheets reflect the consolidation of Visa Europe as of September 30, 2016. We did not include Visa Europe's financial
results in our consolidated statements of operations from the acquisition date, June 21, 2016, through June 30, 2016 as the impact was immaterial.
Our consolidated statements of operations include the financial results of Visa Europe for the three months ended September 30, 2016. See Note 2
—Acquisition of Visa Europe , Note 3—U.S. and Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plans and Note 20—Legal Matters to our consolidated
financial statements.
Debt issuance. In December 2015, we issued fixed-rate senior notes in an aggregate principal amount of $16.0 billion, with maturities ranging
between 2 and 30 years. Interest on these notes, at a rate ranging between 1.20% and 4.30%, is payable semi-annually on June 14 and December
14, commencing June 14, 2016. The net aggregate proceeds of $15.9 billion , after deducting discounts and debt issuance costs, were used to fund
the upfront cash portion of the purchase price for the acquisition of Visa Europe and for general corporate purposes, including share repurchases.
See Note 4—Fair Value Measurements and Investments and Note 9—Debt to our consolidated financial statements.
Financial highlights. Our financial results for fiscal 2016 include the impact of several significant one-time items. Our as-reported U.S. GAAP
and adjusted non-GAAP net income and diluted earnings per share are shown in the table below.
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Fiscal Year Ended
September 30,

2016

% Change (1)

2015

2014

2016
vs.
2015

2015
vs.
2014

(in millions, except percentages)

Net income, as reported
Diluted earnings per share, as reported

(2)

Net income, as adjusted (3)
Diluted earnings per share, as adjusted
(1)
(2)

(3)

(2),(3)

$

5,991

$

6,328

$

5,438

(5)%

16%

$

2.48

$

2.58

$

2.16

(4)%

20%

$

6,862

$

6,438

$

5,721

7%

13%

$

2.84

$

2.62

$

2.27

8%

16%

Figures in the tables may not recalculate exactly due to rounding. Percentage changes are calculated based on unrounded numbers.
The per share amounts for the prior periods presented have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the four-for-one stock split effected in the fiscal
second quarter of 2015.
Adjusted net income and diluted earnings per share in fiscal 2016, 2015 and 2014 exclude the impact of certain significant items that we believe
are not indicative of our operating performance, as they are either non-recurring, have no cash impact or are covered by the U.S. retrospective
responsibility plan. For a full reconciliation of our adjusted financial results, see tables in Adjusted financial results below.

We recorded net operating revenues of $15.1 billion for fiscal 2016, an increase of 9% over the prior year driven by continued growth in
processed transactions, nominal payments volume as well as the fiscal fourth quarter operating revenues of Visa Europe . The effect of exchange
rate movements, as partially mitigated by our hedging program, resulted in a negative three percentage point impact to our total operating growth.
Total operating expenses for fiscal 2016 were $7.2 billion , compared to $4.8 billion in fiscal 2015. The increase over the prior year was
primarily due to the $1.9 billion loss resulting from the effective settlement of the Framework Agreement between us and Visa Europe upon
consummation of the transaction, combined with acquisition-related costs of approximately $152 million. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe to
our consolidated financial statements.
During fiscal 2015 we recognized a tax benefit of $296 million resulting from the resolution of uncertain tax positions with taxing authorities. Of
the $296 million benefit, $239 million relates to prior fiscal years. Our financial results for the year ended September 30, 2014 reflect a one-time tax
benefit of $191 million associated with a deduction for U.S. domestic production activities related to prior fiscal years. See Note 19—Income Taxes
to our consolidated financial statements.
Adjusted financial results. Our financial results for fiscal 2016, 2015 and 2014 reflect the impact of certain significant items that we do not
believe are indicative of our ongoing operating performance in the prior or future years, as they are either non-recurring, have no cash impact or are
covered by the U.S. retrospective responsibility plan. As such, we believe the presentation of adjusted financial results excluding the following items
provides a clearer understanding of our operating performance for the periods presented.
•

Severance cost. In the fiscal fourth quarter, we recorded a $110 million charge for severance costs related to personnel reductions including
planned reductions at Visa Europe. Although we routinely record severance expenses, these charges are larger than any past quarterly
accrual due to the acquisition and integration of Visa Europe. Net of related tax benefit of $38 million, determined by applying applicable tax
rates, the adjustment to net income was an increase of $72 million.

•

Remeasurement of deferred tax liability. In September 2016, we recorded a non-cash, non-recurring $88 million gain upon the
remeasurement of a deferred tax liability, recorded upon the acquisition of Visa Europe, to reflect a tax rate change in the United Kingdom.

•

Acquisition-related costs. During fiscal 2016, we incurred $152 million of non-recurring acquisition costs in operating expense as a result of
the Visa Europe transaction. This amount is comprised of $60 million of transaction expenses recorded in professional fees, and $92 million
of U.K. stamp duty recorded in general and administrative expenses. Net of related tax benefit of $56 million, determined by applying
applicable
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federal and state tax rates, the adjustment to net income was an increase of $96 million. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe to our
consolidated financial statements.
•

Visa Europe Framework Agreement loss . Upon consummation of the transaction, on June 21, 2016, we recorded a non-recurring loss of
$1.9 billion, before tax, in operating expense resulting from the effective settlement of the Framework Agreement between us and Visa
Europe. Net of related tax benefit of $693 million, determined by applying applicable federal and state tax rates, the adjustment to net
income was an increase of $1.2 billion. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe to our consolidated financial statements.

•

Net gains on currency forward contracts. During fiscal 2016, we entered into currency forward contracts to mitigate a portion of our foreign
currency exchange rate risk associated with the upfront cash consideration paid in the Visa Europe acquisition. As a result, we recorded
non-recurring, net gains of $74 million, before tax, in other non-operating income. Net of related tax expense of $27 million, determined by
applying applicable federal and state tax rates, the adjustment to net income was a decrease of $47 million. See Note 12—Derivative and
Non-derivative Financial Instruments to our consolidated financial statements.

•

Foreign exchange gain on euro deposits. During fiscal 2016, we recorded a non-recurring foreign exchange gain of $145 million, before tax,
in other non-operating income as a result of holding euro-denominated bank balances for a short period in advance of the Closing. Net of
related tax expense of $54 million, determined by applying applicable federal and state tax rates, the impact to net income was a decrease
of $91 million.

•

Revaluation of Visa Europe put option. During the first quarter of fiscal 2016 and the third quarter of fiscal 2015, we recorded a decrease of
$255 million and an increase of $110 million, respectively, in the fair value of the Visa Europe put option, resulting in the recognition of noncash income and expense in other non-operating income. These amounts are not subject to income tax and therefore have no impact on
our reported income tax provision. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe and Note 4—Fair Value Measurements and Investments to our
consolidated financial statements.

•

Litigation provision. During fiscal 2014, we recorded a litigation provision of $450 million and related tax benefits of $167 million associated
with the U.S. interchange multidistrict litigation. The tax impact is determined by applying applicable federal and state tax rates to the
litigation provision. Monetary liabilities from settlements of, or judgments in, the U.S. covered litigation will be paid from the U.S. litigation
escrow account. See Note 3—U.S. and Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plans and Note 20—Legal Matters to our consolidated financial
statements.
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Adjusted operating expenses, operating margin, non-operating income, income taxes, net income and diluted earnings per share are nonGAAP financial measures and should not be relied upon as substitutes for measures calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The following tables
reconcile our as-reported financial measures calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP to the respective non-GAAP adjusted financial measures for
fiscal 2016, 2015 and 2014:
Fiscal 2016
Operating
Expenses

(in millions, except percentages and per share data)

As reported

$

Severance cost

(1),(2)

7,199

52%

(110)

Remeasurement of deferred tax liability

—

Acquisition-related costs
Visa Europe Framework Agreement loss

Non-operating
Income
(Expense)

Operating
Margin

$

129

Income
Taxes

$

2,021

Diluted
Earnings Per
Share (2)

Net Income

$

5,991

$

2.48

1%

—

38

72

0.03

—%

—

88

(88)

(0.04)

(152)

1%

—

56

96

0.04

(1,877)

12%

—

693

1,184

0.49

Net gains on currency forward contracts

—

—%

(74)

(27)

(47)

(0.02)

Foreign exchange gain on euro deposits

—

—%

(145)

(54)

(91)

(0.04)

Revaluation of Visa Europe put option

—

—%

(255)

—

(255)

(0.11)

5,060

66%

As adjusted

$

$

(345)

$

2,815

$

6,862

$

2.84

Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding, as
reported

2,414
Fiscal 2015
Operating
Expenses

(in millions, except percentages and per share data)

As reported

$

Revaluation of Visa Europe put option
As adjusted

$

Non-operating
Income
(Expense)

Operating
Margin
(1),(2)

4,816

65%

—

—%

4,816

65%

$

(69)

Income
Taxes

$

110
$

41

2,667

Net Income

$

—
$

2,667

Diluted
Earnings Per
Share

6,328

(2),(3)

$

2.58

110
$

6,438

0.04
$

2.62

Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding, as
reported

2,457
Fiscal 2014
Operating
Expenses

(in millions, except percentages and per share data)

As reported

$

Litigation provision
As adjusted

(1),(2)

5,005

61%

(450)
$

Non-operating
Income
(Expense)

Operating
Margin

$

4%

4,555

64%

27

Income
Taxes

$

—
$

27

2,286

Net Income

$

167
$

2,453

Diluted
Earnings Per
Share

5,438

(2),(3)

$

283
$

5,721

0.11
$

Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding, as
reported
(1)
(2)

(3)

2.16
2.27
2,523

Operating margin is calculated as operating income divided by net operating revenues.
Figures in the table may not recalculate exactly due to rounding. Operating margin and diluted earnings per share figures are calculated based on
unrounded numbers.
The per share amounts for the prior periods presented have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the four-for-one stock split effected in the fiscal
second quarter of 2015.

Common stock repurchases. During fiscal 2016 , we repurchased 91 million shares of our class A common stock in the open market using $7.0
billion of cash on hand. As of September 30, 2016 , we had remaining authorized funds of $5.8 billion . All share repurchase programs authorized
prior to October 2015 have been completed. See Note 14—Stockholders' Equity to our consolidated financial statements.
Nominal payments volume and transaction counts. Payments volume is the primary driver for our service revenues, and the number of
processed transactions is the primary driver for our data processing revenues.
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Nominal payments volume over the prior year posted strong growth in the U.S., driven mainly by consumer debit and credit. Nominal international
payments volume was negatively impacted by the overall strengthening of the U.S. dollar. On a constant-dollar basis, which excludes the impact of
exchange rate movements, our international payments volume growth rate for the 12 months ended June 30, 2016 (1) and 2015 was 37% and 13%,
respectively. Processed transactions sustained healthy growth reflecting the ongoing worldwide shift to electronic currency.
The following tables present nominal payments volume. (2)
United States

International

Visa Inc.

12 months
ended June 30, (1)

12 months
ended June 30, (1)

12 months
ended June 30, (1)

2016

2015

%
Change

2016

%
Change

2015

2016

%
Change

2015

(in billions, except percentages)

Nominal payments volume
Consumer credit

$

Consumer debit (3)
Commercial

980

10%

1,676

3%

2,656

5%

1,320

1,202

10%

454

462

(2)%

1,774

1,663

7%

450

412

9%

147

150

(2)%

598

562

6%

1,080

(4)

$

$

1,720

479

(5)

Visa Europe
Total nominal payments
volume

$

2,851

Cash volume

$

2,594

10%

491

6%

520

$

$

1,774

2,288

22 %

2,015

(12)%

175
$

3,370

$

3,086

9%

$

$

2,799

NM

2,800

Visa Europe (5)
Total nominal volume (6)

$

$

4,303

10 %

NM

479
$

5,651

$

2,294

NM

4,749

$

4,882

$

8,119

$

7,388

International

Visa Inc.

12 months
ended June 30, (1)

12 months
ended June 30, (1)

12 months
ended June 30, (1)

2014

%
Change

2015

%
Change

2014

(8)%
NM

175

United States

2015

16 %

2,506

2015

10 %

%
Change

2014

(in billions, except percentages)

Nominal payments volume
Consumer credit

$

Consumer debit (3)
Commercial

(4)

Total nominal payments
volume

$

Cash volume
Total nominal volume (6)

872

12%

1,599

5%

2,470

8%

1,202

980

1,127

7%

462

453

2%

1,663

1,580

5%

412

370

11%

150

145

4%

562

514

9%

2,369

10%

469

5%

2,838

9%

2,594

$

$

491
$

3,086

$

$

$

1,676

2,288

$

$

2,015
$

4,303

$

2,196

4%

2,122

(5)%

4,319

—%

$

$

2,656

4,882

$

$

2,506
$

7,388

$

4,565

7%

2,591

(3)%

7,157

3%

The following table presents nominal and constant payments volume growth. (2)
International
12 months ended
June 30,
2016 vs 2015 (1)
Nominal

Visa Inc.
12 months ended
June 30,
2015 vs 2014 (1)

Constant (7)

Nominal

12 months ended
June 30,
2016 vs 2015 (1)

Constant (7)

Nominal

12 months ended
June 30,
2015 vs 2014 (1)

Constant (7)

Nominal

Constant (7)

Total payments volume
growth (5)

22%

37%

4%

13%

16%

22%

7%

11%

Total volume growth (5)

10%

27%

—%

10%

10%

19%

3%

10%

(1)

Service revenues in a given quarter are assessed based on nominal payments volume in the prior quarter. Therefore, service revenues reported
for the twelve months ended September 30, 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , were based on nominal payments volume reported by our financial institution
clients for the twelve months ended June 30, 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively.
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(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

(6)

(7)

Figures in the tables may not recalculate exactly due to rounding. Percentage changes are calculated based on unrounded numbers.
Includes consumer prepaid volume and interlink volume.
Includes large, middle and small business credit and debit, as well as commercial prepaid volume.
Our nominal payments volume, total payments volume growth and total volume growth for the twelve months ended June 30, 2016 reflect the
related nominal payments volume of Visa Europe for the three months ended June 30, 2016, which impacts our service revenues for the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2016.
Total nominal volume is the sum of total nominal payments volume and cash volume. Total nominal payments volume is the total monetary value
of transactions for goods and services that are purchased on cards carrying the Visa, Visa Electron, Interlink and V PAY brands. Cash volume
generally consists of cash access transactions, balance access transactions, balance transfers and convenience checks. Total nominal volume is
provided by our financial institution clients, subject to review by Visa. On occasion, previously presented volume information may be updated.
Prior period updates are not material.
Growth on a constant-dollar basis excludes the impact of foreign currency fluctuations against the U.S. dollar.

The following table provides the number of transactions processed by our VisaNet system, including transactions involving Visa, Visa Electron,
Interlink, V PAY and PLUS cards processed on Visa's networks during the fiscal periods presented. (1)
2016 (2),(3)

2015 (2)

2014

2016 vs. 2015
% Change (3)

2015 vs. 2014
% Change

(in millions, except percentages)

Visa processed transactions
(1)

(2)

(3)

83,159

70,968

64,993

17%

9%

Figures in the table may not recalculate exactly due to rounding. Percentage changes are calculated based on unrounded numbers. On occasion,
previously presented information may be updated. Prior period updates are not material. Our operating revenues and related processed
transactions for fiscal 2016 do not reflect the financial results or related processed transactions of Visa Europe from the acquisition date, June 21,
2016, through June 30, 2016 as the impact is immaterial. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe to our consolidated financial statements.
As a result of changes in Russian National Payment System law, we transitioned the processing of Russian domestic transactions to the Russian
National Payment Card System during the third quarter of fiscal 2015. The number of transactions processed by our VisaNet system does not
reflect Russian domestic transactions processed after the transition.
Visa processed transactions in fiscal 2016 include transactions processed by Visa Europe during the fiscal fourth quarter.

Results of Operations
Operating Revenues
Our operating revenues are primarily generated from payments volume on Visa products for purchased goods and services, as well as the
number of transactions processed on our network. We do not earn revenues from, or bear credit risk with respect to, interest or fees paid by account
holders on Visa products. Our issuing clients have the responsibility for issuing cards and other payment products, and determining the interest rates
and fees paid by account holders. We generally do not earn revenues from the fees that merchants are charged for acceptance by the acquirers,
including the merchant discount rate. Our acquiring clients are generally responsible for soliciting merchants, and establishing and earning these
fees.
The following sets forth the components of our operating revenues:
Service revenues consist mainly of revenues earned for services provided in support of client usage of Visa products. Current quarter service
revenues are primarily assessed using a calculation of current pricing applied to the prior quarter's payments volume. Service revenues also include
assessments designed to support ongoing acceptance and volume growth initiatives, which are recognized in the same period the related volume is
transacted.
Data processing revenues are earned for authorization, clearing, settlement, network access and other maintenance and support services that
facilitate transaction and information processing among our clients globally.
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Data processing revenues are recognized in the same period the related transactions occur or services are rendered.
International transaction revenues are earned for cross-border transaction processing and currency conversion activities. Cross-border
transactions arise when the country of origin of the issuer is different from that of the merchant. International transaction revenues are primarily
generated by cross-border payments and cash volume.
Other revenues consist mainly of license fees for use of the Visa brand, revenues earned from Visa Europe in accordance with the Visa
Europe Framework Agreement prior to the completion of the Visa Europe acquisition, fees for account holder services, certification and licensing,
and other activities related to our acquired entities. Other revenues also include optional service or product enhancements, such as extended
account holder protection and concierge services.
Client incentives consist of long-term contracts with financial institution clients, merchants and strategic partners for various programs designed
to build payments volume, increase Visa product acceptance, win merchant routing transactions over our network and drive innovation. These
incentives are primarily accounted for as reductions to operating revenues.
Operating Expenses
Personnel expenses include salaries, employee benefits, incentive compensation, share-based compensation, severance charges and
contractor expense.
Marketing expenses include expenses associated with advertising and marketing campaigns, sponsorships and other related promotions of the
Visa brand.
Network and processing expenses mainly represent expenses for the operation of our processing network, including maintenance, equipment
rental and fees for other data processing services.
Professional fees mainly consist of fees for consulting, legal and other professional services.
Depreciation and amortization expenses include depreciation expense for property and equipment, as well as amortization of purchased and
internally developed software. Also included in this amount is amortization of finite-lived intangible assets primarily obtained through acquisitions.
General and administrative expenses mainly consist of transaction costs related to the Visa Europe acquisition, product enhancements,
facilities costs, travel activities, foreign exchange gains and losses and other corporate expenses incurred in support of our business.
Litigation provision is an estimate of litigation expense and is based on management's understanding of our litigation profile, the specifics of the
cases, advice of counsel to the extent appropriate and management's best estimate of incurred loss as of the balance sheet date.
Visa Europe Framework Agreement loss is a one-time loss incurred upon consummation of the Visa Europe acquisition on June 21, 2016,
resulting from the effective settlement of the Framework Agreement between us and Visa Europe.
Non-operating Income (Expense)
Non-operating income (expense) primarily includes interest expense, changes in the fair value of the Visa Europe put option and income, gains
and losses earned on investments and derivative instruments not associated with our core operations.
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Visa Inc. Fiscal 2016, 2015 and 2014
Operating Revenues
The following table sets forth our operating revenues earned in the U.S., internationally and in accordance with the Framework Agreement
prior to the Visa Europe acquisition on June 21, 2016. Visa Europe revenue earned for the three months ended September 30, 2016 is included in
International.
Fiscal Year Ended
September 30,

2016

$ Change

2015

(2)

2016
vs.
2015

2014

% Change (1)
2015
vs.
2014

2016
vs.
2015

2015
vs.
2014

(in millions, except percentages)

United States

$

International
Revenues earned under the Framework
Agreement (3)
Net operating revenues
(1)
(2)

(3)

7,851

$

7,040

15,082

$

6,219

191
$

7,406

13,880

$

5,629

255
$

6,847

12,702

$

559

6%

8%

590

13 %

10%

29

(25)%

13%

1,178

9%

9%

821

226
$

445

(64)
$

1,202

$

Figures in the table may not recalculate exactly due to rounding. Percentage changes are calculated based on unrounded numbers.
Our operating revenues for fiscal 2016 do not reflect revenues earned by Visa Europe from the acquisition date, June 21, 2016, through June 30,
2016 as the impact was immaterial.
Reflects revenues earned from Visa Europe prior to the acquisition, in accordance with the Framework Agreement that provided for trademark
and technology licenses and bilateral services. The Framework Agreement was effectively settled upon the closing of the acquisition. See Note 2
—Acquisition of Visa Europe to our consolidated financial statements.

The increase in operating revenues primarily reflects continued growth in processed transactions and nominal payments volume, as well as the
fiscal fourth quarter operating revenues of Visa Europe . These benefits were partially offset by increases in client incentives. Overall revenue growth
also reflects the positive impact of select pricing modifications effected in the third quarter of fiscal 2015.
Our operating revenues, primarily service revenues, international transaction revenues, and client incentives, are impacted by the overall
strengthening or weakening of the U.S. dollar as payments volume and related revenues denominated in local currencies are converted to U.S.
dollars. The effect of exchange rate movements in fiscal 2016, as partially mitigated by our hedging program, resulted in a negative three percentage
point impact to our net operating revenue growth.
The following table sets forth the components of our net operating revenues, including operating revenues earned by Visa Europe for the three
months ended September 30, 2016. Other revenues also includes revenue earned from Visa Europe in accordance with the Framework Agreement
prior to its acquisition on June 21, 2016.
Fiscal Year Ended
September 30,

2016 (2)

$ Change

2015

2016
vs.
2015

2014

% Change (1)
2015
vs.
2014

2016
vs.
2015

2015
vs.
2014

(in millions, except percentages)

Service revenues

$

505

7%

9%

Data processing revenues

6,272

5,552

5,167

720

385

13%

7%

International transaction revenues

4,649

4,064

3,560

585

504

14%

14%

823

823

770

—

53

—%

7%

(269)

19%

10%

9%

9%

Other revenues
Client incentives
Net operating revenues
(1)

6,747

$

(3,409)
$

15,082

6,302

$

(2,861)
$

13,880

5,797

$

(2,592)
$

12,702

445

$

(548)
$

1,202

$

1,178

Figures in the table may not recalculate exactly due to rounding. Percentage changes are calculated based on unrounded numbers.
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(2)

Our operating revenues for fiscal 2016 do not reflect revenues earned by Visa Europe from the acquisition date, June 21, 2016, through June 30,
2016 as the impact was immaterial.
•

Service revenues, which includes revenues earned by Visa Europe in the fiscal fourth quarter, increased in fiscal 2016 and 2015 primarily
due to 16% and 7% growth in nominal payments volume, respectively. The growth in fiscal 2016 service revenues was slower than the
growth in payments volume reflecting the inclusion of Visa Europe revenue for the fiscal fourth quarter and the resulting impact on our
service revenue yield. Fiscal 2016 growth also reflects select pricing modifications which became effective in the third quarter of fiscal
2015.

•

Data processing revenues increased in fiscal 2016 and 2015 due to overall growth in processed transactions of 17% and 9% ,
respectively, which includes data processing revenues earned by Visa Europe in the fiscal fourth quarter and the resulting impact on our
data processing revenue yield.

•

International transaction revenues increased in fiscal 2016 primarily due to nominal cross-border volume growth of 37%, including
revenues earned by Visa Europe in the fiscal fourth quarter. In addition to the inclusion of Visa Europe revenue and the resulting impact
on our international transaction revenue yield, fiscal 2016 growth also reflects select pricing modifications that became effective in the
third quarter of fiscal 2015. The increase in fiscal 2015 was primarily driven by higher volatility in a broad range of currencies, combined
with select pricing modifications that became effective in the third quarter of fiscal 2015.

•

Client incentives increased in fiscal 2016 and 2015 , reflecting overall growth in global payments volume, incentives incurred on long-term
client contracts that were initiated or renewed during fiscal 2016 and 2015 and Visa Europe's incentives for the fourth quarter of fiscal
2016. The amount of client incentives we record in future periods will vary based on changes in performance expectations, actual client
performance, amendments to existing contracts or the execution of new contracts.

Operating Expenses
The following table sets forth the components of our total operating expenses.
Fiscal Year Ended
September 30,

2016 (2)

2015

$ Change
2016
vs.
2015

2014

% Change (1)
2015
vs.
2014

2016
vs.
2015

2015
vs.
2014

(in millions, except percentages)

Personnel

$

204

7%

11 %

Marketing

869

872

900

(3)

(28)

—%

(3)%

Network and processing

538

474

507

64

(33)

13 %

(7)%

Professional fees

389

336

328

53

8

16 %

2%

Depreciation and amortization

502

494

435

8

59

2%

14 %

General and administrative

796

547

507

249

40

46 %

8%

2

14

453

(12)

(439)

(86)%

(97)%

Litigation provision
Visa Europe Framework Agreement loss
Total operating expenses (3)
(1)
(2)

(3)

2,226

$

2,079

1,877
$

7,199

$

—
$

4,816

1,875

$

—
$

5,005

147

$

1,877
$

2,383

—
$

(189)

NM
49 %

—%
(4)%

Figures in the table may not recalculate exactly due to rounding. Percentage changes are calculated based on unrounded numbers.
Our operating expenses for fiscal 2016 do not reflect the expenses incurred by Visa Europe from the acquisition date, June 21, 2016, through
June 30, 2016 as the impact was immaterial. Operating expenses incurred by Visa Europe for the three months ended September 30, 2016 are
reflected in fiscal 2016 total operating expenses.
Operating expenses for fiscal 2016 and 2014 include significant items that we do not believe are indicative of our operating performance as they
are related to the Visa Europe acquisition, or are covered by the U.S. retrospective responsibility plan. See Overview within this Item 7—
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations .
•

Personnel expenses increased in fiscal 2016 primarily due to a severance charge related to personnel reductions including planned
reductions at Visa Europe, combined with an increase from the inclusion of Visa Europe fiscal fourth quarter expenses. This increase was
partially offset by a decrease in contractor
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costs, an increase in personnel costs that were invested in and capitalized as part of technology development projects and lower incentive
compensation. The increase in fiscal 2015 was primarily due to an increase in headcount reflecting our strategy to invest for future growth,
combined with higher incentive compensation.
•

Marketing expenses in fiscal 2016 reflect efficiencies in production and agency costs which were redeployed for other marketing uses,
and Visa Europe expenses for the fiscal fourth quarter. The decrease in marketing during fiscal 2015 compared to fiscal 2014 was mainly
due to the overall strengthening of the U.S. dollar as marketing spend in local currencies was converted to U.S. dollars, combined with the
absence of the 2014 Sochi Winter Olympics and 2014 FIFA World Cup spend that was incurred in fiscal 2014. The decrease was partially
offset by increases in promotional campaigns that support our growth strategies and product initiatives.

•

Network and processing expenses increased in fiscal 2016 primarily due to the inclusion of Visa Europe expenses beginning in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2016 and fees associated with the processing of Russian domestic transactions that transitioned to the Russian National
Payment Card system during the third quarter of fiscal 2015. The decrease in fiscal 2015 was a result of initiatives to optimize the use of
our technology resources. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe to our consolidated financial statements.

•

Professional fees increased in fiscal 2016 primarily reflecting transaction costs incurred in connection with our acquisition of Visa Europe.
See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe to our consolidated financial statements.

•

Depreciation and amortization expenses in fiscal 2016 were flat compared to fiscal 2015. The increase in fiscal 2015 was primarily due to
additional depreciation from our ongoing investments in technology assets and infrastructure to support our digital solutions and core
business initiatives.

•

General and administrative expenses increased in fiscal 2016 mainly due to costs incurred related to our acquisition of Visa Europe and
the inclusion of Visa Europe expenses beginning in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2016. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe to our
consolidated financial statements. The increase was also attributable to net foreign exchange losses incurred as a result of changes in the
U.S. dollar exchange rate against other currencies in which we transact. The increase in fiscal 2015 was mainly due to an increase in
travel activities, product enhancements and facilities costs in support of our business growth, combined with losses incurred from the sale
of assets held by an international subsidiary. These increases were partially offset by unrealized foreign exchange gains and the absence
of the fiscal 2014 disposal of obsolete technology assets.

•

Litigation provision decreased in fiscal 2016 primarily due to the absence of a loss incurred in fiscal 2015 upon the settlement of
uncovered litigation. The decrease in fiscal 2015 reflects the absence of a $450 million accrual related to the U.S. covered litigation
incurred in fiscal 2014. See Note 20—Legal Matters and Note 3—U.S. and Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plans to our consolidated
financial statements.

•

Visa Europe Framework Agreement loss resulted from the effective settlement of the Framework Agreement between Visa and Visa
Europe upon consummation of the transaction. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe to our consolidated financial statements.

Non-operating Income (Expense)
The following table sets forth the components of our non-operating income (expense) .
Fiscal Year Ended
September 30,

2016 (2)

2015

$ Change
2016
vs.
2015

2014

% Change (1)
2015
vs.
2014

2016
vs.
2015

2015
vs.
2014

(in millions, except percentages)

Interest expense

$

Other
Total non-operating income (expense)

(427)

$

556
$

129

(3)

$

(66)
$

(69)
39

(8)

$

35
$

27

(424)

$

622
$

198

$

NM

(61)%

(101)

5

NM

NM

(96)

NM

NM

Table of Contents
(1)
(2)

Figures in the table may not recalculate exactly due to rounding. Percentage changes are calculated based on unrounded numbers.
Our non-operating income (expense) for fiscal 2016 does not reflect the financial results of Visa Europe from the acquisition date, June 21, 2016,
through June 30, 2016 as the impact was immaterial. Fiscal 2016 non-operating income (expense) includes financial results of Visa Europe for
the three months ended September 30, 2016. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe to our consolidated financial statements.
•

Interest expense increased during fiscal 2016 primarily due to the issuance of $16.0 billion fixed-rate senior notes in December 2015. See
Note 9—Debt to our consolidated financial statements.

•

Other non-operating income (expense) in fiscal 2016 and 2015 was primarily comprised of the following:
• net gains of $74 million in fiscal 2016 related to currency forward contracts entered into to mitigate a portion of our foreign
currency exchange rate risk associated with the upfront cash consideration paid in the Visa Europe acquisition. As these
contracts are not designated in hedging relationships, related gains and losses are recorded directly in earnings as part of nonoperating income (expense) ;
• a foreign exchange gain of $145 million in fiscal 2016 on euro deposits as a result of holding euro-denominated bank balances for
a short period in advance of the Closing;
• a non-cash adjustment of $255 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2016 to decrease the fair value of the Visa Europe put option,
which is not subject to tax, reducing the fair value of the liability to zero; and
• a non-cash adjustment of $110 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2015 to increase the fair value of the unamended Visa Europe
put option, which is not subject to tax.

See Note 4—Fair Value Measurements and Investments and Note 12—Derivative and Non-derivative Financial Instruments to our
consolidated financial statements.
Effective Income Tax Rate
The effective income tax rate was 25% in fiscal 2016 and 30% in fiscal 2015 . The effective tax rate in fiscal 2016 differs from the effective tax
rate in fiscal 2015 primarily due to:
•

the effect of one-time items related to the Visa Europe acquisition, the most significant of which was the $1.9 billion U.S. loss related to the
effective settlement of the Framework Agreement between Visa and Visa Europe. These one-time items impacted the geographic mix of our
global income, resulting in a reduced effective tax rate;
an $88 million one-time tax benefit due to the remeasurement of deferred tax liabilities as a result of the reduction in the UK tax rate enacted
in fiscal 2016;
the non-taxable $255 million revaluation of the Visa Europe put option recorded in fiscal 2016; and
the absence of a $296 million tax benefit recognized in fiscal 2015 resulting from the resolution of uncertain tax positions with taxing
authorities. Included in the $296 million was a one-time $239 million tax benefit that related to prior fiscal years.

•
•
•

The effective income tax rates were 30% in fiscal 2015 and 2014 . The following highlights the significant tax items recorded in each respective
year:
•
•

the aforementioned $296 million tax benefit recognized in fiscal 2015; and
a $264 million tax benefit recognized in fiscal 2014 related to a deduction for U.S. domestic production activities, of which $191 million
was a one-time tax benefit related to prior fiscal years.

Adjusted effective income tax rate . Our financial results for fiscal 2016 reflect the impact of certain significant items that we do not believe are
indicative of our ongoing operating performance in the prior or future years, as they are either non-recurring or have no cash impact. As such, we
have presented our adjusted effective income tax rate in the table below, which we believe provides a clearer understanding of our operating
performance in fiscal 2016. See Overview - Adjusted financial results within this Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations for descriptions of the adjustments in the table below.
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Fiscal 2016
Income Before
Income Taxes

As reported

$

Income Tax
Provision

8,012

Severance cost
Remeasurement of deferred tax liability
Acquisition-related costs
Visa Europe Framework Agreement loss

$

2,021

110

38

—

88

152

56

1,877

693

Net gains on currency forward contracts

(74)

(27)

Foreign exchange gain on euro deposits

(145)

(54)

Revaluation of Visa Europe put option

(255)

—

$

As adjusted
(1)

9,677

Effective Income
Tax Rate (1)

$

25.2%

2,815

29.1%

Figures in the table may not recalculate exactly due to rounding. Effective income tax rate changes are calculated based on unrounded numbers.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Management of Our Liquidity
We regularly evaluate cash requirements for current operations, commitments, development activities and capital expenditures, and we may
elect to raise additional funds for these purposes in the future through the issuance of either debt or equity. Our treasury policies provide
management with the guidelines and authority to manage liquidity risk in a manner consistent with our corporate objectives.
The objectives of our treasury policies are to:
• provide adequate liquidity to cover operating expenditures and liquidity contingency scenarios;
• ensure timely completion of payments settlement activities;
• ensure payments on required litigation settlements;
• make planned capital investments in our business;
• pay dividends and repurchase our shares at the discretion of our board of directors; and
• invest excess cash in securities that enable us to first meet our working capital and liquidity needs, and earn additional income.
Based on our current cash flow budgets and forecasts of our short-term and long-term liquidity needs, we believe that our projected sources of
liquidity will be sufficient to meet our projected liquidity needs for more than the next 12 months. We will continue to assess our liquidity position and
potential sources of supplemental liquidity in view of our operating performance, current economic and capital market conditions, and other relevant
circumstances.
Cash Flow Data
The following table summarizes our cash flow activity for the fiscal years presented:
2016

2015

2014

(in millions)

Total cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities

$

5,574

$

6,584

$

7,205

Investing activities

(10,916)

(1,435)

(941)

Financing activities

7,477

(3,603)

(6,478)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

(34)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

$
41

2,101

1
$

1,547

(1)
$

(215)
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Operating activiti es. Cash provided by operating activities in fiscal 2016, 2015 and 2014 was significantly impacted by cash flows related to the
Visa Europe acquisition and the U.S. interchange multidistrict litigation, including:
•
•
•

$1.9 billion of the consideration paid in the Visa Europe acquisition related to the effective settlement of the Framework Agreement
between us and Visa Europe, and payment of $244 million of interest on the senior notes during fiscal 2016 (see Note 2—Acquisition of
Visa Europe and Note 9—Debt );
payments of $426 million made from the U.S. litigation escrow account and a related decrease of approximately $157 million of income
taxes paid during fiscal 2015; and
the return of $1.1 billion in takedown payments in fiscal 2014 and related increase of $368 million in income taxes paid.

The cash inflows and outflows related to the U.S. litigation escrow account are also reflected as offsetting cash flows within financing activities
for their respective years as they are covered by the U.S. retrospective responsibility plan. See Note 3—U.S. and Europe Retrospective
Responsibility Plans and Note 20—Legal Matters to our consolidated financial statements.
Investing activities. Cash used in investing activities was higher in fiscal 2016 compared to the prior year primarily due to the up-front cash
consideration paid in the Visa Europe acquisition, offset by $2.8 billion of cash held by Visa Europe at the closing of the transaction. Cash used in
investing activities was higher in fiscal 2015 compared to fiscal 2014, primarily reflecting a decrease in the proceeds received from maturities and
sales of available-for-sale securities, and an increase in purchases of available-for-sale securities. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe and Note
4—Fair Value Measurements and Investments to our consolidated financial statements.
Financing activities. Cash provided by financing activities in fiscal 2016 reflects $15.9 billion net aggregate proceeds received from our debt
issuance completed in December 2015, $7.0 billion used to repurchase class A common stock in the open market, and $1.4 billion of dividend
payments. Cash used in financing activities in fiscal 2015 and 2014 reflect significant cash flows in connection with the interchange multidistrict
litigation that offset the impacts discussed above within operating activities as they are covered by the U.S. retrospective responsibility plan, as
follows:
•
•
•

payments of $426 million made from the U.S. litigation escrow account in fiscal 2015;
$1.1 billion in takedown payments returned to the U.S. litigation escrow account in fiscal 2014; and
$450 million deposited into the U.S. litigation escrow account in fiscal 2014.

The remainder of the change in fiscal 2015 compared to 2014 was primarily due to decreases in common stock repurchases. See Note 3—
U.S. and Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plans , Note 9—Debt , Note 14—Stockholders' Equity and Note 20—Legal Matters to our
consolidated financial statements.
Sources of Liquidity
Our primary sources of liquidity are cash on hand, cash flow from our operations, our investment portfolio and access to various equity and
borrowing arrangements. Funds from operations are maintained in cash and cash equivalents and short-term or long-term available-for-sale
investment securities based upon our funding requirements, access to liquidity from these holdings, and the return that these holdings provide. We
believe that cash flow generated from operations, in conjunction with access to our other sources of liquidity, will be more than sufficient to meet our
ongoing operational needs.
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term and long-term available-for-sale investment securities held by our foreign subsidiaries totaled $8.7
billion at September 30, 2016 . If it were necessary to repatriate these funds for use in the U.S., we would be required to pay U.S. income taxes on
the amount of undistributed earnings in those subsidiaries. It is our intent to indefinitely reinvest the majority of these funds outside of the U.S. As
such, we have not accrued any U.S. income tax provision in our financial results related to approximately $8.3 billion of undistributed earnings
included in these funds. The amount of income taxes that would have resulted had these funds been repatriated is not practicably determinable.
Available-for-sale investment securities. Our investment portfolio is designed to invest excess cash in securities which enables us to meet our
working capital and liquidity needs. Our investment portfolio primarily consists of debt securities issued by the U.S. Treasury or U.S. governmentsponsored agencies. The majority of these investments, $3.9 billion , are classified as non-current as they have stated maturities of more than one
year from the balance sheet date. However, these investments are generally available to meet short-term liquidity needs.
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Factors that may impact the liquidity of our investment portfolio include, but are not limited to, changes to credit ratings of the securities,
uncertainty related to regulatory developments, actions by central banks and other monetary authorities, and the ongoing strength and quality of
credit markets. We will continue to review our portfolio in light of evolving market and economic conditions. However, if current market conditions
deteriorate, the liquidity of our investment portfolio may be impacted and we could determine that some of our investments are impaired, which could
adversely impact our financial results. We have policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution or type of investment.
Commercial paper program . We maintain a commercial paper program to support our working capital requirements and for other general
corporate purposes. Under the program, we are authorized to issue up to $3.0 billion in outstanding notes, with maturities up to 397 days from the
date of issuance. We had no outstanding obligations under the program at September 30, 2016 . See Note 9—Debt to our consolidated financial
statements.
Credit facility. On January 27, 2016 , we entered into an unsecured $4.0 billion revolving credit facility. The credit facility, which expires on
January 27, 2021 , replaced our previous $3.0 billion credit facility, which expired on January 27, 2016 . The new credit facility contains covenants
and events of default customary for facilities of this type. There were no borrowings under either facility and we were in compliance with all related
covenants during the year ended September 30, 2016 . See Note 9—Debt to our consolidated financial statements.
Universal shelf registration statement. In July 2015, we filed a registration statement with the SEC using a shelf registration process. As
permitted by the registration statement, we may, from time to time, sell shares of debt or equity securities in one or more transactions. This
registration statement expires in July 2018.
Long-term debt and change in capital structure . In conjunction with the Visa Europe acquisition, we have evolved our long-term capital
structure. In December 2015, we issued fixed-rate senior notes in an aggregate principal amount of $16.0 billion, with maturities ranging between 2
and 30 years. Our first principal payment of $1.8 billion is due on December 14, 2017. Interest on the Notes, at a rate ranging between 1.20% and
4.30%, is payable semi-annually on June 14 and December 14 of each year. An interest payment of $244 million was made on June 14, 2016. The
Notes may be redeemed as a whole or in part, at our option at any time prior to maturity, at a specified redemption price. The net aggregate
proceeds of $15.9 billion, after deducting underwriting discounts and debt issuance costs of $127 million, were used to fund a portion of the
purchase price for the acquisition of Visa Europe and for general corporate purposes, including share repurchases. We are not subject to any
financial covenants and did not experience any changes to our investment credit ratings as a result of this debt issuance. See Note 9—Debt to our
consolidated financial statements. We expect to issue additional debt of about $2.0 billion by the end of the first quarter of fiscal 2017, market
conditions permitting.
U.S. Litigation escrow account. Pursuant to the terms of the U.S. retrospective responsibility plan, we maintain a U.S. litigation escrow account
from which monetary liabilities from settlements of, or judgments in, the U.S. covered litigation will be payable. When we fund the U.S. litigation
escrow account, the shares of class B common stock held by our stockholders are subject to dilution through an adjustment to the conversion rate of
the shares of class B common stock to shares of class A common stock. See Note 3—U.S. and Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plans and Note
20—Legal Matters to our consolidated financial statements. The balance in this account at September 30, 2016 , was $1.0 billion and is reflected as
restricted cash in our consolidated balance sheet. As these funds are restricted for the sole purpose of making payments related to the U.S. covered
litigation matters, as described below under Uses of Liquidity , we do not rely on them for other operational needs.
Credit Ratings
At September 30, 2016 , our credit ratings by Standard and Poor’s and Moody’s were as follows:
Standard and Poor’s
Debt type

Moody’s

Rating

Outlook

Rating

Outlook

Short-term unsecured debt

A-1

Stable

P-1

Stable

Long-term unsecured debt

A+

Stable

A1

Stable

Various factors affect our credit ratings, including changes in our operating performance, the economic environment, conditions in the
electronic payment industry, our financial position and changes in our business strategy. We do not currently foresee any reasonable circumstances
under which our credit ratings would be significantly downgraded. If a downgrade were to occur, it could adversely impact, among other things, our
future borrowing costs and access to capital markets.
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Uses of Liquidity
Payments settlement. Payments settlement due from and to our financial institution clients can represent a substantial daily liquidity
requirement. Most U.S. dollar settlements are settled within the same day and do not result in a net receivable or payable balance, while settlements
in currencies other than the U.S. dollar generally remain outstanding for one to two business days, which is consistent with industry practice for such
transactions. In general, during fiscal 2016 , we were not required to fund settlement-related working capital. Our average daily net settlement
position was a net payable of $242 million.
Visa Europe acquisition. On June 21, 2016, we acquired 100% of the share capital of Visa Europe, a payments technology business. The
acquisition positions us to create additional value through increased scale, efficiencies realized by the integration of both businesses, and benefits
related to Visa Europe's transition from an association to a for-profit enterprise. We paid up-front cash consideration of €12.2 billion ($13.9 billion)
and issued preferred stock convertible upon certain conditions into approximately 79 million shares of class A common stock, equivalent to a value
of €5.3 billion ($6.1 billion) at the closing stock price of $77.33 on June 21, 2016. Also, in connection with the purchase, we will pay an additional
€1.0 billion, plus 4% compound annual interest, on the third anniversary of the Closing. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe to our consolidated
financial statements.
U.S. covered litigation. We are parties to legal and regulatory proceedings with respect to a variety of matters, including certain litigation that
we refer to as the U.S. covered litigation. As noted above, monetary liabilities from settlements of, or judgments in, the U.S. covered litigation are
payable from the U.S. litigation escrow account. During fiscal 2016 , we made $45 million in covered litigation payments that were funded from the
U.S. litigation escrow account, reflecting settlements with individual opt-out merchants in the interchange multidistrict litigation proceedings. At
September 30, 2016 , the U.S. litigation escrow account had an available balance of $1.0 billion . In June 2016, the approval of the 2012 Settlement
Agreement was reversed by the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit. Until the appeals process is complete, it is uncertain whether the
Company will be able to resolve the class plaintiffs' claims as contemplated by the Settlement Agreement. If the Settlement Agreement is terminated
and no further agreement is reached regarding funds previously paid from the litigation account into settlement funds pursuant to the Settlement
Agreement, we will have the right to approximately $3.0 billion, which would be returned to the U.S. litigation escrow account. This will increase our
taxable income, thereby increasing our taxes to be paid by approximately $1.1 billion. See Note 3—U.S. and Europe Retrospective Responsibility
Plans and Note 20—Legal Matters to our consolidated financial statements.
Other litigation. Judgments in and settlements of litigation, other than the U.S. covered litigation, could give rise to future liquidity needs.
Common stock repurchases. During fiscal 2016 , we repurchased 91 million shares of our class A common stock in the open market using
$7.0 billion of cash on hand. As of September 30, 2016 , we had remaining authorized funds of $5.8 billion . In October 2015 and July 2016, our
board of directors authorized share repurchase programs for $5.0 billion each. These authorizations have no expiration date. All share repurchase
programs authorized prior to October 2015 have been completed. See Note 14—Stockholders' Equity to our consolidated financial statements.
Dividends . During fiscal 2016 , we declared and paid $1.4 billion in dividends. In October 2016 , our board of directors declared a quarterly
dividend in the aggregate amount of $0.165 per share of class A common stock (determined in the case of class B and class C common stock and
U.K.&I and Europe preferred stock on an as-converted basis). We expect to pay approximately $400 million in connection with this dividend on
December 6, 2016 . See Note 14—Stockholders' Equity to our consolidated financial statements. We expect to continue paying quarterly dividends
in cash, subject to approval by the board of directors. All preferred and class B and C common stock will share ratably on an as-converted basis in
such future dividends.
Pension and other postretirement benefits. We sponsor various qualified and non-qualified defined benefit pension and other postretirement
benefit plans that provide for retirement and medical benefits for substantially all employees residing in the U.S. As a result of the acquisition of Visa
Europe, we assumed the obligations related to Visa Europe's defined benefit plan, primarily consisting of the U.K. pension plans. Our policy with
respect to our U.S. qualified pension plan is to contribute annually in September of each year, an amount not less than the minimum required under
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act. Our U.S. non-qualified pension and other postretirement benefit plans are funded on a current basis.
In relation to the Visa Europe U.K. pension plans, our funding policy is to contribute in accordance with the appropriate funding requirements agreed
with the trustees of our U.K. pension plans. Additional amounts may be agreed with the U.K. pension plan trustees. In fiscal 2016, 2015 and 2014,
we made contributions to our U.S. pension and other postretirement plans of $4 million , $19 million , and
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$14 million , respectively. For Visa Europe's U.K. pension plans, we made contributions of $102 million subsequent to the acquisition date as agreed
upon with the trustees to improve the funding level of the plans. In fiscal 2017 , given current projections and assumptions, we anticipate funding our
U.S. and Visa Europe's U.K. defined benefit pension plans by approximately $12 million and $6 million , respectively. The actual contribution amount
will vary depending upon the funded status of the pension plan, movements in the discount rate, performance of the plan assets and related tax
consequences. See Note 10—Pension, Postretirement and Other Benefits to our consolidated financial statements.
Capital expenditures. Our capital expenditures increased during fiscal 2016 , due to investments in technology, infrastructure and growth
initiatives. We expect to continue investing in technology assets and payments system infrastructure to support our digital solutions and core
business initiatives.
Fair Value Measurements—Financial Instruments
The assessment of fair value of our financial instruments is based on a fair value hierarchy that requires an entity to maximize the use of
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. Observable inputs are obtained from independent
sources and can be validated by a third party, whereas unobservable inputs reflect assumptions regarding what a third party would use in pricing an
asset or liability. As of September 30, 2016 , our financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis included approximately $12.0
billion of assets and $136 million of liabilities. None of these instruments were valued using significant unobservable inputs. See Note 4—Fair Value
Measurements and Investments to our consolidated financial statements.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Our off-balance sheet arrangements are primarily comprised of guarantees and indemnifications. Visa has no off-balance sheet debt, other
than lease and purchase order commitments, as discussed below and reflected in our contractual obligations table.
Indemnifications
We indemnify our financial institution clients for settlement losses suffered due to the failure of any other client to fund its settlement obligations
in accordance with our rules. The amount of the indemnification is limited to the amount of unsettled Visa payment transactions at any point in time.
We maintain global credit settlement risk policies and procedures to manage settlement risk, which may require clients to post collateral if certain
credit standards are not met. See Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Note 11—Settlement Guarantee Management to our
consolidated financial statements.
In the ordinary course of business, we enter into contractual arrangements with financial institutions and other clients and partners under which
we may agree to indemnify the client for certain types of losses incurred relating to the services we provide or otherwise relating to our performance
under the applicable agreement.
Contractual Obligations
Our contractual commitments will have an impact on our future liquidity. The contractual obligations identified in the table below include both
on- and off-balance sheet transactions that represent a material, expected or contractually committed future obligation as of September 30, 2016.
We believe that we will be able to fund these obligations through cash generated from our operations and available credit facilities.
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Payments Due by Period
Less than
1 Year

1-3
Years

3-5
Years

More than
5 Years

Total

(in millions)

$

Long-term debt (1)
Purchase orders (2)
Leases

(3)

Client incentives

(4)

Marketing and sponsorship (5)
Dividends

(6)

Deferred purchase consideration (7)
$

Total (8,9)
(1)

(2)

(3)
(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

489

$

2,696

$

3,903

$

16,501

$

23,589

962

164

49

—

1,175

126

185

118

190

619

5,544

6,745

4,721

4,791

21,801

126

248

148

33

555

400

—

—

—

400

—

1,266

—

—

1,266

7,647

$

11,304

$

8,939

$

21,515

$

49,405

In December 2015, we issued $16.0 billion of fixed-rate senior notes in conjunction with the acquisition of Visa Europe with maturities ranging
between 2 and 30 years. Interest on the Notes, at a rate ranging between 1.20% and 4.30%, is payable semi-annually on June 14 and December
14 of each year. Amounts presented include payments for both interest and principal. Also see Note 9—Debt to our consolidated financial
statements.
Represents agreements to purchase goods and services that specify significant terms, including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased,
minimum or variable price provisions, and the approximate timing of the transaction.
Includes operating leases for premises, equipment and software licenses, which range in terms from less than one year to nineteen years.
Represents future cash payments for long-term contracts with financial institution clients and other business partners for various programs
designed to build payments volume, increase Visa product acceptance and win merchant routing transactions over our network. These
agreements, which range in terms from one to sixteen years, can provide card issuance and/or conversion support, volume/growth targets and
marketing and program support based on specific performance requirements. Payments under these agreements will generally be offset by
revenues earned from higher corresponding payments and transaction volumes. These payment amounts are estimates and will change based
on client performance, amendments to existing contracts or execution of new contracts. Related amounts disclosed in Note 17—Commitments
and Contingencies to our consolidated financial statements represent the associated expected reduction of revenue related to these agreements
that we estimate we will record.
Visa is a party to contractual sponsorship agreements ranging from approximately three to sixteen years. These contracts are designed to
increase Visa brand recognition, drive Visa product usage, and differentiate Visa against competition. Over the life of these contracts, Visa is
required to make payments in exchange for certain advertising and promotional rights. In connection with these contractual commitments, Visa
has an obligation to spend certain minimum amounts for advertising and marketing promotion over the life of the contract. For obligations where
the individual years of spend are not specified in the contract, we have estimated the timing of when these amounts will be spent.
Includes expected dividend amount of $400 million as dividends were declared in October 2016 and will be paid on December 6, 2016 to all
holders of record of Visa's common stock as of November 18, 2016 .
On June 21, 2016, we acquired 100% of the share capital of Visa Europe. In connection with the purchase, we will pay an additional €1.0 billion,
plus 4% compound annual interest, on the third anniversary of the Closing. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe to our consolidated financial
statements.
We have liabilities for uncertain tax positions of $911 million . At September 30, 2016, we had also accrued $61 million of interest and $17 million
of penalties associated with our uncertain tax positions. We cannot determine the range of cash payments that will be made and the timing of the
cash settlements, if any, associated with our uncertain tax positions. Therefore, no amounts related to these obligations have been included in
the table.
We evaluate the need to make contributions to our pension plan after considering the funded status of the pension plan, movements in the
discount rate, performance of the plan assets and related tax consequences. Expected contributions to our pension plan have not been included
in the table as such amounts are dependent upon the considerations discussed above, and may result in a wide range of amounts. See Note 10
—Pension, Postretirement and Other Benefits to our consolidated financial statements and the Liquidity and Capital Resources s ection of this
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
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Critical Accounting Estimates
Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America which require us to make judgments, assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts reported. See Note 1—Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements. We have established policies and control procedures which seek to ensure that
estimates and assumptions are appropriately governed and applied consistently from period to period. However, actual results could differ from our
assumptions and estimates, and such differences could be material.
We believe that the following accounting estimates are the most critical to fully understand and evaluate our reported financial results, as they
require our most subjective or complex management judgments, resulting from the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are
inherently uncertain and unpredictable.
Revenue Recognition — Client Incentives
Critical estimates. We enter into incentive agreements with financial institution clients, merchants and other business partners for various
programs designed to build payments volume, increase Visa product acceptance and win merchant routing transactions over our network. These
incentives are primarily accounted for as reductions to operating revenues; however, if a separate identifiable benefit at fair value can be
established, they are accounted for as operating expenses. We generally capitalize advance incentive payments under these agreements if select
criteria are met. The capitalization criteria include the existence of future economic benefits to Visa, the existence of legally enforceable
recoverability language (e.g., early termination clauses), management's ability and intent to enforce the recoverability language and the ability to
generate future earnings from the agreement in excess of amounts deferred. Capitalized amounts are amortized over the shorter of the period of
contractual recoverability or the corresponding period of economic benefit. Incentives not yet paid are accrued systematically and rationally based on
management's estimate of each client's performance. These accruals are regularly reviewed and estimates of performance are adjusted as
appropriate, based on changes in performance expectations, actual client performance, amendments to existing contracts or the execution of new
contracts.
Assumptions and judgment. Estimation of client incentives relies on forecasts of payments volume, card issuance and card conversion.
Performance is estimated using customer-reported information, transactional information accumulated from our systems, historical information and
discussions with our clients, merchants and business partners.
Impact if actual results differ from assumptions. If actual performance or recoverable cash flows are not consistent with our estimates, client
incentives may be materially different than initially recorded. Increases in incentive payments are generally driven by increased payments and
transaction volume, which drive our net revenues. As a result, in the event incentive payments exceed estimates, such payments are not expected
to have a material effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. The cumulative impact of a revision in estimates is recorded
in the period such revisions become probable and estimable. For the year ended September 30, 2016 , client incentives represented 18% of gross
operating revenues.
Legal and Regulatory Matters
Critical estimates. We are currently involved in various legal proceedings, the outcomes of which are not within our complete control or may not
be known for prolonged periods of time. Management is required to assess the probability of loss and amount of such loss, if any, in preparing our
financial statements.
Assumptions and judgment. We evaluate the likelihood of a potential loss from legal or regulatory proceedings to which we are a party. We
record a liability for such claims when a loss is deemed probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Significant judgment may be
required in the determination of both probability and whether an exposure is reasonably estimable. Our judgments are subjective based on the
status of the legal or regulatory proceedings, the merits of our defenses and consultation with in-house and outside legal counsel. As additional
information becomes available, we reassess the potential liability related to pending claims and may revise our estimates.
Our U.S. retrospective responsibility plan only addresses monetary liabilities from settlements of, or final judgments in, the U.S. covered
litigation. The plan's mechanisms include the use of the U.S. litigation escrow account. The accrual related to the U.S. covered litigation could be
either higher or lower than the U.S. litigation escrow account balance. We did not record an accrual for the U.S. covered litigation during fiscal 2016.
Our Europe
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retrospective responsibility plan only covers Visa Europe territory covered litigation (and resultant liabilities and losses) relating to the covered
period, subject to certain limitations. See Note 3—U.S. and Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plans and Note 20—Legal Matters to our
consolidated financial statements.
Impact if actual results differ from assumptions. Due to the inherent uncertainties of the legal and regulatory processes in the multiple
jurisdictions in which we operate, our judgments may be materially different than the actual outcomes, which could have material adverse effects on
our business, financial conditions and results of operations. See Note 20—Legal Matters to our consolidated financial statements.
Income Taxes
Critical estimates. In calculating our effective income tax rate, we make judgments regarding certain tax positions, including the timing and
amount of deductions and allocations of income among various tax jurisdictions.
Assumptions and judgment. We have various tax filing positions with regard to the timing and amount of deductions and credits, the
establishment of liabilities for uncertain tax positions and the allocation of income among various tax jurisdictions. We are also required to inventory,
evaluate and measure all uncertain tax positions taken or to be taken on tax returns and to record liabilities for the amount of such positions that may
not be sustained, or may only be partially sustained, upon examination by the relevant taxing authorities.
Impact if actual results differ from assumptions. Although we believe that our estimates and judgments are reasonable, actual results may differ
from these estimates. Some or all of these judgments are subject to review by the taxing authorities. If one or more of the taxing authorities were to
successfully challenge our right to realize some or all of the tax benefit we have recorded, and we were unable to realize this benefit, it could have a
material adverse effect on our financial results and cash flows.
ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Market risk is the potential economic loss arising from adverse changes in market factors. Our exposure to financial market risks results
primarily from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices. Aggregate risk exposures are monitored on an
ongoing basis.
Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk
We are exposed to adverse fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. Risks from foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations are
primarily related to adverse changes in the functional currency value of revenues generated from foreign currency-denominated transactions and
adverse changes in the functional currency value of payments in foreign currencies. We manage these risks by entering into foreign currency
forward contracts that hedge exposures of the variability in the functional currency equivalent of anticipated non-functional currency denominated
cash flows. Our foreign currency exchange rate risk management program reduces, but does not entirely eliminate, the impact of foreign currency
exchange rate movements.
The aggregate notional amounts of our foreign currency forward contracts outstanding in our exchange rate risk management program,
including contracts not designated for cash flow hedge accounting, were $2.7 billion and $1.2 billion at September 30, 2016 and 2015 , respectively.
The aggregate notional amount outstanding at September 30, 2016 is fully consistent with our strategy and treasury policy aimed at reducing foreign
exchange risk below a predetermined and approved threshold. However, actual results could materially differ from our forecast. The effect of a
hypothetical 10% increase or decrease in the value of the functional currencies is estimated to create an additional fair value gain of approximately
$160 million or loss of approximately $190 million , respectively, on our foreign currency forward contracts outstanding at September 30, 2016 . See
Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Note 12—Derivative and Non-derivative Financial Instruments to our consolidated financial
statements.
On June 21, 2016, we acquired 100% of the share capital of Visa Europe. On the third anniversary of the Closing, we will pay additional
purchase consideration of € 1 billion , plus 4.0% compound annual interest. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe to our consolidated financial
statements. As such, we are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk with respect to fluctuations of the U.S. dollar against the euro. A
hypothetical 10% decline in the U.S. dollar against the euro, compared to the exchange rate at September 30, 2016, would increase the deferred
purchase consideration liability by $123 million , including interest.
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We are further exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk as the functional currency of Visa Europe is the euro. Translation from the euro
to the U.S. dollar is performed for balance sheet accounts using exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and for revenue and expense
accounts using an average exchange rate for the period. Resulting translation adjustments are reported as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income or loss on the consolidated balance sheets. A hypothetical 10% change in the euro against the U.S. dollar compared to the
exchange rate at September 30, 2016, could result in a foreign currency translation adjustment of $1.9 billion . In the third quarter, we designated
our euro-denominated deferred consideration liability as a net investment hedge against a portion of our net investment in Visa Europe. Changes in
the value of the deferred cash consideration liability, attributable to a change in exchange rates at the end of each reporting period, partially offset
the foreign currency translation of the Company's net investment recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income in the Company's
consolidated balance sheet. See Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Note 12—Derivative and Non-derivative Financial
Instruments to our consolidated financial statements.
We are also subject to foreign currency exchange risk in daily settlement activities. This risk arises from the timing of rate setting for settlement
with clients relative to the timing of market trades for balancing currency positions. Risk in settlement activities is limited through daily operating
procedures, including the utilization of Visa settlement systems and our interaction with foreign exchange trading counterparties.
Interest Rate Risk
Our investment portfolio assets are held in both fixed-rate and adjustable-rate securities. These assets are included in cash equivalents and
short-term or long-term available-for-sale investments. Investments in fixed-rate instruments carry a degree of interest rate risk. The fair value of
fixed-rate securities may be adversely impacted due to a rise in interest rates. Additionally, a falling-rate environment creates reinvestment risk
because as securities mature, the proceeds are reinvested at a lower rate, generating less interest income. Historically, we have been able to hold
investments until maturity. Neither our operating results or cash flows have been, nor are they expected to be, materially impacted by a sudden
change in market interest rates.
The fair value balances of our fixed-rate investment securities at September 30, 2016 and 2015 were $5.1 billion and $4.4 billion , respectively.
A hypothetical 100 basis point increase or decrease in interest rates would create an estimated change in fair value of approximately $49 million on
our fixed-rate investment securities at September 30, 2016 . The fair value balances of our adjustable-rate debt securities were $2.2 billion and $1.7
billion at September 30, 2016 and 2015 , respectively.
Pension Plan Risk
At September 30, 2016 and 2015 , our U.S. defined benefit pension plan assets were $1.1 billion and $1.0 billion , respectively, and projected
benefit obligations were $1.1 billion and $1.0 billion , respectively. A material adverse decline in the value of pension plan assets and/or the discount
rate for benefit obligations would result in a decrease in the funded status of the pension plan, an increase in pension cost and an increase in
required funding. A hypothetical 10% decrease in the value of pension plan assets and a 1% decrease in the discount rate would result in an
aggregate decrease of approximately $254 million in the funded status and an increase of approximately $40 million in pension cost.
At September 30, 2016 , our non-U.S. defined benefit pension plan assets were $415 million and projected benefit obligations were $474
million . A material adverse decline in the value of pension plan assets and/or the discount rate for benefit obligations would result in a decrease in
the funded status of the pension plan, an increase in pension cost and an increase in required funding. A hypothetical 10% decrease in the value of
pension plan assets and a 1% decrease in the discount rate would result in an aggregate decrease of approximately $127 million in the funded
status and an increase of approximately $9 million in pension cost.
We will continue to monitor the performance of pension plan assets and market conditions as we evaluate the amount of our contribution to the
pension plan for fiscal 2017 , if any, which would be made in September 2017.
49

Table of Contents

ITEM 8.

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
VISA INC.
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Page

As of September 30, 2016 and 2015 and for the years ended September 30, 2016, 2015 and 2014
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

51

Consolidated Balance Sheets

52

Consolidated Statements of Operations

54

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

56

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

57

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

60

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

62

50

Table of Contents
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Visa Inc.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Visa Inc. and subsidiaries as of September 30, 2016 and 2015 , and the
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended September 30, 2016 . We also have audited Visa Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2016 , based on
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Visa Inc.’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the consolidated
financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of
internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our
audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Visa Inc.
and subsidiaries as of September 30, 2016 and 2015 , and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended September 30, 2016 , in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, Visa Inc. maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2016 , based on criteria established in Internal Control –
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
Visa Inc. acquired Visa Europe during 2016, and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of Visa Inc.’s internal control
over financial reporting as of September 30, 2016, Visa Europe's internal control over financial reporting associated with 7% of total assets and 4%
of net operating revenue included in the consolidated financial statements of Visa Inc. and subsidiaries as of and for the year ended September 30,
2016. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of Visa Inc. also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of
Visa Europe.
/s/ KPMG LLP
Santa Clara, California
November 15, 2016
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VISA INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015

(in millions, except par value data)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Restricted cash—U.S. litigation escrow (Note 3)

5,619

$

1,027

3,518
1,072

Investment securities (Note 4):
Trading

71

66

Available-for-sale

3,248

2,431

Settlement receivable

1,467

408

Accounts receivable

1,041

847

Customer collateral (Note 11)

1,001

1,023

Current portion of client incentives

284

303

Prepaid expenses and other current assets (Note 5)

555

353

14,313

10,021

3,931

3,384

448

110

2,150

1,888

Total current assets
Investment securities, available-for-sale (Note 4)
Client incentives
Property, equipment and technology, net (Note 6)
Other assets (Note 5)
Intangible assets, net (Note 7)
Goodwill

893

778

27,234

11,361

15,066

Total assets

$

11,825

64,035

$

39,367

203

$

127

Liabilities
Accounts payable

$

Settlement payable

2,084

780

Customer collateral (Note 11)

1,001

1,023

Accrued compensation and benefits

673

503

Client incentives

1,976

1,049

Accrued liabilities (Note 8)

1,128

849

981

1,024

8,046

5,355

Accrued litigation (Note 20)
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt (Note 9)

15,882

—

Deferred tax liabilities (Note 19)

4,808

3,273

Deferred purchase consideration (Note 2)

1,225

—

Other liabilities (Note 8)

1,162

897

Total liabilities

31,123

9,525

Commitments and contingencies (Note 17)

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VISA INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS—(Continued)
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015

(in millions, except par value data)

Equity
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 25 shares authorized and 5 issued and outstanding as follows:
Series A convertible participating preferred stock, none issued (Note 2 and Note 14)

$

—

$

—

Series B convertible participating preferred stock, 2 shares issued and outstanding at September
30, 2016 (Note 2 and Note 14)

2,516

—

Series C convertible participating preferred stock, 3 shares issued and outstanding at September
30, 2016 (Note 2 and Note 14)

3,201

—

Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value, 2,001,622 shares authorized, 1,871 and 1,950 shares
issued and outstanding at September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively (Note 14)

—

—

Class B common stock, $0.0001 par value, 622 shares authorized, 245 shares issued and outstanding
at September 30, 2016 and 2015 (Note 14)

—

—

Class C common stock, $0.0001 par value, 1,097 shares authorized, 17 and 20 shares issued and
outstanding at September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively (Note 14)

—

—

Treasury stock (Note 2 and Note 14)

(170)

Right to recover for covered losses (Note 3)

—

(34)

—

Additional paid-in capital

17,395

18,073

Accumulated income

10,462

11,843

36

5

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net:
Investment securities, available-for-sale
Defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans
Derivative instruments classified as cash flow hedges

(225)

(161)

(50)

83

Foreign currency translation adjustments

(219)

(1)

Total accumulated other comprehensive loss, net

(458)

(74)

Total equity

32,912

Total liabilities and equity

$

64,035

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VISA INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Years Ended
September 30,
2016 (1)

2015

2014

(in millions, except per share data)

Operating Revenues
Service revenues

$

6,747

$

6,302

$

5,797

Data processing revenues

6,272

5,552

5,167

International transaction revenues

4,649

4,064

3,560

823

823

770

Other revenues
Client incentives

(3,409)

(2,861)

(2,592)

15,082

13,880

12,702

Personnel

2,226

2,079

1,875

Marketing

869

872

900

Network and processing

538

474

507

Professional fees

389

336

328

Depreciation and amortization

502

494

435

General and administrative

796

547

507

2

14

453

Net operating revenues
Operating Expenses

Litigation provision (Note 20)
Visa Europe Framework Agreement loss (Note 2)
Total operating expenses
Operating income

1,877

—

—

7,199

4,816

5,005

7,883

9,064

7,697

Non-operating Income (Expense)
Interest expense
Other (Note 4 and Note 12)
Non-operating income (expense)

(427)

(3)

(8)

556

(66)

35

129

(69)

27

Income before income taxes

8,012

8,995

7,724

Income tax provision (Note 19)

2,021

2,667

2,286

Net income
(1)

$

5,991

$

6,328

$

5,438

The Company did not include Visa Europe's financial results in the Company's consolidated statements of operations from the acquisition date, June 21,
2016, through June 30, 2016 as the impact was immaterial. The Company's consolidated statement of operations for the year ended September 30, 2016
includes Visa Europe's financial results for the three months ended September 30, 2016. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe .

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VISA INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS—(Continued)
For the Years Ended
September 30,
2016 (1)

2015

2014

(in millions, except per share data)

Basic earnings per share (Note 15)
Class A common stock

$

2.49

$

2.58

$

2.16

Class B common stock

$

4.10

$

4.26

$

3.63

Class C common stock

$

9.94

$

10.33

$

8.65

Basic weighted-average shares outstanding (Note 15)
Class A common stock

1,906

1,954

1,993

Class B common stock

245

245

245

Class C common stock

19

22

26

Diluted earnings per share (Note 15)
Class A common stock

$

2.48

$

2.58

$

2.16

Class B common stock

$

4.09

$

4.25

$

3.62

Class C common stock

$

9.93

$

10.30

$

8.62

Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding (Note 15)

(1)

Class A common stock

2,414

2,457

2,523

Class B common stock

245

245

245

Class C common stock

19

22

26

The Company did not include Visa Europe's financial results in the Company's consolidated statements of operations from the acquisition date, June 21,
2016, through June 30, 2016 as the impact was immaterial. The Company's consolidated statement of operations for the year ended September 30, 2016
includes Visa Europe's financial results for the three months ended September 30, 2016. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe .

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VISA INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Years Ended
September 30,
2016

2015

2014

(in millions)

Net income

$

5,991

$

6,328

$

5,438

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:
Investment securities, available-for-sale:
Net unrealized gain (loss)
Income tax effect
Reclassification adjustment for net gain realized in net income
Income tax effect

51

(21)

(44)

(18)

8

17

(3)

(21)

(1)

1

8

—

Defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans:
Net unrealized actuarial gain (loss) and prior service credit

(106)

(122)

(27)

Income tax effect

36

45

8

Amortization of actuarial loss (gain) and prior service credit realized in net income

10

(1)

(8)

Income tax effect

(4)

1

3

(74)

172

65

9

(51)

(13)

(103)

(102)

(46)

35

26

9

(218)

1

(1)

Derivative instruments classified as cash flow hedges:
Net unrealized (loss) gain
Income tax effect
Reclassification adjustment for net gain realized in net income
Income tax effect
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax

(384)

Comprehensive income

$

5,607

(57)
$

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VISA INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Common Stock
Class A

Class B

2,031

245

Class C

Additional
Paid-In Capital

Accumulated
Income

Total
Equity

(in millions, except per share data)
Balance as of September 30, 2013

27

$

18,875

$

Net income

7,974

$

21

$

5,438

5,438

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax

(38)

(38)

Comprehensive income

5,400

Conversion of class C common stock upon sale into
public market
Issuance and vesting of restricted stock and
performance-based shares

19

(5)

—

4

Share-based compensation, net of forfeitures (Note 16)

(1)

Restricted stock and performance-based shares settled
in cash for taxes

(1)

—
(1)

Excess tax benefit for share-based compensation
Cash proceeds from issuance of common stock under
employee equity plans
Cash dividends declared and paid, at a quarterly
amount of $0.10 per as-converted share
Repurchase of class A common stock
Balance as of September 30, 2014
(1)

26,870

5

172

172

(86)

(86)

90

90

91

91
(1,006)

(79)
1,978

(843)
245

22

$

18,299

(1,006)

(3,275)
$

9,131

(4,118)
$

Decrease in Class A common stock related to forfeitures of restricted stock awards.

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VISA INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY—(Continued)
Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

Common Stock
Class A

Class B

1,978

245

Class C

Additional
Paid-In Capital

Accumulated
Income

Total
Equity

(in millions, except per share data)
Balance as of September 30, 2014

22

$

18,299

$

Net income

9,131

$

(17)

$

6,328

6,328

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax

(57)

(57)

Comprehensive income

6,271

Conversion of class C common stock upon sale into
public market
Issuance and vesting of restricted stock and
performance-based shares

11

(2)

—

4

Share-based compensation, net of forfeitures (Note 16)

(1)

Restricted stock and performance-based shares settled
in cash for taxes

(1)

—
(1)

Excess tax benefit for share-based compensation
Cash proceeds from issuance of common stock under
employee equity plans
Cash dividends declared and paid, at a quarterly
amount of $0.12 per as-converted share
Repurchase of class A common stock (Note 14)
Balance as of September 30, 2015
(1)

27,413

3

(44)
1,950

187

187

(108)

(108)

84

84

82

82

(471)
245

20

$

18,073

$

(1,177)

(1,177)

(2,439)

(2,910)

11,843

$

Decrease in Class A common stock related to forfeitures of restricted stock awards.

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VISA INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY—(Continued)
Preferred Stock

Common Stock

(1)

Series
B

Series
C

Class A

Class B

Class C

Preferred
Stock

Treasury
Stock

Right to
Recover
for
Covered
Losses

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Income

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

$

$

Total
Equity

(in millions, except per share data)
Balance as of
September 30,
2015

—

—

1,950

245

20

$

—

$

—

$

—

$ 18,073

Net income
Other
comprehensive
loss, net of tax
Comprehensive
income
Issuance of
preferred stock
(Note 2 and Note
14)
VE territory
covered losses
incurred (Note 3)
Class C common
stock held by Visa
Europe, a whollyowned subsidiary
of Visa Inc. (Note
2 and Note 14)
Conversion of class
C common stock
upon sale into
public market
Issuance and
vesting of
restricted stock
and performancebased shares
Share-based
compensation, net
of forfeitures
(Note 16)
Restricted stock
and performancebased shares
settled in cash for
taxes
Excess tax benefit
for share-based
compensation
Cash proceeds
from issuance of
common stock
under employee
equity plans
Cash dividends
declared and paid,
at a quarterly
amount of $0.14
per as-converted
share (Note 14)
Repurchase of
class A common
stock (Note 14)
Balance as of
September 30,
2016
(1)
(2)

11,843

(74)

5,991

$ 29,842
5,991

(384)

(384)
5,607

2

3

5,717

5,717

(34)

(1)

8

(34)

(170)

(170)

(2)

—

2

—

—

(2)

(1)

3

(91)

2

3

1,871

221

221

(92)

(92)

63

63

95

95

(965)

245

17

$

5,717

$

(170)

$

(34)

$ 17,395

$

(1,350)

(1,350)

(6,022)

(6,987)

10,462

Series B and C preferred stock are alternatively referred to as U.K.&I and Europe preferred stock, respectively.
Decrease in Class A common stock related to forfeitures of restricted stock awards is less than 1 million shares.

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VISA INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended
September 30,
2016

2015

2014

(in millions)

Operating Activities
Net income

$

5,991

$

6,328

$

5,438

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Client incentives

3,409

Fair value adjustment for the Visa Europe put option
Share-based compensation

2,861

2,592

(255)

110

—

221

187

172

Excess tax benefit for share-based compensation

(63)

(84)

(90)

Depreciation and amortization of property, equipment, technology and intangible assets

502

494

435

(764)

195

(580)

Deferred income taxes
Right to recover for covered losses recorded in equity
Litigation provision (Note 20)
Other

(9)

—

—

4

14

453

64

24

37

391

378

13

Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Settlement receivable
Accounts receivable
Client incentives
Other assets
Accounts payable
Settlement payable

(65)

(19)

(53)

(3,508)

(2,970)

(2,395)

(315)

(41)

(379)

43

(13)

(56)

(302)

(552)

107
513

Accrued and other liabilities

277

118

Accrued litigation (Note 20)

(47)

(446)

Net cash provided by operating activities

5,574

6,584

998
7,205

Investing Activities
Purchases of property, equipment, technology and intangible assets

(523)

Proceeds from sales of property, equipment and technolog y

—

(414)
10

(553)
—

Investment securities, available-for-sale:
Purchases
Proceeds from maturities and sales
Acquisitions, net of $2.8 billion cash received from Visa Europe (Note 2)
Purchases of / contributions to other investments
Proceeds / distributions from other investments
Net cash used in investing activities

(28,004)

(2,850)

(2,572)

26,697

1,925

2,342

(9,082)

(93)

(10)

(25)

(9)

6

12

—

(10,916)

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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September 30,
2016

2015

2014

(in millions)

Financing Activities
Repurchase of class A common stock (Note 14)

$

Treasury stock—class C common stock (Note 2)

(6,987)

$

(170)

Dividends paid (Note 14)

(1,350)

Proceeds from issuance of senior notes (Note 9)

15,971

Debt issuance costs (Note 9)

(2,910)

$

—

(4,118)
—

(1,177)

(1,006)

—

—

(98)

—

Deposit into U.S. litigation escrow account—U.S. retrospective responsibility plan (Note 3 and Note 20)

—

—

(450)

Payments from (return to) U.S. litigation escrow account—U.S. retrospective responsibility plan (Note 3 and
Note 20)

45

426

(999)

Cash proceeds from issuance of common stock under employee equity plans

—

95

82

91

(92)

(108)

(86)

Excess tax benefit for share-based compensation

63

84

90

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

7,477

Restricted stock and performance-based shares settled in cash for taxes

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

(3,603)

(34)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

2,101

1,547

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

3,518

1,971

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

(6,478)

1

(1)
(215)
2,186

$

5,619

$

3,518

$

1,971

Series B and C convertible participating preferred stock issued in Visa Europe acquisition (Note 2)

$

5,717

$

—

$

—

Deferred purchase consideration recorded for Visa Europe acquisition (Note 2)

$

1,236

$

—

$

—

Income taxes paid, net of refunds

$

2,842

$

2,486

$

2,656

Interest payments on debt

$

244

$

—

$

—

Accruals related to purchases of property, equipment, technology and intangible assets

$

42

$

81

$

62

Right to recover for covered losses related to Visa Europe acquisition (Note 2)

$

34

$

—

$

—

Supplemental Disclosure

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Organization . In a series of transactions from October 1 to October 3, 2007, Visa Inc. (Visa or the Company) undertook a reorganization in
which Visa U.S.A. Inc. (Visa U.S.A.), Visa International Service Association (Visa International), Visa Canada Corporation (Visa Canada) and
Inovant LLC (Inovant) became direct or indirect subsidiaries of Visa and established the U.S. retrospective responsibility plan (the October 2007
reorganization or reorganization). See Note 3—U.S. and Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plans . The reorganization was reflected as a single
transaction on October 1, 2007 using the purchase method of accounting with Visa U.S.A. as the accounting acquirer. Visa Europe Limited (Visa
Europe) did not become a subsidiary of Visa Inc., but rather remained owned and governed by its European member financial institutions. On June
21, 2016, the Company acquired 100% of the share capital of Visa Europe. The Company's consolidated statements of operations do not reflect the
financial results of Visa Europe for the 10 days from the acquisition date through June 30, 2016 as the impact was immaterial. See Note 2—
Acquisition of Visa Europe .
Visa is a global payments technology company that connects consumers, merchants, financial institutions, businesses, strategic partners and
governments in more than 200 countries and territories to fast, secure and reliable electronic payments. Visa and its wholly-owned consolidated
subsidiaries, including Visa U.S.A., Visa International, Visa Worldwide Pte. Limited (VWPL), Visa Europe Limited (Visa Europe), Visa Canada,
Inovant and CyberSource Corporation (CyberSource), operate one of the world's largest retail electronic payments network — VisaNet — which
facilitates authorization, clearing and settlement of payment transactions and enables us to provide our financial institution and merchant clients a
wide range of products, platforms and value-added services. VisaNet also offers fraud protection for account holders and assured payment for
merchants. Visa is not a bank and does not issue cards, extend credit or set rates and fees for account holders on Visa products. In most cases,
account holder and merchant relationships belong to, and are managed by, Visa's financial institution clients.
Consolidation and basis of presentation . The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Visa and its consolidated entities and
are presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The Company
consolidates its majority-owned and controlled entities, including variable interest entities (“VIEs”) for which the Company is the primary beneficiary.
The Company's investments in VIEs have not been material to its consolidated financial statements as of and for the periods presented. All
significant intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.
On March 18, 2015, the Company completed a four -for-one split of its class A common stock effected in the form of a stock dividend. All per
share amounts and number of shares outstanding in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are presented on a post-split
basis. See Note 14—Stockholders' Equity .
The Company's activities are interrelated, and each activity is dependent upon and supportive of the other. All significant operating decisions
are based on analysis of Visa as a single global business. Accordingly, the Company has one reportable segment, Payment Services.
Use of estimates . The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions about future events. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Future actual results could differ materially from these estimates. The use of estimates in specific accounting policies is described
further below as appropriate.
Cash and cash equivalents . Cash and cash equivalents include cash and certain highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or
less from the date of purchase. Cash equivalents are primarily recorded at cost, which approximates fair value due to their generally short maturities.
Restricted cash—U.S. litigation escrow . The Company maintains an escrow account from which monetary liabilities from settlements of, or
judgments in, the U.S. covered litigation are paid. See Note 3—U.S. and Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plans and Note 20—Legal Matters for
a discussion of the U.S. covered litigation. The escrow funds are held in money market investments, together with the interest earned, less
applicable taxes
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payable, and classified as restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheets. Interest earned on escrow funds is included in non-operating income
on the consolidated statements of operations.
Investments and fair value. The Company measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value measurements
are reported under a three-level valuation hierarchy. See Note 4—Fair Value Measurements and Investments . The classification of the Company’s
financial assets and liabilities within the hierarchy is as follows:
Level 1 —Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. The Company’s
Level 1 assets include money market funds, publicly-traded equity securities and U.S. Treasury securities.
Level 2 —Inputs to the valuation methodology can include: (1) quoted prices in active markets for similar (not identical) assets or liabilities;
(2) quoted prices for identical or similar assets in non-active markets; (3) inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability;
or (4) inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data. The Company's Level 2 assets and liabilities include
commercial paper, U.S. government-sponsored debt securities, corporate debt securities and foreign exchange derivative instruments.
Level 3 —Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and cannot be corroborated by observable market data. The Company's Level
3 assets and liabilities included auction rate securities and the Visa Europe put option at September 30, 2015.
Trading investment securities include mutual fund equity security investments related to various employee compensation and benefit plans.
Trading activity in these investments is at the direction of the Company's employees. These investments are held in a trust and are not available for
the Company's operational or liquidity needs. Interest and dividend income and changes in fair value are recorded in non-operating income, and
offset in personnel expense on the consolidated statements of operations.
Available-for-sale investment securities include investments in debt and equity securities. These securities are recorded at cost at the time of
purchase and are carried at fair value. The Company considers these securities to be available-for-sale to meet working capital and liquidity needs.
Investments with original maturities of greater than 90 days and stated maturities of less than one year from the balance sheet date, or investments
that the Company intends to sell within one year, are classified as current assets, while all other securities are classified as non-current assets.
These investments are generally available to meet short-term liquidity needs. Unrealized gains and losses are reported in accumulated other
comprehensive income or loss on the consolidated balance sheets until realized. The specific identification method is used to calculate realized gain
or loss on the sale of marketable securities, which is recorded in non-operating income on the consolidated statements of operations. Dividend and
interest income are recognized when earned and are included in non-operating income on the consolidated statements of operations.
The Company evaluates its debt and equity securities for other-than-temporary impairment, or OTTI, on an ongoing basis. When there has
been a decline in fair value of a debt or equity security below the amortized cost basis, the Company recognizes OTTI if: (1) it has the intent to sell
the security; (2) it is more likely than not that it will be required to sell the security before recovery of the amortized cost basis; or (3) it does not
expect to recover the entire amortized cost basis of the security.
The Company applies the equity method of accounting for investments in other entities when it holds between 20% and 50% ownership in the
entity or when it exercises significant influence. Under the equity method, the Company’s share of each entity’s profit or loss is reflected in nonoperating income on the consolidated statements of operations. The equity method of accounting is also used for flow-through entities such as
limited partnerships and limited liability companies when the investment ownership percentage is equal to or greater than 5% of outstanding
ownership interests, regardless of whether the Company has significant influence over the investees.
The Company applies the cost method of accounting for investments in other entities when it holds less than 20% ownership in the entity and
does not exercise significant influence, or for flow-through entities when the investment ownership is less than 5% and the Company does not
exercise significant influence. These investments
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consist of equity holdings in non-public companies and are recorded in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets.
The Company regularly reviews investments accounted for under the cost and equity methods for possible impairment, which generally
involves an analysis of the facts and changes in circumstances influencing the investment, expectations of the entity’s cash flows and capital needs,
and the viability of its business model.
Financial instruments . The Company considers the following to be financial instruments: cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash-U.S.
litigation escrow, trading and available-for-sale investment securities, settlement receivable and payable, customer collateral, non-marketable equity
investments, settlement risk guarantee, and derivative instruments. See Note 4—Fair Value Measurements and Investments .
Settlement receivable and payable . The Company operates systems for authorizing, clearing and settling payment transactions worldwide.
Most U.S. dollar settlements with the Company's financial institution clients are settled within the same day and do not result in a receivable or
payable balance, while settlements in currencies other than the U.S. dollar generally remain outstanding for one to two business days, resulting in
amounts due from and to clients.These amounts are presented as settlement receivable and settlement payable on the consolidated balance
sheets.
Customer collateral . The Company holds cash deposits and other non-cash assets from certain clients in order to ensure their performance of
settlement obligations arising from Visa payment products are processed in accordance with the Company's rules. The cash collateral assets are
restricted and fully offset by corresponding liabilities and both balances are presented on the consolidated balance sheets, excluding cash collateral
held by Visa Europe as its clients retain beneficial ownership and the cash is only accessible to the Company in the event of default by the client on
its settled obligations. Non-cash collateral assets are held on behalf of the Company by a third party and are not recorded on the consolidated
balance sheets. See Note 11—Settlement Guarantee Management .
Property, equipment and technology, net . Property, equipment and technology are recorded at historical cost less accumulated depreciation
and amortization, which are computed on a straight-line basis over the asset’s estimated useful life. Depreciation and amortization of technology,
furniture, fixtures and equipment are computed over estimated useful lives ranging from 2 to 10 years. Capital leases are amortized over the lease
term and leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or lease term. Building improvements are depreciated
between 3 and 40 years, and buildings are depreciated over 40 years. Improvements that increase functionality of the asset are capitalized and
depreciated over the asset’s remaining useful life. Land and construction-in-progress are not depreciated. Fully depreciated assets are retained in
property, equipment and technology, net, until removed from service.
Technology includes purchased and internally developed software, including technology assets obtained through acquisitions. Internally
developed software represents software primarily used by the VisaNet electronic payments network. Internal and external costs incurred during the
preliminary project stage are expensed as incurred. Qualifying costs incurred during the application development stage are capitalized. Once the
project is substantially complete and ready for its intended use these costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the technology's estimated
useful life. Acquired technology assets are initially recorded at fair value and amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life.
The Company evaluates the recoverability of long-lived assets for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or asset group may not be recoverable. If the sum of expected undiscounted net future
cash flows is less than the carrying amount of an asset or asset group, an impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset or asset group exceeds its fair value. See Note 6—Property, Equipment and Technology, Net .
Leases . The Company enters into operating and capital leases for the use of premises, software and equipment. Rent expense related to
operating lease agreements, which may or may not contain lease incentives, is primarily recorded on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Intangible assets, net . The Company records identifiable intangible assets at fair value on the date of acquisition and evaluates the useful life
of each asset.
Finite-lived intangible assets primarily consist of customer relationships, reacquired rights, reseller relationships and trade names obtained
through acquisitions. Finite-lived intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis and are tested for recoverability if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. These intangibles have useful lives ranging from 3 to 15 years. No
events or changes in circumstances indicate that impairment existed as of September 30, 2016 . See Note 7—Intangible Assets and Goodwill .
Indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of trade name, customer relationships and reacquired rights. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives are not amortized but are evaluated for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that impairment
may exist. The Company first assesses qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform a quantitative impairment test for
indefinite-lived intangible assets. The Company assesses each category of indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment on an aggregate basis,
which may require the allocation of cash flows and/or an estimate of fair value to the assets or asset group. Impairment exists if the fair value of the
indefinite-lived intangible asset is less than the carrying value. The Company relies on a number of factors when completing impairment
assessments, including a review of discounted net future cash flows, business plans and the use of present value techniques.
The Company completed its annual impairment review of indefinite-lived intangible assets as of February 1, 2016 , and concluded there was no
impairment as of that date. No recent events or changes in circumstances indicate that impairment of the Company's indefinite-lived intangible
assets existed as of September 30, 2016 .
Goodwill . Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired in a business combination.
Goodwill is not amortized but is evaluated for impairment at the reporting unit level annually as of February 1, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that impairment may exist.
The Company evaluated its goodwill for impairment on February 1, 2016 , and concluded there was no impairment as of that date. No recent
events or changes in circumstances indicate that impairment existed as of September 30, 2016 .
Accrued litigation . The Company evaluates the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome in legal or regulatory proceedings to which it is a party
and records a loss contingency when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. These
judgments are subjective, based on the status of such legal or regulatory proceedings, the merits of the Company's defenses and consultation with
corporate and external legal counsel. Actual outcomes of these legal and regulatory proceedings may differ materially from the Company's
estimates. The Company expenses legal costs as incurred in professional fees in the consolidated statements of operations. See Note 20—Legal
Matters .
Revenue recognition . The Company's operating revenues are comprised principally of service revenues, data processing revenues,
international transaction revenues and other revenues, reduced by costs incurred under client incentives arrangements. The Company recognizes
revenue, net of sales and other similar taxes, when the price is fixed or determinable, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the service is
performed and collectability of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured.
Service revenues consist of revenues earned for services provided in support of client usage of Visa products. Current quarter service
revenues are primarily assessed using a calculation of current pricing applied to the prior quarter's payments volume. The Company also earns
revenues from assessments designed to support ongoing acceptance and volume growth initiatives, which are recognized in the same period the
related volume is transacted.
Data processing revenues consist of revenues earned for authorization, clearing, settlement, network access and other maintenance and
support services that facilitate transaction and information processing among the Company's clients globally. Data processing revenues are
recognized in the same period the related transactions occur or services are rendered.
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International transaction revenues are earned for cross-border transaction processing and currency conversion activities. Cross-border
transactions arise when the country of origin of the issuer is different from that of the merchant. International transaction revenues are primarily
generated by cross-border payments and cash volume.
Other revenues consist mainly of license fees for use of the Visa brand, revenues earned from Visa Europe in connection with the Visa Europe
Framework Agreement (see Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe ) prior to the acquisition of Visa Europe, fees for account holder services, licensing
and certification and other activities related to the Company's acquired entities. Other revenues also include optional service or product
enhancements, such as extended account holder protection and concierge services. Other revenues are recognized in the same period the related
transactions occur or services are rendered.
Client incentives. The Company enters into long-term contracts with financial institution clients, merchants and strategic partners for various
programs designed to build payments volume, increase Visa product acceptance, win merchant routing transactions over Visa's network and drive
innovation. These incentives are primarily accounted for as reductions to operating revenues or as operating expenses if a separate identifiable
benefit at fair value can be established. The Company generally capitalizes advance incentive payments under these agreements if select criteria
are met. The capitalization criteria include the existence of future economic benefits to Visa, the existence of legally enforceable recoverability
language (e.g., early termination clauses), management's ability and intent to enforce the recoverability language and the ability to generate future
earnings from the agreement in excess of amounts deferred. Capitalized amounts are amortized over the shorter of the period of contractual
recoverability or the corresponding period of economic benefit. Incentives not yet paid are accrued systematically and rationally based on
management's estimate of each client's performance. These accruals are regularly reviewed and estimates of performance are adjusted, as
appropriate, based on changes in performance expectations, actual client performance, amendments to existing contracts or the execution of new
contracts. See Note 17—Commitments and Contingencies .
Marketing. The Company expenses costs for the production of advertising as incurred. The cost of media advertising is expensed when the
advertising takes place. Sponsorship costs are recognized over the period in which the Company benefits from the sponsorship rights. Promotional
items are expensed as incurred, when the related services are received, or when the related event occurs.
Income taxes . The Company's income tax expense consists of two components: current and deferred. Current income tax expense represents
taxes paid or payable for the current period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized to reflect the future tax consequences attributable to
temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the respective tax basis of existing assets and liabilities, and operating
loss and credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. In assessing whether deferred tax assets are realizable,
management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. A valuation allowance
is recorded for the portions that are not expected to be realized based on the level of historical taxable income, projections of future taxable income
over the periods in which the temporary differences are deductible, and qualifying tax planning strategies.
Where interpretation of the tax law may be uncertain, the Company recognizes, measures and discloses income tax uncertainties. The
Company accounts for interest expense and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as non-operating expense in the consolidated statements of
operations. The Company files a consolidated federal income tax return and, in certain states, combined state tax returns. The Company elects to
claim foreign tax credits in any given year if such election is beneficial to the Company. See Note 19—Income Taxes .
Pension and other postretirement benefit plans . The Company’s defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans are actuarially
evaluated, incorporating various critical assumptions including the discount rate and the expected rate of return on plan assets (for qualified pension
plans). The discount rate is based on a cash flow matching analysis, with the projected benefit payments matching spot rates from a yield curve
developed from high-quality corporate bonds. The expected rate of return on pension plan assets considers the current and expected asset
allocation, as well as historical and expected returns on each plan asset class. Any
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difference between actual and expected plan experience, including asset return experience, in excess of a 10% corridor is recognized in net periodic
pension cost over the expected average employee future service period, which is approximately 9 years for the U.S. plans and 12 years for the Visa
Europe U.K. pension plan. Other assumptions involve demographic factors such as retirement age, mortality, attrition and the rate of compensation
increases. The Company evaluates assumptions annually and modifies them as appropriate.
The Company recognizes the funded status of its benefit plans in its consolidated balance sheets as other assets, accrued liabilities and other
liabilities. The Company recognizes settlement losses when it settles pension benefit obligations, including making lump-sum cash payments to plan
participants in exchange for their rights to receive specified pension benefits, when certain thresholds are met. See Note 10—Pension,
Postretirement and Other Benefits .
Foreign currency remeasurement and translation . The Company's functional currency is the U.S. dollar for the majority of its foreign operations
except for Visa Europe whose functional currency is the euro. Transactions denominated in currencies other than the applicable functional currency
are converted to the functional currency at the exchange rate on the transaction date. At period end, monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured
to the functional currency using exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured at historical
exchange rates. Resulting foreign currency transaction gains and losses related to conversion and remeasurement are recorded in general and
administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations and were not material for fiscal 2016, 2015 and 2014.
Where a non-U.S. currency is the functional currency, translation from that functional currency to the U.S. dollar is performed for balance sheet
accounts using exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and for revenue and expense accounts using an average exchange rate for the
period. Resulting translation adjustments are reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income or loss on the consolidated
balance sheets.
Derivative financial instruments . The Company uses foreign exchange forward derivative contracts to reduce its exposure to foreign currency
rate changes on forecasted non-functional currency denominated operational cash flows. Derivatives are carried at fair value on a gross basis in
either prepaid and other current assets or accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. At September 30, 2016, derivatives outstanding
mature within 18 months or less. Gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value of designated derivative instruments are accounted for either
in accumulated other comprehensive income or loss on the consolidated balance sheets, or in the consolidated statements of operations in the
corresponding account where revenue or expense is hedged, or to general and administrative for hedge amounts determined to be ineffective.
Gains and losses resulting in changes in fair value of derivative instruments not designated for hedge accounting are recorded in general and
administrative for hedges of operating activity, or non-operating income (expense) for hedges of non-operating activity. See Note 12—Derivative and
Non-derivative Financial Instruments .
Non-derivative financial instrument designated as a net investment hedge. The Company designated the euro-denominated deferred cash
consideration liability, a non-derivative financial instrument, as a hedge against a portion of the Company's euro-denominated net investment in Visa
Europe. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe . Changes in the value of the deferred cash consideration liability, attributable to the change in
exchange rates at the end of each reporting period, partially offset the foreign currency translation adjustments resulting from the euro-denominated
net investment, are reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income or loss on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.
See Note 12—Derivative and Non-derivative Financial Instruments .
Guarantees and indemnifications . The Company recognizes an obligation at inception for guarantees and indemnifications that qualify for
recognition, regardless of the probability of occurrence. The Company indemnifies its financial institution clients for settlement losses suffered due to
the failure of any other client to fund its settlement obligations in accordance with the Visa Rules. The estimated fair value of the liability for
settlement indemnification is included in accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets and is described in Note 11—Settlement Guarantee
Management .
Share-based compensation . The Company recognizes share-based compensation cost using the fair value method of accounting. The
Company recognizes compensation cost for awards with only service conditions on a
67

Table of Contents
VISA INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
September 30, 2016
straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period. Compensation cost for performance and market-conditionbased awards is recognized on a graded-vesting basis. The amount is initially estimated based on target performance and is adjusted as appropriate
based on management's best estimate throughout the performance period. See Note 16—Share-based Compensation .
Earnings per share . The Company calculates earnings per share using the two-class method to reflect the different rights of each class and
series of outstanding common stock. The dilutive effect of incremental common stock equivalents is reflected in diluted earnings per share by
application of the treasury stock method. See Note 15—Earnings Per Share .
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU No. 2014-09, which requires an entity to recognize the amount
of revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of goods or services to customers. The ASU will replace existing revenue recognition
guidance in U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-14, which defers the effective date of ASU No.
2014-09 by one year. In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-08, which clarifies the implementation guidance on principal versus agent
considerations under the new revenue recognition standard. In April 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-10, which clarifies the implementation
guidance on identifying promised goods or services and on determining whether an entity's promise to grant a license with either a right to use the
entity's intellectual property (which is satisfied at a point in time) or a right to access the entity's intellectual property (which is satisfied over time). In
May 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-11, which rescinds certain SEC staff observer comments upon adoption of ASU 2014-09, including the SEC
comments related to consideration given by a vendor to a customer. In May 2016, the FASB also issued ASU 2016-12, which provides narrow scope
improvements and technical expedients on assessing collectibility, presentation of sales taxes, evaluating contract modifications and completed
contracts at the time of transition and the disclosure requirement for the effect of the accounting change for the period of adoption.The Company will
adopt the standard effective October 1, 2018. The standard permits the use of either the retrospective or cumulative effect transition method. The
Company has not yet selected a transition method and is evaluating the full effect that ASU 2014-09 and all of its related subsequent updates will
have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-12, which requires a performance target in stock compensation awards that affects vesting, and
is achievable after the requisite service period, be treated as a performance condition. The Company will adopt the standard effective October 1,
2016. The adoption is not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, which simplifies the presentation of debt issuance costs by requiring that debt issuance costs
be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of debt liability, consistent with debt discounts and premiums.
Subsequently, in August 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-15, which adds SEC staff guidance on the presentation of debt issuance costs
related to line-of-credit arrangements, allowing for the deferral and presentation of debt issuance costs as an asset and subsequent amortization of
the deferred debt issuance costs ratably over the term of the line-of-credit arrangement, regardless of whether there are any outstanding borrowings
on the line-of-credit arrangement. The Company elected to early adopt the standards effective October 1, 2015 and the carrying amount of the
Company's debt liability is presented net of issuance costs on the consolidated financial statements. See Note 9—Debt .
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-05, which provides guidance about a customer's accounting for fees paid in a cloud computing
arrangement. The amendment will help entities evaluate whether such an arrangement includes a software license, which should be accounted for
consistent with the acquisition of other software licenses; otherwise, it should be accounted for as a service contract. The Company will adopt the
standard effective October 1, 2016. The adoption is not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
In September 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-16, which simplifies the accounting for post-acquisition adjustments by eliminating the
requirement to retrospectively account for the adjustments made to provisional amounts recognized in a business combination. The Company
elected to early adopt this guidance on a
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prospective basis effective October 1, 2015. The adoption did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17, which simplifies the presentation of deferred income taxes by requiring that deferred tax
assets and liabilities be presented as non-current. The standard impacts presentation only. The Company elected to early adopt the standard on a
retrospective basis effective October 1, 2015 and all deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current. Previously, current deferred tax
assets had been presented separately and current deferred tax liabilities had been included in accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.
All prior period amounts within the consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to current period presentation. The
reclassification did not affect the Company's total equity, operating revenues, net income, comprehensive income or cash flows as of and for the
periods presented. The adoption did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, which amends certain aspects of recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
financial instruments, including the requirement to measure certain equity investments at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net
income. The Company will adopt the standard effective October 1, 2018. The adoption is not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, which requires the recognition of lease assets and lease liabilities arising from operating
leases in the statement of financial position. The Company will adopt the standard effective October 1, 2019 and does not anticipate that this new
accounting guidance will have a material impact on its consolidated statement of operations. The Company estimates the value of leased assets and
liabilities that may be recognized could be in the hundreds of millions of dollars. The actual impact will depend on the Company's lease portfolio at
the time of adoption.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-05, which clarifies that a change in the counterparty to a derivative instrument that has been
designated as the hedging instrument under Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, does not, in and of itself, require dedesignation of that hedging
relationship provided that all other hedge accounting criteria continue to be met. The Company will adopt the standard effective October 1, 2017.
The adoption is not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-06, which clarifies the requirements for assessing whether contingent call/put options that can
accelerate the payment of principal on debt instruments are clearly and closely related to their debt hosts. An entity performing the assessment is
required to assess the embedded call/put options solely in accordance with a four-step decision sequence. The Company will adopt the standard
effective October 1, 2017. The adoption is not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-07, which eliminates the requirement that an entity retroactively adopt the equity method of
accounting if an investment qualifies for use of the equity method as a result of an increase in the level of ownership or degree of influence. The
equity method investor is required to add the cost of acquiring the additional interest in the investee to the current basis of the investor's previously
held interest and adopt the equity method of accounting as of the date the investment becomes qualified for equity method accounting. The
Company will adopt the standard effective October 1, 2017. The adoption is not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, which simplifies several aspects of the accounting for share-based payments, including
immediate recognition of all excess tax benefits and deficiencies in the income statement, changing the threshold to qualify for equity classification
up to the employees' maximum statutory tax rates, allowing an entity-wide accounting policy election to either estimate the number of awards that
are expected to vest or account for forfeitures as they occur, and clarifying the classification on the statement of cash flows for the excess tax benefit
and employee taxes paid when an employer withholds shares for tax-withholding purposes. The Company will early adopt the standard effective
October 1, 2016. The adoption is not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
In May 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, which amends guidance on reporting credit losses for assets held at amortized cost basis and
available-for-sale debt securities. The amendment requires a financial asset
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measured at amortized cost basis to be presented at the net amount expected to be collected. The amendment in this update also requires that
credit losses on available-for-sale debt securities be presented as an allowance rather than as a write-down. The measurement of credit losses for
newly recognized financial assets and subsequent changes in the allowance for credit losses are recorded in the statement of income. The
Company is evaluating the full effect that ASU 2016-13 will have on its consolidated financial statements and will adopt the standard effective
October 1, 2020.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, which provides guidance on eight specific cash flow issues, including debt prepayments or
debt extinguishment costs. The Company will adopt the standard effective October 1, 2018. The adoption is not expected to have a material impact
on the consolidated financial statements.
In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-16, which requires that entities recognize the income tax consequences of an intra-entity transfer
of an asset, other than inventory, when the transfer occurs. The Company is evaluating the effect that ASU 2016-16 will have on its consolidated
financial statements and is considering early adoption of the standard.
Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe
On June 21, 2016, the Company acquired 100% of the share capital of Visa Europe, a payments technology business. The acquisition
positions Visa to create additional value through increased scale, efficiencies realized by the integration of both businesses, and benefits related to
Visa Europe's transition from an association to a for-profit enterprise. At the closing of the transaction (the "Closing"), the Company:
•
•
•

paid up-front cash consideration of € 12.2 billion ( $13.9 billion );
issued preferred stock of the Company convertible upon certain conditions into approximately 79 million shares of class A common stock of
the Company, as described below, equivalent to a value of € 5.3 billion ( $6.1 billion ) at the closing stock price of $77.33 on June 21, 2016;
and
agreed to pay an additional € 1.0 billion , plus 4% compound annual interest, on the third anniversary of the Closing.

Preferred stock . In connection with the transaction, three new series of preferred stock of the Company were created:
series A convertible participating preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share, which is generally designed to be economically equivalent to
the Company’s class A common stock (the “class A equivalent preferred stock”);
• series B convertible participating preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “U.K.&I preferred stock”); and
• series C convertible participating preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Europe preferred stock”).
•

The Company issued 2,480,466 shares of U.K.&I preferred stock to Visa Europe’s member financial institutions in the United Kingdom and
Ireland entitled to receive preferred stock at the Closing, and 3,156,823 shares of Europe preferred stock to Visa Europe’s other member financial
institutions entitled to receive preferred stock at the Closing. Under certain conditions described below, the U.K.&I and Europe preferred stock is
convertible into shares of class A common stock or class A equivalent preferred stock, at an initial conversion rate of 13.952 shares of class A
common stock for each share of U.K.&I preferred stock and Europe preferred stock. The conversion rates may be reduced from time to time to offset
certain liabilities, if any, which may be incurred by the Company, Visa Europe or their affiliates as a result of certain existing and potential litigation
relating to the setting of multilateral interchange fee rates in the Visa Europe territory (the "VE territory covered litigation"), where, generally, the
relevant claims (and resultant liabilities and losses) relate to the period before the Closing. Only seventy percent of such liabilities may be offset
where the liability arises from a claim related to inter-regional multilateral interchange fees applied to transactions where the issuer is located outside
the Visa Europe territory while the merchant outlet is located within the Visa Europe territory. A reduction in the conversion rates of the U.K.&I
preferred stock and the Europe preferred stock have the same economic effect on diluted class A common stock earnings per share as repurchasing
the Company's class A common stock because it reduces the as-converted class A common stock share count. Additionally, the shares of U.K.&I
and Europe preferred stock are subject to
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restrictions on transfer and may become convertible in stages based on developments in the VE territory covered litigation. The shares of U.K.&I and
Europe preferred stock will become fully convertible on the 12th anniversary of the Closing, subject only to a holdback to cover any then-pending
claims. Upon any such conversion of the U.K.&I or Europe preferred stock (whether by such 12th anniversary, or thereafter with respect to claims
pending on such anniversary), the holder would receive either class A common stock or class A equivalent preferred stock (for those who are not
eligible to hold class A common stock pursuant to the Company's charter). The class A equivalent preferred stock will be freely transferable and
each share of class A equivalent preferred stock will automatically convert into 100 shares of class A common stock upon a transfer to any holder
that is eligible to hold class A common stock under the charter. See Note 3—U.S. and Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plans .
The holders of the U.K.&I and Europe preferred stock have no right to vote on any matters, except for certain defined matters, including, in
specified circumstances, any consolidation, merger or combination of the Company. Holders of the class A equivalent preferred stock, upon
issuance at conversion, will have similar voting rights to the rights of the holders of the U.K.&I and Europe preferred stock. With respect to those
limited matters on which the holders of preferred stock may vote, approval by the holders of the preferred stock requires the affirmative vote of the
outstanding voting power of each such series of preferred stock, each such series voting as a single class. Upon issuance, all three series of
preferred stock will participate on an as-converted basis in regular quarterly cash dividends declared on the Company's class A common stock.
U.K. loss sharing agreement . On November 2, 2015, the Company, Visa Europe and certain of Visa Europe’s member financial institutions
located in the United Kingdom (the “U.K. LSA members”) entered into a loss sharing agreement (the “U.K. loss sharing agreement”). Each of the
U.K. LSA members has agreed, on a several and not joint basis, to compensate the Company for certain losses which may be incurred by the
Company, Visa Europe or their affiliates as a result of certain existing and potential litigation relating to the setting and implementation of domestic
multilateral interchange fee rates in the United Kingdom prior to the Closing (the "U.K. covered claims"), subject to the terms and conditions set forth
therein and, with respect to each U.K. LSA member, up to a maximum amount of the up-front cash consideration received by such U.K. LSA
member. The U.K. LSA members’ obligations under the U.K. loss sharing agreement are conditional upon, among other things, either (a) losses
valued in excess of the sterling equivalent at the Closing of € 1.0 billion having arisen in U.K covered claims (and such losses having reduced the
conversion rate of the U.K.&I preferred stock accordingly), or (b) the conversion rate of the U.K.&I preferred stock having been reduced to zero
pursuant to losses arising in claims relating to multilateral interchange fee rate setting in the Visa Europe territory. See Note 3—U.S. and Europe
Retrospective Responsibility Plans .
Litigation management deed . On June 21, 2016, the Company and Visa Europe entered into a litigation management deed (the "litigation
management deed"), which sets forth the agreed upon procedures for the management of the VE territory covered litigation, the allocation of losses
resulting from the VE territory covered litigation ("VE territory covered losses") between the U.K.&I and Europe preferred stock, and any accelerated
conversion or reduction in the conversion rate of the shares of U.K.&I and Europe preferred stock. The litigation management deed applies only to
VE territory covered litigation (and resultant losses and liabilities). Subject to the terms and conditions set forth therein, the litigation management
deed provides that the Company will generally control the conduct of the VE territory covered litigation, subject to certain obligations to report and
consult with the newly established litigation management committees for VE territory covered litigation ("VE territory litigation management
committees"). The VE territory litigation management committees, which are composed of representatives of certain Visa Europe members, have
also been granted consent rights to approve certain material decisions in relation to the VE territory covered litigation.
Framework Agreement. In connection with the Company's October 2007 reorganization, the Company granted to Visa Europe exclusive,
irrevocable and perpetual licenses to use the Visa trademarks and technology intellectual property owned by the Company and certain affiliates
within the Visa Europe region for use in the field of financial services, payments, related information technology and information processing services
and participation in the Visa system (the "Framework Agreement").
We recorded $191 million , $255 million and $226 million of revenue in accordance with the Framework Agreement during fiscal 2016, 2015
and 2014, respectively. As a result of the acquisition, the fee recognized in fiscal year 2016 was pro-rated for the period prior to the Closing, and no
fees related to the Framework Agreement were recognized in the three months ended September 30, 2016, nor will they be recognized in future
periods.
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Acquisition-related costs. The Company incurred $152 million of non-recurring operating expense during fiscal 2016 . This amount is comprised
of $60 million of transaction expenses recorded in professional fees, and $92 million of expense related to U.K. stamp duty, which was recorded in
general and administrative expenses.
Accounting treatment for the acquisition. The following table details the purchase consideration:
Accounting Purchase Consideration
(in millions)

Cash payment

$

Fair value of preferred stock (1)

5,692

Total upfront consideration

$

Fair value of deferred cash consideration (2)
$

Less: Visa Europe Framework Agreement loss (3)

(2)

20,810
(1,856)

(4)

(170)

Total accounting purchase consideration
(1)

19,574
1,236

Total consideration before adjustments
Less: Treasury stock

13,882

$

18,784

The fair value of preferred stock was determined based on its as-converted value of $6.1 billion on June 21, 2016, less a 6% discount for
illiquidity as these shares are subject to limitations on transferability. The fair value was also adjusted to reflect $25 million of "right to
recover for covered losses" related to VE territory covered losses prior to the Closing. See Note 20—Legal Matters .
This amount reflects the fair value of deferred cash consideration of € 1.0 billion , plus 4.0% compound annual interest, payable on the
third anniversary of the Closing, discounted at a rate of 1.2% . At September 30, 2016, the deferred consideration of $1.2 billion reflects
interest accretion recognized during the three months ended September 30, 2016, more than offset by the impact of changes in the euro
to U.S. dollar exchange rate from the Closing.

Total consideration has been adjusted to account for the following items to arrive at the accounting purchase consideration:
(3)

(4)

the loss upon consummation of the transaction resulting from the effective settlement of the Framework Agreement between Visa and
Visa Europe. The Visa Europe Framework Agreement provided Visa Europe with a perpetual, exclusive right to operate the Visa business
in the Visa Europe region in exchange for a license fee paid to Visa. Under the terms of the Framework Agreement, the license fee paid
by Visa Europe has increased modestly since inception in 2007, while the value of the Visa Europe business has increased at a greater
rate. Using an income approach, the Company assessed the contractual terms and conditions of the Framework Agreement as compared
to current market conditions and the historical and expected financial performance of Visa Europe. Based on the analysis performed, the
Company determined that the terms were not at fair value as determined under U.S. GAAP at the Closing. The present value of the
expected differential between payments required by the Framework Agreement and those that would be required if the contract were at
fair value under U.S. GAAP was calculated over the Framework Agreement's contractual perpetual term, resulting in a loss of $1.9 billion
recognized within operating expense in the Company's consolidated statement of operations during the third quarter of fiscal 2016, and a
reduction to the purchase accounting consideration; and
the fair value of the Visa class C common stock held by Visa Europe as of the Closing.

Total purchase consideration has been allocated to the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on a
preliminary valuation as we continue to gather additional information necessary to finalize the valuation. These preliminary values may further
change in future reporting periods until finalization of the valuation, which will occur no later than the third quarter of fiscal 2017.
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The following table summarizes the preliminary purchase price allocation.
Preliminary Purchase Price
Allocation
(in millions)

Current assets

(1)

$

Non-current assets (2)

258

Current liabilities (3)

(2,731)

Non-current liabilities (2)

(2,605)

Tangible assets and liabilities
Intangible assets — customer relationships and reacquired rights

$
(2)

3,268

Fair value of net assets acquired

(2)

(3)
(4)

(621)
16,137

Goodwill (4)

(1)

4,457

$

18,784

Current assets are largely comprised of cash and cash equivalents and settlement receivable.
Intangible assets consist of customer relationships and reacquired rights, which have been valued as a single composite intangible asset as
they are inextricably linked. These intangibles are considered indefinite-lived assets as the associated customer relationships have historically
not experienced significant attrition, and the reacquired rights are based on the Framework Agreement, which has a perpetual term. Noncurrent assets and liabilities include deferred tax assets and liabilities that result in net deferred tax liabilities of $2.4 billion , which are primarily
related to these indefinite-lived intangible assets, and are not expected to be realized in the foreseeable future.
Current liabilities assumed mainly include settlement payable, client incentives liabilities and accrued liabilities.
The excess of purchase consideration over net assets acquired was recorded as goodwill, which represents the value that is expected from
increased scale and synergies as a result of the integration of both businesses.

Actual and pro forma impact of acquisition. The Company did not include Visa Europe's financial results in the Company's consolidated
statements of operations from the acquisition date, June 21, 2016, through June 30, 2016 as the impact was immaterial. Total consolidated Visa Inc.
net revenue for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2016 includes $554 million from Visa Europe's operations for the three months ended
September 30, 2016. Had the Company not acquired Visa Europe, approximately $65 million of revenue would have been recorded under the
Framework Agreement during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2016. Therefore, the acquisition of Visa Europe resulted in a net increase of $489 million in
net revenue.
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Total consolidated Visa Inc. net income for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2016 includes $299 million from Visa Europe's operations for
the three months ended September 30, 2016. This includes the non-cash, non-recurring $88 million tax benefit upon remeasurement of a deferred
tax liability to reflect a tax rate change in the United Kingdom. In connection with the acquisition, Visa Inc. recorded several significant items that
would not have been incurred had we not acquired Visa Europe. Therefore, the acquisition of Visa Europe reduced Visa Inc. fiscal year 2016
consolidated net income by approximately $872 million , as follows:

Impact of Visa Europe acquisition on fiscal 2016 consolidated net income:

(in millions)

Visa Europe net income included in consolidated net income

$

299

Less approximately $65 million of revenue that would have been recorded by Visa Inc. under the Framework
Agreement, net of tax

(41)

Less acquisition-related expense recorded by Visa Inc., net of tax, upon:
Effective settlement of the Framework Agreement

(1,184)

Interest expense incurred on $16.0 billion debt, net of interest income earned

(243)

Transaction costs incurred

(96)

Add acquisition-related gains recorded by Visa Inc., net of tax, upon:
Revaluation of Visa Europe put option

255

Remeasurement of euro deposits

91

Remeasurement of currency forward contracts

47
$

Total impact of Visa Europe acquisition on consolidated net income

(872)

The following table presents supplemental pro forma information as if the acquisition and related issuance of senior notes had occurred on
October 1, 2014. The pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of the Company's consolidated results of operations that would
have been realized had the acquisition been completed on October 1, 2014, nor does it purport to project the future results of operations of the
combined company or reflect any reorganizations, or cost or other operating synergies that may occur subsequent to the Closing. The actual results
of operations of the combined company may differ significantly from the pro forma results presented here due to many factors.
Pro Forma Consolidated Results
Fiscal 2016

Fiscal 2015

(in millions, except per share data)

Total operating revenues

$

16,090

$

15,425

Net income

$

7,072

$

5,210

Diluted earnings per share

$

2.93

$

2.06

The pro forma financial information above reflects the following material pro forma adjustments:
•
•
•
•

conversion of Visa Europe's historical results of operations from euro to U.S. dollar, and from International Financial Reporting Standards
to U.S. GAAP;
elimination of transactions between Visa and Visa Europe upon consolidation, primarily related to annual license and various other fees
paid by Visa Europe to Visa in accordance with the Framework Agreement;
an increase in non-operating expense for additional interest expense and amortization of debt issuance costs resulting from the issuance
of the $16.0 billion senior notes;
exclusion of a $255 million gain in the twelve months ended September 30, 2016 and $110 million loss in the twelve months ended
September 30, 2015 related to the revaluation of the Visa Europe put option (1) ; and
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•

the inclusion of non-recurring amounts on October 1, 2014, the date the acquisition is presumed to have occurred for purposes of
presenting pro forma results, and a corresponding reduction of these amounts in the period originally recognized, as follows:
◦ $1.9 billion Visa Europe Framework Agreement loss related to the effective settlement of the Framework Agreement recognized in
the twelve months ended September 30, 2016;
◦ $152 million of acquisition-related costs for the twelve months ended September 30, 2016;
◦ $145 million of foreign exchange gains related to euros held during the twelve months ended September 30, 2016; and
◦ $74 million of gains for the twelve months ended September 30, 2016 related to currency forward contracts entered into to mitigate
a portion of the foreign currency exchange rate risk associated with the upfront cash consideration.
(1)

For purposes of preparing this pro forma financial information, the fair value of the Visa Europe put option is presumed to have been
reduced to zero prior to October 1, 2014. Therefore, gains or losses associated with changes in the fair value of the Visa
Europe put option liability are not included in pro forma net income for either period presented.

The pro forma results also reflect the applicable tax impact of the pro forma adjustments. The taxes associated with the adjustments reflect
the statutory tax rate in effect during the respective periods.
Note 3—U.S. and Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plans
U.S. Retrospective Responsibility Plan
The Company has established several related mechanisms designed to address potential liability under certain litigation referred to as the “U.S.
covered litigation." These mechanisms are included in and referred to as the U.S. retrospective responsibility plan and consist of a U.S. litigation
escrow agreement, the conversion feature of the Company's shares of class B common stock, the indemnification obligations of the Visa U.S.A.
members, an interchange judgment sharing agreement, a loss sharing agreement and an omnibus agreement, as amended.
U.S. covered litigation consists of a number of matters that have been settled or otherwise fully or substantially resolved, as well as the
following:
•

•
•

the Interchange Multidistrict Litigation . In re Payment Card Interchange Fee and Merchant Discount Antitrust Litigation, 1:05-md-01720JG-JO (E.D.N.Y.) or MDL 1720, including all cases currently included in MDL 1720, any other case that includes claims for damages
relating to the period prior to the Company's IPO that has been or is transferred for coordinated or consolidated pre-trial proceedings at
any time to MDL 1720 by the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation or otherwise included at any time in MDL 1720 by order of any court
of competent jurisdiction;
any claim that challenges the reorganization or the consummation thereof; provided that such claim is transferred for coordinated or
consolidated pre-trial proceedings at any time to MDL 1720 by the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation or otherwise included at any
time in MDL 1720 by order of any court of competent jurisdiction; and
any case brought after October 22, 2015, by a merchant that opted out of the Rule 23(b)(3) settlement class pursuant to the 2012
Settlement Agreement in MDL 1720 that arises out of facts or circumstances substantially similar to those alleged in MDL 1720 and that
is not transferred to or otherwise included in MDL 1720. See Note 20—Legal Matters .

U.S. Litigation escrow agreement. In accordance with the U.S. litigation escrow agreement, the Company maintains an escrow account, from
which settlements of, or judgments in, the U.S. covered litigation are paid. The amount of the escrow is determined by the board of directors and the
Company's litigation committee, all members of which are affiliated with, or act for, certain Visa U.S.A. members. The escrow funds are held in
money market investments along with the interest earned, less applicable taxes, and are classified as restricted cash on the consolidated balance
sheets.
The following table sets forth the changes in the U.S. litigation escrow account:
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Fiscal 2016

Fiscal 2015

(in millions)

Balance at October 1
Payments to opt-out merchants

$
$

Balance at September 30
(1)

1,072

$

(45)

(1)

1,027

1,498
(426)

$

1,072

These payments are associated with the interchange multidistrict litigation. See Note 20—Legal Matters .

An accrual for the U.S. covered litigation and a change to the litigation provision are recorded when loss is deemed to be probable and
reasonably estimable. In making this determination, the Company evaluates available information, including but not limited to recommendations
made by the litigation committee. The accrual related to the U.S. covered litigation could be either higher or lower than the U.S. litigation escrow
account balance. The Company did not record an additional accrual for the U.S. covered litigation during fiscal 2016. See Note 20—Legal Matters .
Conversion feature. Under the terms of the plan, when the Company funds the U.S. litigation escrow account, the shares of class B common
stock are subject to dilution through an adjustment to the conversion rate of the shares of class B common stock to shares of class A common stock.
This has the same economic effect on diluted class A common stock earnings per share as repurchasing the Company's class A common stock,
because it reduces the class B conversion rate and consequently the as-converted class A common stock share count. See Note 14—Stockholders'
Equity .
Indemnification obligations . To the extent that amounts available under the U.S. litigation escrow arrangement and other agreements in the
plan are insufficient to fully resolve the U.S. covered litigation, the Company will use commercially reasonable efforts to enforce the indemnification
obligations of Visa U.S.A.'s members for such excess amount, including but not limited to enforcing indemnification obligations pursuant to Visa
U.S.A.'s certificate of incorporation and bylaws and in accordance with their membership agreements.
Interchange judgment sharing agreement. Visa U.S.A. and Visa International have entered into an interchange judgment sharing agreement
with certain Visa U.S.A. members that have been named as defendants in the interchange multidistrict litigation, which is described in Note 20—
Legal Matters . Under this judgment sharing agreement, Visa U.S.A. members that are signatories will pay their membership proportion of the
amount of a final judgment not allocated to the conduct of MasterCard.
Loss sharing agreement. Visa has entered into a loss sharing agreement with Visa U.S.A., Visa International and certain Visa U.S.A. members.
The loss sharing agreement provides for the indemnification of Visa U.S.A., Visa International and, in certain circumstances, Visa with respect to:
(i) the amount of a final judgment paid by Visa U.S.A. or Visa International in the U.S. covered litigation after the operation of the interchange
judgment sharing agreement, plus any amounts reimbursable to the interchange judgment sharing agreement signatories; or (ii) the damages
portion of a settlement of a U.S. covered litigation that is approved as required under Visa U.S.A.'s certificate of incorporation by the vote of Visa
U.S.A.'s specified voting members. The several obligation of each bank that is a party to the loss sharing agreement will equal the amount of any
final judgment enforceable against Visa U.S.A., Visa International or any other signatory to the interchange judgment sharing agreement, or the
amount of any approved settlement of a U.S. covered litigation, multiplied by such bank's then-current membership proportion as calculated in
accordance with Visa U.S.A.'s certificate of incorporation.
On October 22, 2015, Visa entered into an amendment to the loss sharing agreement. The amendment includes within the scope of U.S.
covered litigation any action brought after the amendment by an opt out from the Rule 23(b)(3) Settlement Class in MDL 1720 that arises out of facts
or circumstances substantially similar to those alleged in MDL 1720 and that is not transferred to or otherwise included in MDL 1720. On the same
date, Visa entered into amendments to the interchange judgment sharing agreement and omnibus agreement that include any such action within the
scope of those agreements as well.
Omnibus agreement. Visa entered into an omnibus agreement with MasterCard and certain Visa U.S.A. members that confirmed and
memorialized the signatories’ intentions with respect to the loss sharing agreement, the interchange judgment sharing agreement and other
agreements relating to the interchange multidistrict
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litigation, see Note 20—Legal Matters . Under the omnibus agreement, the monetary portion of any settlement of the interchange multidistrict
litigation covered by the omnibus agreement would be divided into a MasterCard portion at 33.3333% and a Visa portion at 66.6667% . In addition,
the monetary portion of any judgment assigned to Visa-related claims in accordance with the omnibus agreement would be treated as a Visa portion.
Visa would have no liability for the monetary portion of any judgment assigned to MasterCard-related claims in accordance with the omnibus
agreement, and if a judgment is not assigned to Visa-related claims or MasterCard-related claims in accordance with the omnibus agreement, then
any monetary liability would be divided into a MasterCard portion at 33.3333% and a Visa portion at 66.6667% . The Visa portion of a settlement or
judgment covered by the omnibus agreement would be allocated in accordance with specified provisions of the Company's U.S. retrospective
responsibility plan. The litigation provision on the consolidated statements of operations is not impacted by the execution of the omnibus agreement.
On August 26, 2014, Visa entered into an amendment to the omnibus agreement. The omnibus amendment makes applicable to certain
settlements in opt-out cases in the interchange multidistrict litigation the settlement-sharing provisions of the omnibus agreement, pursuant to which
the monetary portion of any settlement of the interchange multidistrict litigation covered by the omnibus agreement would be divided into a
MasterCard portion at 33.3333% and a Visa portion at 66.6667% . The omnibus amendment also provides that in the event of termination of the
class Settlement Agreement, Visa and MasterCard would make mutually acceptable arrangements so that Visa shall have received two-thirds and
MasterCard shall have received one-third of the total of (i) the sums paid to defendants as a result of the termination of the Settlement Agreement
and (ii) the takedown payments previously made to defendants.
Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plan
The Company obtained certain protections for VE territory covered losses through the U.K.&I and Europe preferred stock, the U.K. loss sharing
agreement, and the litigation management deed, referred to as the "Europe retrospective responsibility plan." See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa
Europe and Note 20—Legal Matters . The plan covers VE territory covered litigation (and resultant liabilities and losses) relating to the covered
period, which generally refers to the period before the Closing. Visa's protection from the plan is further limited to seventy percent of any liabilities
where the claim relates to inter-regional multilateral interchange fee rates where the issuer is located outside the Visa Europe territory, while the
merchant is located within the Visa Europe territory. The plan does not protect the Company against all types of litigation in Europe, only the
interchange litigation specifically covered by the plan's terms.
Unlike the U.S. retrospective responsibility plan, the Europe retrospective responsibility plan does not have an escrow account that is used to
fund settlements or judgments. The Company is entitled to recover VE territory covered losses through a periodic adjustment to the class A common
stock conversion rates applicable to the U.K.&I and Europe preferred stock. The total amount of protection available through the preferred stock
component of the Europe retrospective responsibility plan is equivalent to the as-converted value of the preferred stock, which can be calculated at
any point in time as the product of: (a) the outstanding number of shares of preferred stock; (b) the current conversion rate applicable to each class
of preferred stock; and (c) Visa's class A common stock price. This amount differs from the value of the preferred stock recorded within stockholders'
equity on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. The book value of the preferred stock reflects its historical value recorded at the Closing less
VE territory covered losses recovered through a reduction of the applicable conversion rate. The book value does not reflect changes in the
underlying class A common stock price subsequent to the Closing.
Visa Inc. net income will not be impacted by VE territory covered losses as long as the as-converted value of the preferred stock is greater than
the covered loss. VE territory covered losses will be recorded when the loss is deemed to be probable and reasonably estimable, or in the case of
attorney's fees, when incurred. Concurrently, the Company will record a reduction to stockholders' equity and operating expenses, which represents
the Company's right to recover such losses through adjustments to the conversion rate applicable to the preferred stock. The reduction to
stockholders' equity is recorded in a contra-equity account referred to as "right to recover for covered losses."
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VE territory covered losses may be recorded before the corresponding adjustment to the applicable conversion rate is effected. Adjustments to
the conversion rate may be executed once in any six-month period unless a single, individual loss greater than € 20 million is incurred, in which
case, the six-month limitation does not apply. When the adjustment to the conversion rate is made, the amount previously recorded in "right to
recover for covered losses" as contra-equity will then be recorded against the book value of the preferred stock within stockholders' equity. As of
September 30, 2016, the Company had recorded $34 million in the "right to recover for covered losses" related to VE territory covered losses, of
which $25 million was incurred prior to the Closing. There were no adjustments to the conversion rate in fiscal 2016.
The following table sets forth the as-converted value of the preferred stock available to recover VE territory covered losses compared to the
book value of preferred shares recorded in stockholders' equity within the Company's consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2016 (1) :
September 30, 2016
As-Converted Value of Preferred
Stock (2)

Book Value of Preferred Stock

(in millions)

U.K.&I preferred stock

$

Europe preferred stock
$

Less: Right to recover for covered losses

6,504

$

6,470

2,516
3,201

$

(34)

Total recovery for covered losses available
(2)

$

3,642

Total

(1)

2,862

5,717
(34)

$

5,683

Figures in the table may not recalculate exactly due to rounding. As-converted and book values are based on unrounded numbers.
The as-converted value of preferred stock is calculated as the product of: (a) 2 million and 3 million shares of the U.K.&I and Europe preferred
stock outstanding, respectively, as of September 30, 2016; (b) the 13.952 class A common stock conversion rate applicable to both the U.K.&I
and Europe preferred stock as of September 30, 2016; and (c) $82.70 , Visa's class A common stock closing stock price as of September 30,
2016. Figures in the table may not recalculate exactly due to rounding. Earnings per share is calculated based on unrounded numbers.
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Note 4—Fair Value Measurements and Investments
Fair Value Measurements
The Company measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value. See Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies .
Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
Fair Value Measurements at September 30
Using Inputs Considered as
Level 1
2016

Level 2
2015

2016

Level 3
2015

2016

2015

(in millions)

Assets
Cash equivalents and restricted cash:
Money market funds

$

4,537

$

3,051

U.S. government-sponsored debt securities

$

196

$

280

Investment securities, trading:
Equity securities

71

66

2,178

2,656

53

4

Investment securities, available-for-sale:
U.S. government-sponsored debt securities
U.S. Treasury securities
Equity securities
Corporate debt securities

4,699

2,615

249

533

Auction rate securities

$

—

$

7

$

—

$

7

$

—

$

255

$

—

$

255

Prepaid and other current assets:
Foreign exchange derivative instruments

50

76

Other Assets:
Foreign exchange derivative instruments
Total

6
$

6,839

$

5,777

$

5,200

$

3,504

$

116

$

13

$

20

$

136

$

13

Liabilities
Accrued liabilities:
Visa Europe put option
Foreign exchange derivative instruments
Other liabilities:
Foreign exchange derivative instruments
Total

$

—

$

—

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 assets during fiscal 2016 .
Level 1 assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Money market funds, publicly-traded equity securities and U.S. Treasury securities
are classified as Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy, as fair value is based on quoted prices in active markets.
Level 2 assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The fair value of U.S. government-sponsored debt securities and
corporate debt securities, as provided by third-party pricing vendors, is based on quoted prices in active markets for similar, not identical, assets.
The pricing data obtained from outside sources is reviewed internally for reasonableness, compared against benchmark quotes from independent
pricing sources, then confirmed or revised accordingly. Foreign exchange derivative instruments are valued using inputs that are observable in the
market or can be derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data. There were no substantive changes to the valuation
techniques and related inputs used to measure fair value during fiscal 2016 .
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Level 3 assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Auction rate securities are classified as Level 3 due to a lack of trading
in active markets and a lack of observable inputs in measuring fair value. There were no substantive changes to the valuation techniques and
related inputs used to measure fair value during fiscal 2016 .
Visa Europe put option agreement. On June 21, 2016, the Company acquired 100% of the share capital of Visa Europe, effected by the Visa
Europe board of directors' exercise of the amended Visa Europe put option. Therefore, the Visa Europe put option was contractually terminated as a
result of the transaction. During the first quarter of fiscal 2016, the Company recorded a $255 million non-cash decrease in the fair value of the put
option as non-operating income in the Company's consolidated statements of operations, reducing the fair value of the liability to zero . See Note 2
—Acquisition of Visa Europe . The liability was classified within Level 3 as the assumed probability that Visa Europe would elect to exercise its
option in its unamended form, and the estimated P/E differential were among several unobservable inputs used to value the unamended put option.
Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis
Non-marketable equity investments and investments accounted for under the equity method . These investments are classified as Level 3 due
to the absence of quoted market prices, the inherent lack of liquidity, and the fact that inputs used to measure fair value are unobservable and
require management's judgment. When certain events or circumstances indicate that impairment may exist, the Company revalues the investments
using various assumptions, including the financial metrics and ratios of comparable public companies. There were no significant impairment charges
incurred during fiscal 2016 , 2015 and 2014 . At September 30, 2016 and 2015 , these investments totaled $46 million and $45 million , respectively.
These assets are classified in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets.
Non-financial assets and liabilities. Long-lived assets such as goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets, finite-lived intangible assets, and
property, equipment and technology are considered non-financial assets. The Company does not have any non-financial liabilities measured at fair
value on a non-recurring basis. Finite-lived intangible assets primarily consist of customer relationships, trade names, and reseller relationships, all
of which were obtained through acquisitions. See Note 7—Intangible Assets and Goodwill .
If the Company were required to perform a quantitative assessment for impairment testing of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, the
fair values would generally be estimated using an income approach. As the assumptions employed to measure these assets on a non-recurring
basis are based on management's judgment using internal and external data, these fair value determinations are classified as Level 3 in the fair
value hierarchy. The Company completed its annual impairment review of its indefinite-lived intangible assets and goodwill as of February 1, 2016 ,
and concluded that there was no impairment. No recent events or changes in circumstances indicate that impairment existed at September 30, 2016
. See Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies .
Other Fair Value Disclosures
Long-term debt. In December 2015, the Company issued fixed-rate senior notes in an aggregate principal amount of $16.0 billion , with
maturities ranging between 2 and 30 years. See Note 9—Debt . These debt instruments are measured at amortized cost on the Company's
consolidated balance sheet at September 30, 2016 . The fair value of these notes, as provided by third-party pricing vendors, is based on quoted
prices in active markets for similar, not identical, assets. The pricing data obtained from outside sources is reviewed internally for reasonableness,
compared against benchmark quotes from independent pricing sources, then confirmed or revised accordingly. If measured at fair value in the
financial statements, these instruments would be classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.
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The following table presents the carrying amount and estimated fair value of the Company’s debt in order of maturity:
September 30, 2016
Carrying Amount

Estimated Fair Value

(in millions)

1.20% Senior Notes due December 2017

$

1,746

$

1,754

2.20% Senior Notes due December 2020

2,988

3,077

2.80% Senior Notes due December 2022

2,238

2,359

3.15% Senior Notes due December 2025

3,964

4,225

4.15% Senior Notes due December 2035

1,485

1,698

4.30% Senior Notes due December 2045

3,461
$

15,882

4,045
$

17,158

Other Financial Instruments not Measured at Fair Value
The following financial instruments are not measured at fair value on the Company's consolidated balance sheet at September 30, 2016 , but
require disclosure of their fair values: time deposits recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets, settlement receivable and payable, and
customer collateral. The estimated fair value of such instruments at September 30, 2016 approximates their carrying value due to their generally
short maturities. If measured at fair value in the financial statements, these financial instruments would be classified as Level 2 in the fair value
hierarchy.
Investments
Trading Investment Securities
Trading investment securities include mutual fund equity security investments related to various employee compensation and benefit plans.
Trading activity in these investments is at the direction of the Company's employees. These investments are held in trust and are not available for
the Company's operational or liquidity needs. Interest and dividend income and changes in fair value are recorded in non-operating income, and
offset in personnel expense on the consolidated statements of operations. As of September 30, 2016 and 2015 , trading investment securities
totaled $71 million and $66 million , respectively.
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Available-for-sale Investment Securities
The amortized cost, unrealized gains and losses and fair value of available-for-sale investment securities are as follows:
September 30, 2015

September 30, 2016
Gross Unrealized

Amortized
Cost

Gains

Fair
Value

Losses

Gross Unrealized

Amortized
Cost

Gains

Fair
Value

Losses

(in millions)

U.S. government-sponsored debt
securities

$

U.S. Treasury securities
Equity securities
Corporate debt securities
Auction rate securities
Total

$

4,693

$

6

$

—

2,176

3

—

$

4,699

$

2,179

2,612

$

3

$

—

2,652

4

—

$

2,615
2,656

7

46

—

53

4

—

—

4

248

—

—

248

533

—

—

533

—

—

—

—

7

—

—

7

7,124

$

55

$

—

$

Less: current portion of availablefor-sale investment securities

7,179

$

5,808

$

7

$

—

$

(3,248)

Long-term available-for-sale
investment securities

$

5,815
(2,431)

3,931

$

3,384

The available-for-sale investment securities primarily include U.S. Treasury securities, U.S. government-sponsored debt securities and
corporate debt securities. Available-for-sale debt securities are presented below in accordance with their stated maturities. The majority of these
investments, $ 3.9 billion , are classified as non-current, as they have stated maturities of more than one year from the balance sheet date.
However, these investments are generally available to meet short-term liquidity needs.
Amortized Cost

Fair Value

(in millions)

September 30, 2016:
Due within one year

$

Due after 1 year through 5 years

3,193

$

3,195

3,925

3,931

Due after 5 years through 10 years

—

—

Due after 10 years

—

—

Total

$
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Investment Income
Investment income is recorded as non-operating income in the Company's consolidated statements of operations and consisted of the
following:
For the Years Ended
September 30,
2016

2015

2014

(in millions)

Interest and dividend income on cash and investments

$

75

Gain on other investments

$

31

$

25

5

3

8

Investment securities, trading:
Unrealized gains (losses), net
Realized gains, net

3

(6)

(2)

—

2

6

3

21

1

(4)

(5)

(3)

Investment securities, available-for-sale:
Realized gains, net
Other-than-temporary impairment on investments
Investment income

$

82

$

46

$

35

Note 5—Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following:
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015
(in millions)

Prepaid operating expenses and maintenance

$

151

Income tax receivable ( See Note 19—Income Taxes)
Foreign exchange derivative instruments ( See Note 12—Derivative Financial Instruments)
Other
$

Total

$

137

232

77

50

76

122

63

555

$

353

Other non-current assets consisted of the following:
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015
(in millions)

Non-current income tax receivable ( See Note 19—Income Taxes)

$

731

$

627

Pension assets ( See Note 10—Pension, Postretirement and Other Benefits)

22

36

Other investments ( See Note 4—Fair Value Measurements and Investments)

46

45

Long-term prepaid operating expenses and other

72

57

Non-current deferred tax assets ( See Note 19—Income Taxes)

22

(1)

$

Total
(1)

893

13
$

778

The Company elected to early adopt ASU 2015-17 on a retrospective basis effective October 1, 2015 and all deferred tax assets and liabilities
are classified as non-current. Previously, current deferred tax assets had been presented separately and current deferred tax liabilities had been
included in accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. See Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Note 19—
Income Taxes .
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Note 6—Property, Equipment and Technology, Net
Property, equipment and technology, net, consisted of the following:
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015
(in millions)

Land

$

74

Buildings and building improvements
Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements

Total property, equipment and technology
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property, equipment and technology, net

$

71
803

1,382

1,267

Construction-in-progress
Technology

$

839
125

120

2,378

2,022

4,798

4,283

(2,648)

(2,395)

2,150

$

1,888

Technology consists of both purchased and internally developed software. Internally developed software primarily represents software utilized
by the VisaNet electronic payments network. At September 30, 2016 and 2015 , accumulated amortization for technology was $1.5 billion and $1.4
billion , respectively.
At September 30, 2016 , estimated future amortization expense on technology was as follows:
Fiscal:

2017

2018

2019

2021 and
thereafter

2020

Total

(in millions)

Estimated future amortization expense

$

274

$

209

$

161

$

108

$

84

$

836

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property, equipment and technology was $452 million , $431 million and $369 million for
fiscal 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively. Included in those amounts was amortization expense on technology of $259 million , $251 million and
$198 million for fiscal 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively.
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Note 7—Intangible Assets and Goodwill
Indefinite-lived and finite-lived intangible assets consisted of the following:
September 30, 2016

September 30, 2015

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross

Net

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross

Net

(in millions)

Finite-lived intangible assets:
Customer relationships

$

351

Trade names

(220)

$

131

$

351

$

(196)

$

155

(80)

112

192

(67)

125

95

(70)

25

95

(59)

36

Reseller relationships
Other
Total finite-lived intangible assets

$

192
18

(9)

$

656

$

$

22,873

$

(379)

9

53

(17)

$

277

$

691

$

$

22,873

$

6,925

$

(339)

36
$

352

$

6,925

Indefinite-lived intangible assets:
Customer relationships and reacquired rights
Visa trade name

—

—

4,084

—

4,084

2,564

—

2,564

—

—

—

1,520

—

1,520

$

26,957

$ 11,009

$

$

27,234

$ 11,700

$

Visa Europe franchise right
Total Indefinite-lived intangible assets

$

26,957

$

Total intangible assets, net

$

27,613

$

—
(379)

—
(339)

$

11,009

$

11,361

Amortization expense related to finite-lived intangible assets was $50 million , $63 million and $66 million for fiscal 2016 , 2015 and 2014 ,
respectively. At September 30, 2016 , estimated future amortization expense on finite-lived intangible assets is as follows:
Fiscal:

2017

2018

2019

2021 and
thereafter

2020

Total

(in millions)

Estimated future amortization expense

$

46

40

40

40

111

$

277

There was no impairment related to the Company’s indefinite-lived or finite-lived intangible assets during fiscal 2016 , 2015 or 2014 .
The increase in total net intangible assets during 2016 was primarily related to the Company's acquisition of Visa Europe. Total purchase
consideration of $18.8 billion was allocated to the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their
respective fair value on the acquisition date. Related indefinite-lived intangible assets recorded totaled $16.1 billion consisting of customer
relationships and reacquired rights. Upon consummation of the acquisition, the Visa Europe franchise right of $1.5 billion , previously acquired as
part of the Company's October 2007 reorganization, was reclassified as a Visa trade name intangible asset as the franchise right permitted Visa
Europe's use of the Visa trade name and technology prior to acquisition. Goodwill of $3.3 billion was recorded to reflect the excess purchase
consideration over net assets acquired. Intangible assets and goodwill recorded as a result of the Visa Europe acquisition are denominated in euros
and translated into U.S. dollars. As such, the change in goodwill balance from the acquisition date to September 30, 2016 primarily includes the
impact of $ 39 million resulting from changes in the euro to U.S. dollar exchange rate during the period. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe .
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Note 8—Accrued and Other Liabilities
Accrued liabilities consisted of the following:
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015
(in millions)

$

Accrued operating expenses (1)

347

$

257

—

255

Accrued interest expenses (3)
Accrued income taxes (See Note 19—Income Taxes )

145

—

153

75

Other (5)

483

262

Visa Europe put option (See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe ) (2)

$

Total

1,128

$

849

Other non-current liabilities consisted of the following:
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015
(in millions)

$

Accrued income taxes (See Note 19—Income Taxes ) (4)
Employee benefits
Other

$

Total
(1)
(2)

(3)
(4)
(5)

911

$

752

137

77

114

68

1,162

$

897

Increase includes accrued operating expenses assumed from the Visa Europe acquisition.
On June 21, 2016, the Company acquired 100% of the share capital of Visa Europe, effected by the Visa Europe board of directors' exercise of
the amended Visa Europe put option. Therefore, the Visa Europe put option was contractually terminated as a result of the transaction. See Note
2—Acquisition of Visa Europe .
Interest expenses accrued as at September 30, 2016 is related to the issuance of long-term debt in December 2015. See Note 9—Debt .
The increase in non-current accrued income taxes is primarily related to the increase in liabilities for uncertain tax positions.
Current year balance includes amounts assumed from the Visa Europe acquisition related to uncertainties around foreign non-income tax
obligations. Prior year current deferred tax liabilities have been retroactively reclassed to non-current deferred tax liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheets upon adoption of FASB issued ASU 2015-17. See Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Note 19—Income
Taxes .
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Note 9—Debt
The Company had outstanding debt as follows:
September 30, 2016

Principal Amount

Unamortized
Discounts and Debt
Issuance Costs

Carrying Amount

Effective Interest
Rate

(in millions, except percentages)

1.20% Senior Notes due December 2017 (the "2017 Notes")

1,746

1.37%

2.20% Senior Notes due December 2020 (the "2020 Notes")

$

1,750
3,000

(12)

2,988

2.30%

2.80% Senior Notes due December 2022 (the "2022 Notes")

2,250

(12)

2,238

2.89%

3.15% Senior Notes due December 2025 (the "2025 Notes")

4,000

(36)

3,964

3.26%

4.15% Senior Notes due December 2035 (the "2035 Notes")

1,500

(15)

1,485

4.23%

3,461

4.37%

4.30% Senior Notes due December 2045 (the "2045 Notes")
Total long-term debt

$

3,500
$

16,000

(4)

$

(39)
$

(118)

$

15,882

Senior Notes
In December 2015, the Company issued fixed-rate senior notes (the 2017 Notes, 2020 Notes, 2022 Notes, 2025 Notes, 2035 Notes and 2045
Notes, or collectively, the "Notes") in conjunction with the acquisition of Visa Europe, in an aggregate principal amount of $16.0 billion , with
maturities ranging between 2 and 30 years. Interest on the Notes, at a rate ranging between 1.20% and 4.30% , is payable semi-annually on June
14 and December 14 of each year, commencing June 14, 2016. The Company recognized related interest expense of $399 million in fiscal 2016 as
non-operating expense. The net aggregate proceeds from the issuance of the Notes, after deducting discounts and debt issuance costs, were $15.9
billion . The discounts and debt issuance costs are amortized over the respective term of each note using the effective interest method. The
indenture governing the Notes contains customary event of default provisions. The Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company, ranking
equally and ratably among themselves and with the Company's existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated debt. The Notes are not secured
by any assets of the Company and are not guaranteed by any of the Company's subsidiaries. The Company was in compliance with all related
covenants as of September 30, 2016 .
Each series of the Notes may be redeemed as a whole or in part, at the Company’s option at any time, prior to, with respect to the 2017 Notes,
their maturity date, and with respect to the 2020 Notes, the 2022 Notes, the 2025 Notes, the 2035 Notes and the 2045 Notes, the applicable par call
date (as set forth in the table below), at a price equal to the greater of:
•

100% of the principal amount of such Notes; and

•

the sum of the present value of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest through the maturity or par call date for each of
the Notes below at the treasury rate defined under the terms of the Notes, plus the applicable spread for such Notes (as set forth in the table
below),

plus, in each case, accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the date of redemption.
87

Table of Contents
VISA INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
September 30, 2016

Maturity/Par Call Date

Spread

2017 Notes

Series

December 14, 2017

5 bps

2020 Notes

November 14, 2020

10 bps

2022 Notes

October 14, 2022

12.5 bps

2025 Notes

September 14, 2025

15 bps

2035 Notes

June 14, 2035

20 bps

2045 Notes

June 14, 2045

20 bps

On or after the applicable par call date, the Notes, except the 2017 Notes, may be redeemed as a whole or in part, at the Company’s option at
any time, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes being redeemed plus accrued interest.
Future principal payments on the Company's outstanding debt are as follows:
Fiscal Year

(in millions)

2017

$

2018

—

1,750

2019

—

2020

—

2021

3,000

Thereafter

11,250

Total

$

16,000

Commercial Paper Program
Visa maintains a commercial paper program to support its working capital requirements and for other general corporate purposes. Under the
program, the Company is authorized to issue up to $3.0 billion in outstanding notes, with maturities up to 397 days from the date of issuance. The
Company had no outstanding obligations under the program at September 30, 2016 .
Credit Facility
On January 27, 2016 , the Company, Visa International Service Association and Visa U.S.A. Inc., and subsequently, Visa Europe Limited and
Visa Europe Services Inc. (collectively, the "Borrowers") entered into a 5-year, unsecured $4.0 billion revolving credit facility (the "Credit Facility")
with Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent and the lenders party thereto. JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., acted as syndication agent in
connection with the Credit Facility; Bank of China, Los Angeles Branch, Barclays Bank PLC, Citibank, N.A., HSBC Bank USA, N.A., Royal Bank of
Canada, Standard Chartered Bank, The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd., U.S. Bank National Association, Wells Fargo Bank National
Association, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. and Toronto Dominion (New York) LLC, acted as Documentation Agents; and J.P. Morgan Securities
LLC, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, Bank of China, Los Angeles Branch, Barclays Bank PLC, Citigroup Global Markets, Inc.,
HSBC Bank USA, N.A., RBC Capital Markets, Standard Chartered Bank, The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd., U.S. Bank National Association,
Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. and TD Securities (USA) LLC, acted as joint lead arrangers and joint book runners. The
Credit Facility, which expires on January 27, 2021 , replaced the Company's prior $3.0 billion credit facility, which expired on January 27, 2016 .
The Credit Facility provides the Borrowers with a borrowing capacity of up to $4.0 billion . Borrowings under the Credit Facility are available for
general corporate purposes. Interest on the borrowings under the Credit Facility would be charged at the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) or
an alternative base rate, in each case plus applicable margins that fluctuate based on the applicable rating of senior unsecured long-term securities
of the Company. The Borrowers have agreed to pay a commitment fee which will fluctuate based on such applicable rating of the Company.
Other material terms are:
• a financial covenant which requires the Company to maintain a Consolidated Indebtedness to Consolidated EBITDA Ratio (as defined in the
Credit Facility) of not greater than 3.75 to 1.00;
• customary restrictive covenants, which limit the Borrowers' ability to, among other things, create certain liens, effect fundamental changes to
their business, or merge or dispose substantially all of their assets, subject in each case to customary exceptions and amounts;
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•
•

customary events of default, upon the occurrence of which, after any applicable grace period, the requisite lenders will have the ability to
accelerate all outstanding loans thereunder and terminate the commitments; and
other customary and standard terms and conditions.

The Borrowers had no borrowings under the Credit Facility and the Company was in compliance with all related covenants as of and during the
year ended September 30, 2016 . The participating lenders in the Credit Facility include certain holders of the Company's class B and class C
common stock and U.K.&I and Europe preferred stock, certain of the Borrowers' customers and their affiliates.
Note 10—Pension, Postretirement and Other Benefits
The Company sponsors various qualified and non-qualified defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans that provide for
retirement and medical benefits for substantially all employees residing in the United States. The Company also sponsors other pension benefit
plans that provide benefits for internationally-based employees at certain non-U.S. locations. As a result of the acquisition of Visa Europe, the
Company assumed the obligations related to Visa Europe's defined benefit plan, primarily consisting of the U.K. funded and unfunded pension
plans.
Disclosures presented below include the U.S. pension plans and the non-U.S. plans, comprising only the Visa Europe plans. Disclosures
relating to other non-U.S. pension benefit plans are not included as they are immaterial, individually and in aggregate. The Company uses a
September 30 measurement date for its pension and other postretirement benefit plans.
Defined benefit pension plans. The U.S. pension benefits under the defined benefit pension plan are earned based on a cash balance formula. An
employee’s cash balance account is credited with an amount equal to 6% of eligible compensation plus interest based on 30-year Treasury
securities. In October 2015, the Company's board of directors approved an amendment of the U.S. qualified defined benefit pension plan such that
the Company discontinued employer provided credits after December 31, 2015. Plan participants continue to earn interest credits on existing
balances at the time of the freeze. As a result, a curtailment gain totaling $8 million was recognized in fiscal 2016 as part of the Company's net
periodic benefit cost.
The funding policy for the U.S. pension benefits is to contribute annually no less than the minimum required contribution under ERISA.
Under the Visa Europe U.K. pension plans, presented below under "non-U.S. plans", retirement benefits are provided based on the participants'
final pensionable pay and are currently closed to new entrants. However, future benefits continue to accrue for active participants. The funding policy
is to contribute in accordance with the appropriate funding requirements agreed with the trustees of the U.K. pension plans. Additional amounts may
be agreed with the U.K. pension plan trustees.
Postretirement benefits plan. The postretirement benefits plan provides medical benefits for retirees and dependents who meet minimum age and
service requirements. Benefits are provided from retirement date until age 65 . Retirees must contribute on a monthly basis for the same coverage
that is generally available to active employees and their dependents. The Company’s contributions are funded on a current basis.
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Summary of Plan Activities
Change in Benefit Obligation:
U.S. Plans
Pension Benefits
September 30,
2016

2015

Non-U.S. Plans
Other
Postretirement Benefits

Pension Benefits

September 30,

September 30,

2016

2015

2016

(in millions)

Benefit obligation—beginning of fiscal year

$

1,005

$

983

$

18

$

20

$

—

Visa Europe acquisition

—

—

—

—

381

Service cost

13

47

—

—

1

Interest cost

40

40

1

1

3

Actuarial loss (gain)

86

40

(2)

—

86

(64)

(105)

(3)

(3)

(1)

Benefit payments
Plan amendment

(8)

—

—

—

—

Foreign currency exchange rate changes

—

—

—

—

4

Benefit obligation—end of fiscal year

$

1,072

$

1,005

Accumulated benefit obligation

$

1,072

$

994

$

1,022

$

1,117

$

14

$

NA

18

$

474

NA

$

474

—

$

Change in Plan Assets:
Fair value of plan assets—beginning of fiscal year
Visa Europe acquisition

—

Actual return on plan assets

118

Company contribution
Benefit payments
Foreign currency exchange rate changes

$

—

$

—

—

—

—
287

(6)

—

—

25

1

16

3

3

102

(64)

(105)

(3)

(3)

—

—

—

(1)

—

2

Fair value of plan assets—end of fiscal year

$

1,077

$

1,022

$

—

$

—

$

415

Funded status at end of fiscal year

$

5

$

17

$

(14)

$

(18)

$

(59)

$

22

$

36

$

—

$

—

$

—

Recognized in Consolidated Balance Sheets:
Non-current asset
Current liability

(9)

(9)

(3)

(3)

(6)

Non-current liability

(8)

(10)

(11)

(15)

(53)

Funded status at end of fiscal year

$

5
90
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17

$

(14)

$

(18)

$

(59)
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Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income before tax:
U.S. Plans

Non-U.S. Plans

Pension Benefits

Other
Postretirement Benefits

Pension Benefits

September 30,

September 30,

September 30

2016

2015

2016

2015

2016

(in millions)

Net actuarial loss (gain)

$

Prior service credit
Total

241

$

232

—
$

241

$

(5)

(9)
$

223

$

(5)

(2)
$

(7)

$

66

(5)
$

—

(10)

$

66

Amounts from accumulated other comprehensive income to be amortized into net periodic benefit cost in fiscal 2017 :
U.S. Plans

Non-U.S. Plans

Other
Postretirement
Benefits

Pension Benefits

Pension Benefits

(in millions)

Actuarial loss (gain)

$

15

Prior service credit

$

(1)

—

Total

$

15

$

2

(2)
$

(3)

—
$

2

Benefit obligations in excess of plan assets related to the Company's U.S. non-qualified plan and the non-U.S. pension plans:
U.S. Plans

Non-U.S. Plans

September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015

2016

(in millions)

Accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets
Accumulated benefit obligation—end of year

$

(16)

$

(19)

$

(474)

Fair value of plan assets—end of year

$

—

$

—

$

415

Benefit obligation—end of year

$

(16)

$

(19)

$

474

Fair value of plan assets—end of year

$

—

$

—

$

415

Projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets
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Net periodic pension and other postretirement plan cost:

U.S. Plans

Non-U.S. Plans (1)
Other
Postretirement Benefits

Pension Benefits

Pension Benefits

Fiscal
2016

2015

2014

2016

2015

2014

2016

(in millions)

Service cost

$

Interest cost
Expected return on assets

13

$

47

$

46

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

1

40

40

42

1

1

1

3

(69)

(72)

(68)

—

—

—

(4)

(1)

(7)

(8)

(3)

(3)

(3)

—

Amortization of:
Prior service credit
Actuarial loss (gain)
Net benefit cost

7
$

(10)

1
$

1

9

$

13

(2)
$

(2)

(4)

$

(1)

(4)

$

(3)

—
$

—

Curtailment gain

(8)

—

(3)

—

—

—

—

Settlement loss

13

7

3

—

—

—

—

Total net periodic benefit cost
(1)

$

(5)

$

16

$

13

$

(4)

$

(4)

$

(3)

$

—

Represents Visa Europe's U.K. pension plans' net pension benefit cost recognized from the Closing through September 30, 2016.
Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in other comprehensive income:
U.S. Plans
Pension Benefits
2016

Non-U.S. Plans
Pension
Benefits

Other Postretirement Benefits

2015

2016

2015

2016

(in millions)

Current year actuarial loss (gain)

$

30

Amortization of actuarial (loss) gain
Current year prior service credit
Amortization of prior service credit

$

119

$

(2)

$

—

$

66

(20)

(8)

2

2

—

—

—

—

—

—

9

7

3

3

—

Total recognized in other comprehensive income

$

19

$

118

$

3

$

5

$

66

Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and other
comprehensive income

$

14

$

134

$

(1)

$

1

$

66
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Weighted Average Actuarial Assumptions:
U.S. Plans

Non-U.S. Plans
Fiscal

2016

Discount rate for benefit obligation:
Pension

2015

2014

2016

(1)

3.62%

4.33%

4.27%

2.40%

1.91%

2.43%

2.59%

NA

Pension

4.33%

4.27%

4.81%

3.10%

Postretirement

2.43%

2.59%

2.76%

NA

Postretirement
Discount rate for net periodic benefit cost:

7.00%

7.00%

7.00%

3.92%

Rate of increase in compensation levels for: (3)
Benefit obligation

NA

4.00%

4.00%

3.20%

Net periodic benefit cost

NA

4.00%

4.50%

3.00%

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets

(1)

(2)

(3)

(2)

Represents a single weighted-average discount rate derived based on a cash flow matching analysis, with the projected benefit payments
matching spot rates from a yield curve developed from high-quality corporate bonds.
Primarily based on the targeted allocation, and evaluated for reasonableness by considering such factors as: (i) actual return on plan assets;
(ii) historical rates of return on various asset classes in the portfolio; (iii) projections of returns on various asset classes; and (iv) current and
prospective capital market conditions and economic forecasts.
This assumption is not applicable for to the U.S. plans in fiscal 2016 due to the amendment of the U.S. qualified defined benefit pension plan in
October 2015, which discontinued the employer provided credits effective after December 31, 2015.

The assumed annual rate of future increases in health benefits for the other postretirement benefits plan is 8% for fiscal 2017 . The rate is
assumed to decrease to 5% by 2021 and remain at that level thereafter. These trend rates reflect management’s expectations of future rates.
Increasing or decreasing the healthcare cost trend by 1% would change the postretirement plan benefit obligation by less than $1 million .
Pension Plan Assets
Pension plan assets are managed with a long-term perspective to ensure that there is an adequate level of assets to support benefit payments
to participants over the life of the pension plan. Pension plan assets are managed by external investment managers. Investment manager
performance is measured against benchmarks for each asset class on a quarterly basis. An independent consultant assists management with
investment manager selections and performance evaluations.
Pension plan assets are broadly diversified to maintain a prudent level of risk and to provide adequate liquidity for benefit payments. The
Company generally evaluates and rebalances the pension plan assets, as appropriate, to ensure that allocations are consistent with target allocation
ranges. The weighted average targeted allocation for U.S. pension plan assets is as follows: equity securities of 50% to 80% , fixed income
securities of 25% to 35% and other, primarily consisting of cash equivalents to meet near term expected benefit payments and expenses, of up to
7% . At September 30, 2016 , U.S. pension plan asset allocations for these categories were 62% , 34% and 4% , respectively, which were within
target allocation ranges.
The weighted average targeted allocation for non-U.S. pension plans is as follows: equity securities of 40% , fixed income securities of 20%
and other of 40% , consisting of cash, multi-asset funds, and property. At September 30, 2016 , non-U.S. pension plan asset allocations for these
categories were 28% , 22% and 50% , respectively. The actual allocated percentage to other category exceeding the target is attributed to the $102
million cash contribution made in September 2016.
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The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the pension plan’s investments at fair value as of September 30, 2016
and 2015 , including the impact of transactions that were not settled at the end of September:
U.S. Plans
Fair Value Measurements at September 30,
Level 1
2016

Level 2
2015

2016

Level 3
2015

2016

Total
2015

2016

2015

(in millions)

Cash equivalents

$

39

$

11

Corporate debt securities

$
$

U.S. government-sponsored debt securities

185

$

100

74

672

671

185

169

30

66

100

74

$
$

Total

811

$

756

$

215

$

11

66

Asset-backed securities
Equity securities

$

169

30

U.S. Treasury securities

39

235

$

51
51

$

31

$

31

51

31

672

671

$ 1,077

$ 1,022

Non-U.S. Plans
Fair Value Measurements at September 30, 2016
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

(in millions)

Cash equivalents

$

105

Corporate debt securities

$
$

U.K. Treasury securities

39

52
$

(1)

29

29

116

116
74

Multi-asset securities (1)
Total

39

52

Asset-backed securities
Equity securities
$

273

105

$

113

74
$

29

$

415

Multi-asset securities represents pension plan assets that are invested in funds comprised of broad ranges of assets.

Level 1 assets. Cash equivalents (money market funds, time deposits and treasury bills), U.S. and U.K. Treasury securities and equity
securities are classified as Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy, as fair value is based on quoted prices in active markets.
Level 2 assets. The fair values of U.S. government-sponsored, corporate debt and multi-asset securities are based on quoted prices in active
markets for similar assets as provided by third-party pricing vendors. This pricing data is reviewed internally for reasonableness through
comparisons with benchmark quotes from independent third-party sources. Based on this review, the valuation is confirmed or revised accordingly.
Level 3 assets. Asset-backed securities are bonds that are backed by various types of assets and primarily consist of mortgage-backed
securities. Asset-backed securities are classified as Level 3 due to a lack of observable inputs in measuring fair value.
There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 assets during fiscal 2016 or 2015 . A separate roll-forward of Level 3 plan assets
measured at fair value is not presented because activities during fiscal 2016 and 2015 were immaterial.
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Cash Flows
U.S. Plans

Non-U.S. Plans

Other
Postretirement
Benefits

Pension
Benefits

Actual employer contributions

Pension Benefits

(in millions)

2016

$

1

$

3

$

102

2015

$

16

$

3

$

—

$

9

$

3

$

6

2017

$

165

$

3

$

4

2018

$

88

$

3

$

4

2019

$

85

$

2

$

5

2020

$

84

$

2

$

5

2021

$

81

$

2

$

5

2022-2026

$

350

$

2

$

27

Expected employer contributions
2017
Expected benefit payments

Other Benefits
The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan, or 401(k) plan, that covers substantially all of its employees residing in the United States.
Personnel costs included $55 million , $49 million and $46 million in fiscal 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively, for expenses attributable to the
Company’s employees under the 401(k) plan. The Company’s contributions to this 401(k) plan are funded on a current basis, and the related
expenses are recognized in the period that the payroll expenses are incurred.
Note 11—Settlement Guarantee Management
The Company indemnifies its clients for settlement losses suffered due to failure of any other client to fund its settlement obligations in
accordance with the Visa Rules. This indemnification creates settlement risk for the Company due to the difference in timing between the date of a
payment transaction and the date of subsequent settlement. Settlement at risk, or exposure, is estimated based on the sum of the following inputs:
(1) average daily volumes during the quarter multiplied by the estimated number of days to settle plus a safety margin; (2) four months of rolling
average chargebacks volume; and (3) the total balance for outstanding Visa Travelers Cheques.
The Company maintains and regularly reviews global settlement risk policies and procedures to manage settlement exposure, which may
require clients to post collateral if certain credit standards are not met.
The Company's settlement exposure is limited to the amount of unsettled Visa payment transactions at any point in time. The Company's
estimated maximum settlement exposure was $67.8 billion for the period ended September 30, 2016 , including Visa Europe, compared to $43.5
billion for the period ended September 30, 2015 , which excludes Visa Europe. The increase in the Company's estimated maximum settlement
exposure for the period ended September 30, 2016 is due to the Visa Europe acquisition. Of these amounts, $2.9 billion and $2.2 billion at
September 30, 2016 and 2015 , respectively, were covered by collateral. The total available collateral balances presented below were greater than
the settlement exposure covered by customer collateral held due to instances in which the available collateral exceeded the total settlement
exposure for certain financial institutions at each date presented.
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The Company maintained collateral as follows:
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015

(in millions)

Cash equivalents

$

Pledged securities at market value

1,295

$

1,023

170

154

Letters of credit

1,311

1,178

Guarantees

1,418

971

Total

$

4,194

$

3,326

The balances above included collateral held by Visa Europe as follows:
September 30,
2016
(in millions)

Cash equivalents (1)

$

Pledged securities at market value

294
—

Letters of credit

144

Guarantees

375

Total
(1)

$

813

Cash collateral held by Visa Europe is not included on the Company's consolidated balance sheet as its clients retain beneficial ownership and
the cash is only accessible to the Company in the event of default by the client on its settlement obligations.

Cash equivalents collateral, excluding cash collateral held by Visa Europe, is reflected in customer collateral on the consolidated balance
sheets as it is held in escrow in the Company's name. All other collateral is excluded from the consolidated balance sheets. Pledged securities are
held by third parties in trust for the Company and clients. Letters of credit are provided primarily by client financial institutions to serve as irrevocable
guarantees of payment. Guarantees are provided primarily by parent financial institutions to secure the obligations of their subsidiaries. The
Company routinely evaluates the financial viability of institutions providing the guarantees.
The fair value of the settlement risk guarantee is estimated using a proprietary model which considers statistically derived loss factors based on
historical experience, estimated settlement exposures at period end and a standardized grading process for clients (using, where available, thirdparty estimates of the probability of customer failure). Historically, the Company experienced minimal losses, which has contributed to an estimated
probability-weighted value of the guarantee of approximately $2 million and $1 million at September 30, 2016 and 2015 , respectively. These
amounts were reflected in accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.
Note 12—Derivative and Non-derivative Financial Instruments
Derivative Financial Instruments
Designated derivative financial instrument hedges. The Company maintains a rolling cash flow hedge program with the objective of reducing
foreign currency exchange rate risk from forecasted net exposures of revenues and expenses derived from and payments made in non-functional
currencies during the following twelve months. The aggregate notional amount of the Company's derivative contracts outstanding in its hedge
program was $1.6 billion at September 30, 2016 and $1.2 billion at September 30, 2015 . The increase in the aggregate notional amounts of the
Company's derivative contracts includes the addition of $189 million notional of derivative contracts entered into for Visa Europe after the Closing.
As of September 30, 2016 , the Company’s cash flow hedges in an asset position totaled $17 million and were classified in prepaid expenses and
other current assets on the consolidated balance sheet, while cash flow hedges in a liability position totaled $78 million and were classified in
accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. These amounts are subject to master netting agreements, which provide the Company with a
legal right to net settle multiple payable and receivable positions with the same counterparty, in a
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single currency through a single payment. However, the Company presents fair values on a gross basis on the consolidated balance sheets . See
Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies .
To qualify for cash flow hedge accounting treatment, the Company formally documents, at inception of the hedge, all relationships between the
hedging transactions and the hedged items, as well as the Company's risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge
transactions. The Company also formally assesses whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting
changes in the cash flows of the hedged items and whether those derivatives may be expected to remain highly effective in future periods.
The Company uses regression analysis to assess hedge effectiveness prospectively and retrospectively. The effectiveness tests are performed
on the foreign exchange forward contracts based on changes in the spot rate of the derivative instrument compared to changes in the spot rate of
the forecasted hedged transaction. Forward points are excluded for effectiveness testing and measurement purposes. The excluded forward points
are reported in earnings. For fiscal 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , the amounts by which earnings were reduced relating to excluded forward points were
$30 million , $29 million and $27 million , respectively.
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivative contracts is recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive
income or loss on the consolidated balance sheets. When the forecasted transaction occurs and is recognized in earnings, the amount in
accumulated other comprehensive income or loss related to that hedge is reclassified to operating revenue or expense. The Company expects to
reclassify $58 million of pre-tax losses to earnings during fiscal 2017.
Non-designated derivative financial instrument hedges. The Company entered into currency forward contracts during the second and third
quarters of fiscal 2016 to mitigate a portion of the foreign currency exchange rate risk associated with the upfront cash consideration paid in the Visa
Europe acquisition with additional offsetting currency forward contracts entered into subsequently to eliminate its risk-mitigation positions. All
contracts matured during the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2016. As these contracts were not designated in hedging relationships, related gains
and losses were recorded directly in earnings as part of non-operating income in the consolidated financial statements. The Company recorded net
gains of $74 million related to these contracts in fiscal 2016.
Subsequent to the acquisition of Visa Europe, the Company entered into currency forward contracts to offset Visa Europe hedges outstanding
at the date of the acquisition that did not qualify for cash flow hedge accounting treatment in accordance with U.S. GAAP or the Company’s
accounting policy. The fair values of both the original currency forward contracts and the offsetting hedges are classified in prepaid expenses and
other current assets, non-current other assets, accrued liabilities and non-current other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.
The Company utilizes foreign exchange derivative contracts to hedge against foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations related to certain
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency held by Visa Europe. As of September 30, 2016 , the aggregate notional amount of
these balance sheet hedges was $1.1 billion . The Company did not have any balance sheet hedges outstanding at September 30, 2015 . Gains and
losses on the derivative contracts partially offset gains and losses on the hedged monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency.
These amounts are recorded in general and administrative in the Company's consolidated statement of operations as these instruments are not
designated for hedge accounting.
Credit and market risks. The Company's derivative financial instruments are subject to both credit and market risk. The Company monitors the
credit-worthiness of the financial institutions that are counterparties to its derivative financial instruments and does not consider the risks of
counterparty nonperformance to be significant. The Company mitigates this risk by entering into master netting agreements, and except for
derivative instruments entered into by Visa Europe, such agreements require each party to post collateral against its net liability position with the
respective counterparty. As of September 30, 2016 , the Company has received collateral of $8 million from counterparties, which is included in
accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet, and posted collateral of $54 million , which is included in other assets in the consolidated
balance sheet. Notwithstanding the Company’s efforts to manage foreign exchange risk, there can be no absolute assurance that its hedging
activities will adequately protect against the risks associated with foreign currency fluctuations. Credit and market risks related to derivative
instruments were not considered significant at September 30, 2016 .
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Additional disclosures that demonstrate how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity's financial position, financial
performance and cash flows have not been presented because the impact of derivative instruments is immaterial to the overall consolidated financial
statements.
Non-derivative Financial Instrument Designated as a Net Investment Hedge
The Company designated the euro-denominated deferred cash consideration liability of $1.2 billion (see Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe ),
a non-derivative financial instrument, as a hedge against a portion of the foreign currency exchange rate exposure of the Company's eurodenominated net investment of $18.8 billion in Visa Europe. Changes in the value of the deferred cash consideration liability, attributable to the
change in exchange rates at the end of each reporting period, partially offset the foreign currency translation of the Company's net investment
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income in the Company's consolidated balance sheet. Changes in the euro exchange rate against
the U.S. dollar from the acquisition date of June 21, 2016 to the balance sheet date of September 30, 2016 resulted in net foreign currency
translation adjustments of $218 million .
Note 13—Enterprise-wide Disclosures and Concentration of Business
The Company’s long-lived net property, equipment and technology assets are classified by major geographic areas as follows:
September 30,
2016

September 30,
2015
(in millions)

United States

$

1,827

$

2,150

International

$

1,806

$

1,888

323

Total

82

Revenue by geographic market is primarily based on the location of the issuing financial institution. Revenues earned in the United States were
approximately 52% of net operating revenues in fiscal 2016 , 53% in fiscal 2015 and 54% in fiscal 2014 . No individual country, other than the United
States, generated more than 10% of net operating revenues in these years.
A significant portion of Visa’s operating revenues is concentrated among its largest clients. Loss of business from any of these clients could
have an adverse effect on the Company. The Company did not have any customer that generated greater than 10% of its net operating revenues in
fiscal 2016 , 2015 or 2014 .
Note 14—Stockholders' Equity
Visa Europe acquisition. In connection with the Visa Europe acquisition, three new series of preferred stock of the Company were created.
Upon issuance, all of the preferred stock participate on an as-converted basis in regular quarterly cash dividends declared on the Company's class A
common stock. Additionally, Visa Europe holds shares of Visa Inc.'s class C common stock, which were treated as treasury stock in purchase
accounting. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe .
Class A common stock split. In January 2015, Visa’s board of directors declared a four -for-one split of its class A common stock. Each class A
common stockholder as of the record date received a dividend of three additional shares for every share held as of the record date. Holders of class
B and C common stock did not receive a stock dividend. Instead, the conversion rate for class B common stock increased to 1.6483 shares of class
A common stock per share of class B common stock, and the conversion rate for class C common stock increased to 4.0 shares of class A common
stock per share of class C common stock. Immediately following the split, the class A, B and C stockholders retained the same relative ownership
percentages that they had prior to the stock split. All per share amounts and number of shares outstanding in these consolidated financial
statements and accompanying notes are presented on a post-split basis. As a result of the stock split, all historical per share data and number of
shares outstanding presented have been retroactively adjusted.
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As-converted class A common stock. The U.K.&I and Europe preferred stock, issued in the Visa Europe acquisition, is convertible upon certain
conditions into shares of class A common stock or class A equivalent preferred stock, at an initial conversion rate of 13.952 shares of class A
common stock for each share of U.K.&I preferred stock and Europe preferred stock. The conversion rates may be reduced from time to time to offset
certain liabilities. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe and Note 3—U.S. and Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plans .
The number of shares of each series and class and the number of shares of class A common stock on an as-converted basis at September 30,
2016 , are as follows:
Shares
Outstanding

(in millions, except conversion rate)

Conversion Rate Into
Class A Common Stock

As-converted Class A
Common Stock (1)

U.K.&I preferred stock

2

13.9520

35

Europe preferred stock

3

13.9520

44

Class A common stock

(2)

1,871

—

Class B common stock

245

1.6483

Class C common stock

17

4.0000

1,871
405

(3)

67
2,422

Total
(1)

(2)

(3)

Figures in the table may not recalculate exactly due to rounding. As-converted class A common stock is calculated based on unrounded
numbers.
Class A common stock shares outstanding reflect repurchases settled on or before September 30, 2016. The Company repurchased an
additional 1 million shares at the end of September, which did not settle until October 2016.
The class B to class A common stock conversion rate is presented on a rounded basis. Conversion calculations for dividend payments are based
on a conversion rate rounded to the tenth decimal.
Common stock repurchases. The following table presents share repurchases in the open market during the following fiscal years:

(in millions, except per share data)

Shares repurchased in the open market

2016 (1)

Average repurchase price per share (3)
Total cost
(1)

(2)
(3)

2015

91

(2)

44

$

77.05

$

65.98

$

6,987

$

2,910

Shares repurchased in the open market reflect repurchases settled on or before September 30, 2016. The Company repurchased an additional 1
million shares for $120 million at the end of September, which did not settle until October 2016.
All shares repurchased in the open market have been retired and constitute authorized but unissued shares.
Figures in the table may not recalculate exactly due to rounding. Average repurchase price per share is calculated based on unrounded numbers.

The Company's board of directors authorized share repurchase programs in October 2015 and July 2016 at $5.0 billion each. As of
September 30, 2016 , the programs had remaining authorized funds of $5.8 billion . All share repurchase programs authorized prior to October 2015
have been completed.
Visa Europe held approximately 550,000 shares of the Company's class C common stock valued at $170 million at the Closing, which was
recorded as treasury stock at the time of the acquisition.
Class B common stock. The class B common stock is not convertible or transferable until the date on which all of the U.S. covered litigation has
been finally resolved. This transfer restriction is subject to limited exceptions, including transfers to other holders of class B common stock. After
termination of the restrictions, the class B common stock will be convertible into class A common stock if transferred to a person that was not a Visa
Member (as defined in the current certificate of incorporation) or similar person or an affiliate of a Visa Member or similar
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person. Upon such transfer, each share of class B common stock will automatically convert into a number of shares of class A common stock based
upon the applicable conversion rate in effect at the time of such transfer.
Adjustment of the conversion rate occurs upon: (i) the completion of any follow-on offering of class A common stock completed to increase the
size of the U.S. litigation escrow account (or any cash deposit by the Company in lieu thereof) resulting in a further corresponding decrease in the
conversion rate; or (ii) the final resolution of the U.S. covered litigation and the release of funds remaining on deposit in the U.S. litigation escrow
account to the Company resulting in a corresponding increase in the conversion rate. There were no deposits into the U.S. litigation escrow account
in fiscal 2016 or 2015. See Note 3—U.S. and Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plans .
Class C common stock. As of September 30, 2016 , all of the shares of class C common stock have been released from transfer restrictions. A
total of 134 million shares have been converted from class C to class A common stock upon their sale into the public market and approximately
550,000 shares held by Visa Europe were recorded as treasury stock at the time of the acquisition.
Preferred stock. Preferred stock may be issued as redeemable or non-redeemable, and has preference over any class of common stock with
respect to the payment of dividends and distribution of the Company’s assets in the event of a liquidation or dissolution. The Company had 5 million
shares of U.K.&I and Europe preferred stock outstanding at the end of fiscal 2016 and no shares of preferred stock outstanding at the end of fiscal
2015. The shares of U.K.&I and Europe preferred stock are subject to restrictions on transfer and may become convertible in stages based on
developments in the VE territory covered litigation. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe .
Voting rights. The holders of the U.K.&I and Europe preferred stock have no right to vote on any matters, except for certain defined matters,
including, in specified circumstances, any consolidation, merger, combination or similar transaction of the Company in which the preferred
stockholders would either (i) receive shares of common stock or other equity securities of the Company with preferences, rights and privileges that
are not substantially identical to the preferences, rights and privileges of the applicable series of preferred stock or (ii) receive securities, cash or
other property that is different from what our class A common stockholders would receive. With respect to these limited matters on which the holders
of preferred stock may vote, approval by the preferred stockholders requires the affirmative vote of the outstanding voting power of each such series
of preferred stock, each such series voting as a single class. In either case, the U.K.&I and Europe preferred stockholders are entitled to cast a
number of votes equal to the number of shares held by each such holder.
Class A common stockholders have the right to vote on all matters on which stockholders generally are entitled to vote. Class B and C common
stockholders have no right to vote on any matters, except for certain defined matters, including (i) any decision to exit the core payments business,
in which case the class B and C common stockholders will vote together with the class A common stockholders in a single class, and (ii) in specified
circumstances, any consolidation, merger, combination or similar transaction of the Company, in which case the class B and C common
stockholders will vote together as a single class. In either case, the class B and C common stockholders are entitled to cast a number of votes equal
to the number of shares of class B or C common stock held multiplied by the applicable conversion rate in effect on the record date. Holders of the
Company's common stock have no right to vote on any amendment to the current certificate of incorporation that relates solely to any series of
preferred stock.
Dividends declared. The Company declared and paid $1.4 billion in dividends in fiscal 2016 at a quarterly rate of $0.14 per share. In October
2016 , the Company’s board of directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.165 per share of class A common stock (determined in the case of
class B and C common stock and U.K.&I and Europe preferred stock on an as-converted basis), which will be paid on December 6, 2016 , to all
holders of record of the Company’s common and preferred stock as of November 18, 2016 .
Note 15—Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income available to each class by the weighted-average number of shares of common
stock outstanding and participating securities during the period. Net income is allocated to each class of common stock and participating securities
based on its proportional ownership on an as-converted basis. The weighted-average number of shares of each class of common stock outstanding
reflects changes in ownership over the periods presented. See Note 14—Stockholders' Equity .
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Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income available by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock
outstanding, participating securities and, if dilutive, potential class A common stock equivalent shares outstanding during the period. Dilutive class A
common stock equivalents may consist of: (1) shares of class A common stock issuable upon the conversion of U.K.&I and Europe preferred stock
and class B and C common stock based on the conversion rates in effect through the period, and (2) incremental shares of class A common stock
calculated by applying the treasury stock method to the assumed exercise of employee stock options, the assumed purchase of stock under the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan and the assumed vesting of unearned performance shares.
The following table presents earnings per share for fiscal 2016 . (1)
Basic Earnings Per Share

Diluted Earnings Per Share
(in millions, except per share data)

Income
Allocation
(A) (2)

Class A common stock

$

WeightedAverage
Shares
Outstanding (B)

Earnings per
Share =
(A)/(B)

Income
Allocation
(A) (2)

WeightedAverage
Shares
Outstanding (B)

Earnings per
Share =
(A)/(B)

4,738

1,906

$

2.49

$

5,991

2,414

$

2.48

Class B common stock

1,006

245

$

4.10

$

1,004

245

$

4.09

Class C common stock

185

19

$

9.94

$

185

19

$

9.93

Not presented

$

61

Not presented

62

Participating securities (4)
Net income

$

Not presented

(3)

Not presented

5,991

The following table presents earnings per share for fiscal 2015 . (1)
Basic Earnings Per Share

Diluted Earnings Per Share
(in millions, except per share data)

Income
Allocation
(A) (2)

Class A common stock

$

WeightedAverage
Shares
Outstanding (B)

Earnings per
Share =
(A)/(B)

Income
Allocation
(A) (2)

WeightedAverage
Shares
Outstanding (B)

Earnings per
Share =
(A)/(B)

5,044

1,954

$

2.58

$

6,328

2,457

$

2.58

Class B common stock

1,045

245

$

4.26

$

1,042

245

$

4.25

Class C common stock

224

22

$

10.33

$

223

22

$

15

Not presented

Not presented

$

15

Not presented

Participating securities (4)
Net income

$

(3)

10.30
Not presented

6,328

The following table presents earnings per share for fiscal 2014 . (1)
Basic Earnings Per Share

Diluted Earnings Per Share
(in millions, except per share data)

Income
Allocation
(A) (2)

Class A common stock

$

WeightedAverage
Shares
Outstanding (B)

Earnings per
Share =
(A)/(B)

Income
Allocation
(A) (2)

WeightedAverage
Shares
Outstanding (B)

Earnings per
Share =
(A)/(B)

4,307

1,993

$

2.16

$

5,438

2,523

$

2.16

Class B common stock

892

245

$

3.63

$

890

245

$

3.62

Class C common stock

222

26

$

8.65

$

221

26

$

17

Not presented

Not presented

$

16

Not presented

Participating securities (4)
Net income
(1)

(2)

$

(3)

8.62
Not presented

5,438

Figures in the table may not recalculate exactly due to rounding. Earnings per share is calculated based on unrounded numbers. The number of
shares and per share amounts for the prior periods presented have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the four -for-one stock split effected in
the fiscal second quarter of 2015. See Note 14—Stockholders' Equity .
Net income attributable to Visa Inc. is allocated based on proportional ownership on an as-converted basis. The weighted-average number of
shares of as-converted class B common stock used in the income allocation were
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(3)

(4)

405 million for fiscal 2016 and 2015 and 413 million for fiscal 2014. The weighted-average number of shares of as-converted class C common
stock used in the income allocation was 75 million , 87 million and 103 million for fiscal 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively.
Weighted-average diluted shares outstanding are calculated on an as-converted basis, and include incremental common stock equivalents, as
calculated under the treasury stock method. The computation includes 5 million , 6 million and 7 million common stock equivalents for fiscal 2016
, 2015 and 2014 , respectively, because their effect would have been dilutive. The computation excludes 2 million of common stock equivalents
for fiscal 2016 , 2015 and 2014 because their effect would have been anti-dilutive.
Participating securities include preferred stock outstanding and unvested share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to
dividends or dividend equivalents, such as the Company's U.K.&I and Europe preferred stock, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units and
earned performance-based shares. U.K.&I and Europe preferred stock were issued as part of the purchase price consideration in connection with
the Visa Europe acquisition and are convertible into a number of shares of class A common stock or class A equivalent preferred stock upon
certain conditions. Participating securities' income is allocated based on the weighted-average number of shares of as-converted stock. See Note
2—Acquisition of Visa Europe and Note 14—Stockholders' Equity .

Note 16—Share-based Compensation
2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
The Company’s 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan, or the EIP, authorizes the compensation committee of the board of directors to
grant non-qualified stock options ("options"), restricted stock awards ("RSAs"), restricted stock units ("RSUs") and performance-based shares to its
employees and non-employee directors, for up to 236 million shares of class A common stock. Shares available for award may be either authorized
and unissued or previously issued shares subsequently acquired by the Company. The EIP will continue to be in effect until all of the common stock
available under the EIP is delivered and all restrictions on those shares have lapsed, unless the EIP is terminated earlier by the Company’s board of
directors. In January 2016, the Company's board of directors approved an amendment of the EIP effective February 3, 2016, such that awards may
be granted under the plan until January 31, 2022.
Share-based compensation cost is recorded net of estimated forfeitures on a straight-line basis for awards with service conditions only, and on
a graded-vesting basis for awards with service, performance and market conditions. The Company’s estimated forfeiture rate is based on an
evaluation of historical, actual and trended forfeiture data. For fiscal 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , the Company recorded share-based compensation cost
related to the EIP of $211 million , $184 million and $172 million , respectively, in personnel on its consolidated statements of operations. The related
tax benefits were $62 million , $54 million and $51 million for fiscal 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively. The amount of capitalized share-based
compensation cost was immaterial during fiscal 2016 , 2015 and 2014 .
All per share amounts and number of shares outstanding presented below reflect the four -for-one stock split that was effected in the second
quarter of fiscal 2015. See Note 14—Stockholders' Equity .
Options
Options issued under the EIP expire 10 years from the date of grant and primarily vest ratably over 3 years from the date of grant, subject to
earlier vesting in full under certain conditions.
During fiscal 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , the fair value of each stock option was estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing
model with the following weighted-average assumptions:
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2016

Expected term (in years)
Risk-free rate of return

(2)

Expected volatility (3)

(2)
(3)

(4)

$

2014

4.55

4.80

1.5%

1.5%

1.3%

21.7%

22.0%

25.2%

0.7%

Expected dividend yield (4)
Fair value per option granted
(1)

2015

4.35

(1)

15.01

0.8%
$

12.04

0.8%
$

11.03

This assumption is based on the Company's historical option exercises and those of a set of peer companies that management believes is
generally comparable to Visa. The Company's data is weighted based on the number of years between the measurement date and Visa's initial
public offering as a percentage of the options' contractual term. The relative weighting placed on Visa's data and peer data in fiscal 2016 was
approximately 77% and 23% , respectively, 67% and 33% in fiscal 2015, respectively, and 58% and 42% in fiscal 2014, respectively.
Based upon the zero coupon U.S. treasury bond rate over the expected term of the awards.
Based on the Company’s implied and historical volatility. The expected volatilities ranged from 20% to 23% in fiscal 2016 , 21% to 23% in fiscal
2015, and 22% to 26% in fiscal 2014.
Based on the Company’s annual dividend rate on the date of grant.
The following table summarizes the Company’s option activity for fiscal 2016 :

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price
Per Share

Options

Outstanding at October 1, 2015

9,677,717

$

28.07

Granted

1,438,048

$

79.98

Forfeited

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Term
(in years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value (1)
(in millions)

(463,378)

$

21.76

(1,775,903)

$

20.00

Outstanding at September 30, 2016

8,876,484

$

38.42

5.2

$393

Options exercisable at September 30, 2016

6,204,589

$

24.87

3.8

$359

8,582,576

$

37.35

5.1

$389

Exercised

Options exercisable and expected to vest at September 30, 2016
(2)

(1)

(2)

Calculated using the closing stock price on the last trading day of fiscal 2016 of $82.70 , less the option exercise price, multiplied by the number
of instruments.
Applies a forfeiture rate to unvested options outstanding at September 30, 2016 to estimate the options expected to vest in the future.

For the options exercised during fiscal 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , the total intrinsic value was $103 million , $134 million and $187 million ,
respectively, and the tax benefit realized was $35 million , $86 million and $65 million , respectively. As of September 30, 2016 , there was $19
million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested options, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of
approximately 1.4 years.
Restricted Stock Awards and Restricted Stock Units
RSAs and RSUs issued under the EIP primarily vest ratably over 3 years from the date of grant, subject to earlier vesting in full under certain
conditions.
Upon vesting, the RSAs are settled in class A common stock on a one-for-one basis. During the vesting period, RSA award recipients are
eligible to receive dividends and participate in the same voting rights as those granted to the holders of the underlying class A common stock. Upon
vesting, RSUs can be settled in class A common stock on a one-for-one basis or in cash, or a combination thereof, at the Company’s option. The
Company does not currently intend to settle any RSUs in cash. During the vesting period, RSU award recipients are eligible to
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receive dividend equivalents, but do not participate in the voting rights granted to the holders of the underlying class A common stock. The company
discontinued granting RSAs in fiscal 2016 but will continue to grant RSUs under the EIP.
The fair value and compensation cost before estimated forfeitures for RSAs and RSUs is calculated using the closing price of class A common
stock on the date of grant. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of RSAs granted during fiscal 2015 and 2014 was $63.71 and $49.98 ,
respectively. No RSAs were granted during fiscal 2016 . The weighted-average grant-date fair value of RSUs granted during fiscal 2016 , 2015 and
2014 was $79.77 , $62.88 and $49.44 , respectively. The total grant-date fair value of RSAs and RSUs vested during fiscal 2016 , 2015 and 2014
was $142 million , $132 million and $126 million , respectively.
The following table summarizes the Company's RSA and RSU activity for fiscal 2016 :

WeightedAverage
Grant Date
Fair Value

Restricted Stock
Awards

Outstanding at October 1, 2015
Granted
Vested
Outstanding at September 30, 2016
(1)

Units

RSA

RSU

4,064,687

1,442,522

$ 54.09

$ 53.80

—

2,735,115

$

—

$ 79.77

(789,180)

$ 49.06

$ 51.58

(241,503)

$ 59.34

$ 73.02

$ 59.26

$ 75.48

(2,061,406)

Forfeited

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Term
(in years)

(236,699)
1,766,582

3,146,954

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value (1)
(in millions)

RSA

RSU

RSA

RSU

0.8

1.7

$146

$260

Calculated by multiplying the closing stock price on the last trading day of fiscal 2016 of $82.70 by the number of instruments.

At September 30, 2016 , there was $54 million and $140 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested RSAs and RSUs,
respectively, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average7 period of approximately 0.8 years for RSAs and 1.7 years for RSUs.
Performance-based Shares
The following table summarizes the maximum number of performance-based shares which could be earned and related activity for fiscal 2016
:

WeightedAverage
Grant Date
Fair Value

Shares

Outstanding at October 1, 2015

1,263,962

$

57.61

Granted
Vested and earned

604,219

$

92.71

(645,320)

$

54.59

Unearned

(123,387)

$

54.59

(57,462)

$

73.07

$

78.24

(2)

Forfeited
Outstanding at September 30, 2016
(1)
(2)

1,042,012

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Term
(in years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value (1)
(in millions)

0.9

$86

Calculated by multiplying the closing stock price on the last trading day of fiscal 2016 of $82.70 by the number of instruments.
Represents the maximum number of performance-based shares which could be earned.

For the Company's performance-based shares, in addition to service conditions, the ultimate number of shares to be earned depends on the
achievement of both performance and market conditions. The performance condition
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is based on the Company's earnings per share target. The market condition is based on the Company's total shareholder return ranked against that
of other companies that are included in the Standard & Poor's 500 Index. The fair value of the performance-based shares, incorporating the market
condition, is estimated on the grant date using a Monte Carlo simulation model. The grant-date fair value of performance-based shares granted in
fiscal 2016 , 2015 and 2014 was $92.71 , $69.78 and $56.37 per share, respectively. Earned performance shares granted in fiscal 2016 , 2015 and
2014 vest approximately 3 years from the initial grant date. All performance awards are subject to earlier vesting in full under certain conditions.
Compensation cost for performance-based shares is initially estimated based on target performance. It is recorded net of estimated forfeitures
and adjusted as appropriate throughout the performance period. At September 30, 2016 , there was $18 million of total unrecognized compensation
cost related to unvested performance-based shares, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 0.9 years.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
In January 2015, the Company's class A stockholders approved the Visa Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”), under which
substantially all employees are eligible to participate. The ESPP permits eligible employees to purchase the Company’s class A common stock at a
15% discount of the stock price on the purchase date, subject to certain restrictions. A total of 20 million shares of class A common stock have been
reserved for issuance under the ESPP. The first offering date was April 1, 2015. The ESPP does not have a material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
Note 17—Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments. The Company leases certain premises and equipment throughout the world with varying expiration dates. The Company
incurred total rent expense of $134 million , $136 million and $134 million in fiscal 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively. Future minimum payments
on leases, and marketing and sponsorship agreements per fiscal year, at September 30, 2016 , are as follows:
2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

Thereafter

Total

(in millions)

Operating leases

$

Marketing and sponsorships
Total

126

$

126
$

252

103

$

128
$

231

82

$

120
$

202

61

$

110
$

171

57

$

190

$

223

38
$

95

$

619

$

1,174

33

555

Select sponsorship agreements require the Company to spend certain minimum amounts for advertising and marketing promotion over the life
of the contract. For commitments where the individual years of spend are not specified in the contract, the Company has estimated the timing of
when these amounts will be spent. In addition to the fixed payments stated above, select sponsorship agreements require the Company to
undertake marketing, promotional or other activities up to stated monetary values to support events which the Company is sponsoring. The stated
monetary value of these activities typically represents the value in the marketplace, which may be significantly higher than the actual costs incurred
by the Company.
Client incentives. The Company has agreements with financial institution clients and other business partners for various programs designed to
build payments volume, increase Visa product acceptance and win merchant routing transactions. These agreements, with terms ranging from one
year to sixteen years, can provide card issuance and/or conversion support, volume/growth targets and marketing and program support based on
specific performance requirements. These agreements are designed to encourage client business and to increase overall Visa- payment and
transaction volume, thereby reducing per-unit transaction processing costs and increasing brand awareness for all Visa clients.
Payments made that qualify for capitalization and obligations incurred under these programs are reflected in the consolidated balance sheet.
Client incentives are recognized primarily as a reduction to operating revenue in the period the related volumes and transactions occur, based on
management's estimate of the client's
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performance in accordance with the terms of the incentive agreement. The agreements may or may not limit the amount of client incentive
payments.
The table below sets forth the expected future reduction of revenue per fiscal year for client incentive agreements in effect at September 30,
2016 :
(in millions)

Client incentives

2017

$

4,211

2018

$

3,752

2019

$

3,211

2020

$

2021

2,628

$

Thereafter

2,245

$

Total

4,617

$

20,664

The amount of client incentives recorded as a reduction of revenue in future periods under the Company's incentive arrangements, will be
greater or less than the estimates above due to changes in performance expectations, actual client performance, amendments to existing contracts
or the execution of new contracts. Based on these agreements, increases in incentive payments are generally driven by increased payment and
transaction volume, and as a result, in the event incentive payments exceed the above estimates, such payments are not expected to have a
material effect on the Company's financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
Deferred purchase consideration. On June 21, 2016, we acquired 100% of the share capital of Visa Europe. In connection with the purchase,
we will pay an additional €1.0 billion , plus 4% compound annual interest, on the third anniversary of the Closing. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa
Europe to our consolidated financial statements.
Note 18—Related Parties
Visa considers an entity to be a related party for purposes of this disclosure if that entity owns more than 10% of Visa’s total voting common
stock at the end of the fiscal year, or if an officer or employee of that entity also serves on the Company's board of directors. The Company
considers an investee to be a related party if the Company’s: (i) ownership interest in the investee is greater than or equal to 10% or (ii) if the
investment is accounted for under the equity method of accounting. At September 30, 2016 and 2015 , no entity owned more than 10% of the
Company’s total voting common stock. There were no significant transactions with related parties during fiscal 2016 , 2015 and 2014 .
Note 19—Income Taxes
The Company’s income before taxes by fiscal year consisted of the following:
2016

2015

2014

(in millions)

U.S.

$

Non-U.S.

5,839

$

2,173

Total income before taxes

$

8,012

7,214

$

1,781
$

8,995

6,140
1,584

$

7,724

U.S. income before taxes included $2.5 billion , $2.4 billion and $2.3 billion of the Company's U.S. entities' income from operations outside of
the U.S. for fiscal 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively.
Income tax provision by fiscal year consisted of the following:
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2016

2015

2014

(in millions)

Current:
U.S. federal

$

2,250

$

1,991

$

2,353

State and local

181

168

237

Non-U.S.

368

300

274

2,799

2,459

2,864

Total current taxes
Deferred:
U.S. federal
State and local
Non-U.S.
Total deferred taxes
Total income tax provision

$

(508)

181

(576)

(63)

1

(31)

(207)

26

29

(778)

208

(578)

2,021

$

2,667

$

2,286

The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets and liabilities at September 30, 2016 and
2015 , are presented below:
2016

2015
(in millions)

Deferred Tax Assets:
Accrued compensation and benefits

$

277

$

141

Comprehensive (income) loss

106

51

Accrued litigation obligation

373

391

Client incentives

266

191

32

50

195

203

Net operating loss carryforwards
Federal benefit of state taxes
Federal benefit of foreign taxes
Other
Valuation allowance

1,214

—

280

185

(31)

Deferred tax assets

(40)

2,712

1,172

Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Property, equipment and technology, net
Intangible assets

(278)

(315)

(7,013)

(3,964)

Foreign taxes

(106)

(153)

Other

(101)

Deferred tax liabilities

—

(7,498)

Net deferred tax liabilities

$

(4,786)

(4,432)
$

(3,260)

The increase in the net deferred tax liabilities primarily reflect the deferred tax impacts of the intangible assets acquired in the Visa Europe
acquisition. At September 30, 2016 and 2015, net deferred tax assets of $22 million and $13 million , respectively, are reflected in other assets on
the consolidated balance sheets.
In November 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2015-17, which simplifies the presentation of deferred income taxes by
requiring that deferred tax assets and liabilities be presented as non-current. The standard impacts presentation only. The Company elected to early
adopt the standard on a retrospective basis effective October 1, 2015, and all deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets. All prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current period presentation.
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In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of the deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income
during the periods in which those temporary differences are deductible. The fiscal 2016 and 2015 valuation allowances relate primarily to foreign net
operating losses from subsidiaries acquired in recent years.
As of September 30, 2016 , the Company had $17 million federal, $21 million state and $117 million foreign net operating loss carryforwards.
The federal and state net operating loss carryforwards will expire in fiscal 2028 through 2035 . The foreign net operating loss may be carried forward
indefinitely. The Company expects to fully utilize the federal and state net operating loss carryforwards in future years.
As of September 30, 2016, the Company had $15 million of federal foreign tax credit carryforwards, which will expire in fiscal 2026. The
Company expects to realize the benefit of the credit carryforwards in future years.
The income tax provision differs from the amount of income tax determined by applying the applicable U.S. federal statutory rate of 35% to
pretax income, as a result of the following:
For the Years Ended September 30,
2016
Dollars

2015
Percent

Dollars

2014
Percent

Dollars

Percent

(in millions, except percentages)

U.S. federal income tax at statutory rate

2,804

35 %

3,148

35 %

2,704

35 %

State income taxes, net of federal benefit

$

135

2%

194

2%

129

2%

Non-U.S. tax effect, net of federal benefit

(553)

(7)%

(327)

(4)%

(278)

(4)%

(191)

Prior years U.S. domestic production activities
deduction
Remeasurement of deferred tax liability
Reversal of prior years tax reserves related to the
resolution of uncertain tax positions
Revaluation of Visa Europe put option
Other, net
Income tax provision

$

$

$

—

—%

—

—%

(88)

(1)%

—

—%

—

—%

—

—%

(2)%

—

—%

(89)

(1)%

—%

—

—%

(188)

(3)%

(1)%

(78)

2,021

25 %

(239)
—
(109)
$

2,667

30 %

$

2,286

(2)%

(1)%
30 %

The effective income tax rate was 25% in fiscal 2016 and 30% in fiscal 2015 . The effective tax rate in fiscal 2016 differs from the effective tax
rate in fiscal 2015 primarily due to:
•
•
•
•

the effect of one-time items related to the Visa Europe acquisition, the most significant of which was the $1.9 billion U.S. loss related to the
effective settlement of the Framework Agreement between Visa and Visa Europe. These one-time items impacted the geographic mix of
global income, resulting in a reduced effective tax rate;
an $88 million one-time tax benefit due to the remeasurement of deferred tax liabilities as a result of the reduction in the U.K. tax rate
enacted in fiscal 2016;
the non-taxable $255 million revaluation of the Visa Europe put option recorded in fiscal 2016; and
the absence of a $296 million tax benefit recognized in fiscal 2015 resulting from the resolution of uncertain tax positions with taxing
authorities. Included in the $296 million was a one-time $239 million tax benefit that related to prior fiscal years.

The effective income tax rates were 30% in fiscal 2015 and 2014 . The following highlights the significant tax items recorded in each respective
year:
•
•

the aforementioned $296 million tax benefit recognized in fiscal 2015; and
a $264 million tax benefit recognized in fiscal 2014 related to a deduction for U.S. domestic production activities, of which $191 million was a
one-time tax benefit related to prior fiscal years.
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Current income taxes receivable were $232 million and $77 million at September 30, 2016 and 2015 , respectively. Non-current income taxes
receivable of $731 million and $627 million were included in other assets at September 30, 2016 and 2015 , respectively. See Note 5—Prepaid
Expenses and Other Assets . At September 30, 2016 and 2015 , income taxes payable of $153 million and $75 million , respectively, were included
in accrued income taxes as part of accrued liabilities, and accrued income taxes of $911 million and $752 million , respectively, were included in
other long-term liabilities. See Note 8—Accrued and Other Liabilities .
Cumulative undistributed earnings of the Company’s international subsidiaries that are intended to be reinvested indefinitely outside the United
States amounted to $8.3 billion at September 30, 2016 . The amount of income taxes that would have resulted had such earnings been repatriated
is not practicably determinable.
The Company’s largest operating hub outside the United States is located in Singapore. It operates under a tax incentive agreement which is
effective through September 30, 2023, and is conditional upon meeting certain business operations and employment thresholds in Singapore. The
tax incentive agreement decreased Singapore tax by $235 million , $192 million and $168 million , and the benefit of the tax incentive agreement on
diluted earnings per share was $0.10 , $0.08 and $0.07 in fiscal 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively.
In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification 740—Income Taxes , the Company is required to inventory, evaluate and measure all
uncertain tax positions taken or to be taken on tax returns, and to record liabilities for the amount of such positions that may not be sustained, or
may only partially be sustained, upon examination by the relevant taxing authorities.
At September 30, 2016 and 2015 , the Company’s total gross unrecognized tax benefits were $1.2 billion and $1.1 billion , respectively,
exclusive of interest and penalties described below. Included in the $1.2 billion and $1.1 billion are $926 million and $859 million of unrecognized tax
benefits, respectively, that if recognized, would reduce the effective tax rate in a future period.
A reconciliation of beginning and ending unrecognized tax benefits by fiscal year is as follows:
2016

2015
(in millions)

Beginning balance at October 1

$

1,051

$

1,303

Increases of unrecognized tax benefits related to prior years

153

44

Decreases of unrecognized tax benefits related to prior years

(180)

(413)

Increases of unrecognized tax benefits related to current year

138

120

Reductions related to lapsing statute of limitations

(2)

Ending balance at September 30

$

1,160

(3)
$

1,051

It is the Company’s policy to account for interest expense and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in non-operating expense in its
consolidated statements of operations. The Company recognized $15 million and $10 million of interest expense in fiscal 2016 and 2014,
respectively, and reversed $6 million of interest expense in fiscal 2015, related to uncertain tax positions. The Company accrued $3 million , $1
million and $2 million of penalties in fiscal 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, related to uncertain tax positions. At September 30, 2016 and 2015 ,
the Company had accrued interest of $61 million and $33 million , respectively, and accrued penalties of $17 million and $6 million , respectively,
related to uncertain tax positions in its other long-term liabilities. At September 30, 2016, accrued interest and penalties balances included amounts
related to the Visa Europe acquisition.
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The Company's fiscal 2009 through 2012 U.S. federal income tax returns are currently under Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") examination.
The Company has filed a federal refund claim for fiscal year 2008, which is also currently under IRS examination. Except for the refund claim, the
federal statutes of limitations have expired for fiscal years prior to 2009. The Company's fiscal 2006, 2007 and 2008 California tax returns are
currently under examination. Except for certain outstanding refund claims, the California statutes of limitations have expired for fiscal years prior to
2006.
During fiscal 2013, the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) completed its examination of the Company's fiscal 2003 through 2009 Canadian tax
returns and proposed certain assessments. Based on the findings of its examination, the CRA also proposed certain assessments to the Company's
fiscal 2010 through 2015 Canadian tax returns. The Company filed notices of objection against these assessments and, in fiscal 2015, completed
the appeals process without reaching a settlement with the CRA. In April 2016, the Company petitioned the Tax Court of Canada to overturn the
CRA's assessments. The Company continues to believe that its income tax provision adequately reflects its obligations to the CRA.
The Company is also subject to examinations by various state and foreign tax authorities. All material state and foreign tax matters have been
concluded for years through fiscal 2002. The timing and outcome of the final resolutions of the federal, state and foreign tax examinations and refund
claims are uncertain. As such, it is not reasonably possible to estimate the impact that the final outcomes could have on the Company's
unrecognized tax benefits in the next 12 months.
Note 20—Legal Matters
The Company is party to various legal and regulatory proceedings. Some of these proceedings involve complex claims that are subject to
substantial uncertainties and unascertainable damages. Accordingly, except as disclosed, the Company has not established reserves or ranges of
possible loss related to these proceedings, as at this time in the proceedings, the matters do not relate to a probable loss and/or the amount or
range of losses are not reasonably estimable. Although the Company believes that it has strong defenses for the litigation and regulatory
proceedings described below, it could, in the future, incur judgments or fines or enter into settlements of claims that could have a material adverse
effect on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows. From time to time, the Company may engage in settlement
discussions or mediations with respect to one or more of its outstanding litigation matters, either on its own behalf or collectively with other parties.
The litigation accrual is an estimate and is based on management's understanding of its litigation profile, the specifics of each case, advice of
counsel to the extent appropriate and management's best estimate of incurred loss as of the balance sheet date.
The following table summarizes the activity related to accrued litigation.
Fiscal 2016

Fiscal 2015

(in millions)

Balance at October 1

$

1,024

$

1,456

Provision for uncovered legal matters

2

14

Accrual for VE territory covered litigation

2

—

Payments on legal matters

(47)

Balance at September 30

$

981

(446)
$

1,024

Accrual Summary—U.S. Covered Litigation
Visa Inc., Visa U.S.A. and Visa International are parties to certain legal proceedings that are covered by the U.S. retrospective responsibility
plan, which the Company refers to as the U.S. covered litigation. See Note 3—U.S. and Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plans . An accrual for
the U.S. covered litigation and a charge to the litigation provision are recorded when loss is deemed to be probable and reasonably estimable. In
making this determination, the Company evaluates available information, including but not limited to actions taken by the litigation committee. The
total accrual related to the U.S. covered litigation could be either higher or lower than the
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escrow account balance. The following table summarizes the activity related to U.S. covered litigation.
Fiscal 2016

Fiscal 2015

(in millions)

Balance at October 1

$

1,023

Payments on U.S. covered litigation

$

(45)

Balance at September 30

$

978

1,449
(426)

$

1,023

On January 14, 2014, the MDL 1720 court entered a final judgment order approving a settlement with class plaintiffs in the interchange
multidistrict litigation proceedings, which is subject to the outcome of any appeals. Following the payment of approximately $4.0 billion from the U.S.
litigation escrow account into settlement funds pursuant to the class settlement agreement, on January 27, 2014, Visa received and deposited into
the Company's U.S. litigation escrow account "takedown payments" of approximately $1.1 billion , which Visa was entitled to receive under the class
settlement agreement based on payment card sales volume attributable to merchants who opted out. The deposit into the U.S. litigation escrow
account and a related increase in accrued litigation to address opt-out claims were recorded in the second quarter of fiscal 2014. An additional
accrual of $450 million associated with these opt-out claims was recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014. Payments totaling $ 528 million were
made from fiscal 2014 through 2016 from the U.S. litigation escrow account reflecting settlements with a number of individual opt-out merchants,
resulting in an accrued balance of $978 million related to U.S. covered litigation as of September 30, 2016. See further discussion below under
Individual Merchant Interchange Litigation and Note 3—U.S. and Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plans .
Accrual Summary—VE Territory Covered Litigation
Visa Inc., Visa International and Visa Europe are parties to certain legal proceedings that are covered by the Europe retrospective responsibility
plan. Unlike the U.S. retrospective responsibility plan, the Europe retrospective responsibility plan does not have an escrow account that is used to
fund settlements or judgments. The Company is entitled to recover VE territory covered losses through a periodic adjustment to the conversion rates
applicable to the U.K.&I preferred stock and Europe preferred stock. An accrual for the VE territory covered losses and a reduction to stockholders'
equity will be recorded when the loss is deemed to be probable and reasonably estimable. See further discussion below under VE Territory Covered
Litigation and Note 3-U.S. and Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plans . The following table summarizes the activity related to VE territory
covered litigation.
Fiscal 2016
(in millions)

Balance at October 1

$

Accrual for VE territory covered litigation

—
2

Balance at September 30

$

111
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U.S. Covered Litigation
Interchange Multidistrict Litigation (MDL)
Beginning in May 2005, a series of complaints (the majority of which were styled as class actions) were filed in U.S. federal district courts by
merchants against Visa U.S.A., Visa International and/or MasterCard, and in some cases, certain Visa member financial institutions. The complaints
challenged, among other things, Visa's and MasterCard's purported setting of interchange reimbursement fees, their "no surcharge" rules, and
alleged tying and bundling of transaction fees under the federal antitrust laws, and, in some cases, certain state unfair competition laws. The Judicial
Panel on Multidistrict Litigation issued an order transferring the cases to the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of New York for coordination
of pre-trial proceedings in MDL 1720. A group of purported class plaintiffs subsequently filed a Second Consolidated Amended Class Action
Complaint which, together with the complaints brought by individual merchants, sought money damages alleged to range in the tens of billions of
dollars (subject to trebling), as well as attorneys' fees and injunctive relief. The class plaintiffs also filed a Second Supplemental Class Action
Complaint against Visa Inc. and certain member financial institutions challenging Visa's reorganization and IPO under the antitrust laws and seeking
unspecified money damages and declaratory and injunctive relief, including an order that the IPO be unwound.
The Company and certain individual merchants whose claims were consolidated with the MDL signed a settlement agreement to resolve their
claims against the Company for approximately $350 million . This payment was made from the U.S. litigation escrow account on October 29, 2012,
and the court has dismissed those claims with prejudice.
In addition, Visa Inc., Visa U.S.A., Visa International, MasterCard Incorporated, MasterCard International Incorporated, various U.S. financial
institution defendants, and the class plaintiffs signed a settlement agreement (the "2012 Settlement Agreement") to resolve the class plaintiffs'
claims. The terms of the 2012 Settlement Agreement include, among other terms, (1) a comprehensive release of claims asserted in the litigation
and protection against future litigation regarding default interchange and other U.S. rules; (2) settlement payments from the Company of
approximately $4.0 billion and a further distribution of 10 basis points of default interchange for an eight-month period; (3) certain modifications to the
Company's rules, including modifications to permit surcharging on credit transactions under certain circumstances; and (4) the Company's
agreement to meet with merchant buying groups that seek to collectively negotiate interchange rates. On December 10, 2012, Visa paid
approximately $4.0 billion from the U.S. litigation escrow account into a settlement fund established pursuant to the 2012 Settlement Agreement.
On January 14, 2014, the court entered a final judgment order approving the settlement, from which a number of objectors appealed. On June
30, 2016, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit vacated the lower court's certification of the merchant class and reversed the approval of
the settlement. The Second Circuit determined that the class plaintiffs were inadequately represented, and remanded the case to the lower court for
further proceedings not inconsistent with its decision. Prior to November 23, 2016, class plaintiffs may file a petition for writ of certiorari with the U.S.
Supreme Court seeking review of the Second Circuit's decision. Until the appeals process is complete, it is uncertain whether the Company will be
able to resolve the class plaintiffs' claims as contemplated by the 2012 Settlement Agreement. However, the case is still U.S. covered litigation for
purposes of the U.S. retrospective responsibility plan. See Note 3—U.S. and Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plans .
Consumer Interchange Litigation
On December 16, 2013, a putative class action was filed on behalf of all Visa and MasterCard payment cardholders in the United States since
January 1, 2000, against certain financial institutions, identifying non-defendants Visa, MasterCard and certain other financial institutions as coconspirators. Plaintiffs allege primarily a conspiracy to fix interchange fees and seek injunctive relief, attorneys’ fees and treble damages in excess of
$54.0 billion dollars annually arising from purported overcharges. Originally filed in federal court in California, the case was transferred to MDL 1720.
On November 26, 2014, the MDL court dismissed plaintiffs' federal law claim and declined to exercise jurisdiction over plaintiffs' state law claim. Both
sides asked the court to reconsider aspects of its decision and filed notices of appeal.
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On February 24, 2016, the MDL court denied plaintiffs' motion for reconsideration of the dismissal of plaintiffs' federal claim and dismissed
plaintiffs' state law claim based on defendants' cross-motion for reconsideration. On October 17, 2016, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second
Circuit affirmed the dismissal of plaintiffs' claims, and on October 31, 2016, plaintiffs sought rehearing by the Second Circuit.
Individual Merchant Interchange Litigation
Beginning in May 2013, more than 50 cases have been filed in various federal district courts by hundreds of merchants who had opted out of
the damages portion of the 2012 Settlement Agreement, generally pursuing damages claims on allegations similar to those raised in MDL 1720. A
number of the cases also include allegations that Visa has monopolized, attempted to monopolize, and/or conspired to monopolize debit cardrelated market segments. In addition, some of the cases seek an injunction against the setting of default interchange rates; certain Visa Rules
relating to merchants, including the honor-all-cards rule; and various transaction fees, including the fixed acquirer network fee. One merchant's
complaint also asserts that Visa, MasterCard and their member banks conspired to prevent the adoption of chip-and-PIN authentication in the U.S.
or otherwise circumvent competition in the debit market, and at least two merchant groups have requested permission from the MDL court to amend
their complaints. The cases name as defendants Visa Inc., Visa U.S.A., Visa International, MasterCard Incorporated and MasterCard International
Incorporated, although some also include certain U.S. financial institutions as defendants. Wal-Mart Stores Inc. and its subsidiaries filed a complaint
that also adds Visa Europe Limited and Visa Europe Services Inc. as defendants.
Visa, MasterCard, and certain U.S. financial institution defendants in MDL 1720 filed a complaint in the Eastern District of New York against
certain named class representative plaintiffs who had opted out or stated their intention to opt out of the damages portion of the 2012 Settlement
Agreement. In addition, Visa filed three more similar complaints in the Eastern District of New York against Wal-Mart Stores Inc.; against The Home
Depot, Inc. and Home Depot U.S.A.; and against Sears Holdings Corporation. All four complaints seek a declaration that, from January 1, 2004 to
November 27, 2012, the time period for which opt-outs could seek damages under the 2012 Settlement Agreement, Visa's conduct in, among other
things, continuing to set default interchange rates, maintaining its "honor all cards" rule, enforcing certain rules relating to merchants, and
restructuring itself, did not violate federal or state antitrust laws.
All the cases filed in federal court have been either assigned to the judge presiding over MDL 1720, or have been transferred or are being
considered for transfer by the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation for inclusion in MDL 1720. The court has entered an order confirming that In re
Payment Card Interchange Fee and Merchant Discount Antitrust Litigation , 1:05-md-01720-JG-JO (E.D.N.Y.), includes (1) all current and future
actions transferred to MDL 1720 by the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation or other order of any court for inclusion in coordinated or pretrial
proceedings, and (2) all actions filed in the Eastern District of New York that arise out of operative facts as alleged in the cases subject to the
transfer orders of the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation. Cases that have been transferred to or otherwise included in MDL 1720 are U.S.
covered litigation for purposes of the U.S. retrospective responsibility plan. See Note 3—U.S. and Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plans .
A settlement agreement was reached with Wal-Mart Stores Inc. and its subsidiaries, which will terminate if, following all appeals, the 2012
Settlement Agreement in MDL 1720 is reversed or vacated with respect to certification of the Rule 23(b)(2) settlement class or the consideration
provided to or release provided by that class. Including this settlement with Wal-Mart, as of the date of filing, Visa has reached settlement
agreements with a number of merchants representing approximately 51% of the Visa-branded payment card sales volume of merchants who opted
out of the 2012 Settlement Agreement. Except for the settlement with Wal-Mart, these settlement agreements remain effective despite the outcome
of any appeals from the district court's order approving the 2012 Settlement Agreement in MDL 1720.
On June 13, 2016, The Home Depot, Inc. and Home Depot U.S.A., Inc. filed suit against Visa Inc., Visa U.S.A., Visa International, MasterCard
Incorporated and MasterCard International Incorporated in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Georgia. On October 3, 2016, the
Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation issued an order transferring the case to MDL 1720.
While the Company believes that it has substantial defenses in these matters, the final outcome of individual legal claims is inherently
unpredictable. The Company could incur judgments, enter into settlements or revise its
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expectations regarding the outcome of individual merchant claims, and such developments could have a material adverse effect on our financial
results in the period in which the effect becomes probable and reasonably estimable.
VE Territory Covered Litigation
U.K. Merchant Litigation
Since July 2013, in excess of 100 Merchants (the capitalized term "Merchant," when used in this section, means a merchant together with
subsidiary/affiliate companies) have commenced proceedings against Visa Europe, Visa Inc. and Visa International relating to interchange rates in
Europe, and seek damages for alleged anti-competitive conduct primarily in relation to U.K. domestic and/or Irish domestic and/or intra-EEA
interchange fees for credit and debit cards. As of the filing date, Visa Europe, Visa Inc. and Visa International have settled the claims asserted by
two Merchants, and one Merchant has dropped all claims that relate to debit cards. After a successful application for summary judgment and an
unsuccessful appeal by the claimants, the claims of U.K. merchants should be limited to the six-year period immediately preceding the issuance of
each claim.
In November 2016, claims filed by a number of Merchants in 2013 are scheduled to go to trial to determine whether Visa has infringed U.K.
competition law and is liable for having set interchange fee rates during the relevant time period. If the Merchants prevail, the amount of any loss
they have suffered will be determined in a separate trial in the future.
In addition, over 30 additional Merchants have threatened to commence similar proceedings. Standstill agreements have been entered into
with respect to some of those Merchants’ claims. While the amount of interchange being challenged could be substantial, these claims have not yet
been filed and their full scope is not yet known. The Company has learned that several additional European entities have indicated that they may
also bring similar claims and we anticipate additional claims in the future.
Although not all of the merchant claims have been served and thus the full scope of the claims is not yet known, and there are substantial
defenses to these claims, the total damages sought in the claims that have been issued, served and preserved likely amounts to several billion
dollars.
Other Litigation
"Indirect Purchaser" Actions
From 2000 to 2004, complaints were filed on behalf of consumers in nineteen different states and the District of Columbia against Visa and
MasterCard. The complaints alleged, among other things, that Visa's "honor all cards" rule and a similar MasterCard rule violated state antitrust and
consumer protection laws and common law. The claims in these class actions asserted that merchants, faced with excessive merchant discount
fees, passed on some portion of those fees to consumers in the form of higher prices on goods and services sold. Plaintiffs sought money damages
and injunctive relief. Visa has been successful in the majority of these cases, and has resolved the cases in all jurisdictions but California.
In California, the consolidated Credit/Debit Card Tying Cases were resolved pursuant to a revised settlement agreement that received final
approval and was affirmed on appeal. Certain objectors filed petitions for rehearing and for review by the California Supreme Court that were denied
on February 11, 2015, and the judgment approving the settlement agreement is now final. One objector has appealed the trial court's orders
regarding the distribution of certain settlement funds, and the denial of that objector's motion for attorneys' fees and costs.
On December 1, 2015, the objector's appeal from the trial court's order regarding the distribution of certain settlement funds was dismissed.
The appeal of the denial of the objector's motion for attorneys' fees and costs is pending.
European Commission Proceedings
Inter-regional Interchange Investigation. Following the issuance of a Statement of Objections in 2009 concerning, among other things, the
alleged default application of Visa Inc.'s inter-regional interchange fees to intra-regional and domestic consumer debit and credit card transactions in
the European Economic Area ("EEA"), the
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European Commission ("EC") served a Supplementary Statement of Objections ("SSO") on Visa Inc. and Visa International in 2013. The SSO
concerned, in particular, the application of Visa Inc.'s inter-regional interchange fees to transactions involving a Visa credit card issued outside the
EEA and a merchant located in the EEA. The EC claims that these fees violate competition law in the EEA. The SSO indicates that the EC may
impose fines. The potential amount of any fine cannot be estimated at this time.
All issues relating to intra-regional or domestic consumer debit and credit card transactions acquired in the EEA have been settled by
commitments offered by Visa Europe Limited in 2010 and 2014 and endorsed by the EC. Following its acquisition of Visa Europe Limited in June
2016, these commitments are now binding upon Visa Inc. The EC's case regarding Visa Inc.'s inter-regional interchange fees is still ongoing.
DCC Investigation. In 2013, the EC opened an investigation against Visa Europe, based on a complaint alleging that Visa Europe's pricing of and
rules relating to Dynamic Currency Conversion (DCC) transactions infringe EU competition rules. This investigation is pending.
Canadian Competition Proceedings
Merchant Litigation . Beginning in December 2010, a number of class action lawsuits were filed in Quebec, British Columbia, Ontario,
Saskatchewan and Alberta against Visa Canada, MasterCard and ten financial institutions on behalf of merchants that accept payment by Visa
and/or MasterCard credit cards. A separate action was filed against Visa Canada Corporation and Visa Inc., two MasterCard entities and smaller
Canadian issuing banks, but that case has been stayed. The remaining cases allege a violation of Canada's price-fixing law and various common
law claims based on separate Visa and MasterCard conspiracies in respect of default interchange and certain of the networks' rules. Four of the
named financial institutions, only one of which is a significant Canadian issuer, have now settled with the plaintiffs.
On March 26, 2014, the British Columbia Supreme Court, in one of the class action suits noted above, Watson v. Bank of America Corporation,
et al. , granted the plaintiff's application for class certification in part. On appeal from both the defendants and the plaintiff, the British Columbia Court
of Appeal allowed the class proceedings to advance but limited the time period of plaintiff's main price-fixing claim to prior to March 2010. A motion
by the plaintiff to amend its claim to include the post-March 2010 period was dismissed by the British Columbia Supreme Court and that ruling is
under appeal. The related lawsuits in Ontario, Alberta, and Saskatchewan have effectively been stayed pending further proceedings in British
Columbia. The timing of the lawsuit in Quebec is also being considered in light of the proceedings in British Columbia.
The pending lawsuits largely seek unspecified monetary damages and injunctive relief, but some allege substantial damages.
Data Pass Litigation
On November 19, 2010, a consumer filed an amended class action complaint against Webloyalty.com, Inc., Gamestop Corporation, and Visa
Inc. in Connecticut federal district court, seeking damages, restitution and injunctive relief on the grounds that consumers who made online
purchases at merchants were allegedly deceived into incurring charges for services from Webloyalty.com through the unauthorized passing of
cardholder account information during the sales transaction ("data pass"), in violation of federal and state consumer protection statutes and common
law. On October 15, 2015, the court dismissed the case in its entirety, without leave to replead. Plaintiff filed a notice of appeal on November 12,
2015.
U.S. ATM Access Fee Litigation
National ATM Council Class Action . In October 2011, the National ATM Council and thirteen non-bank ATM operators filed a purported class
action lawsuit against Visa (Visa Inc., Visa International, Visa U.S.A. and Plus System, Inc.) and MasterCard in the U.S. District Court for the District
of Columbia. The complaint challenges Visa's rule (and a similar MasterCard rule) that if an ATM operator chooses to charge consumers an access
fee for a Visa or Plus transaction, that fee cannot be greater than the access fee charged for transactions on other networks. Plaintiffs claim that the
rule violates Section 1 of the Sherman Act, and seeks damages "in an amount not presently known, but which is tens of millions of dollars, prior to
trebling," injunctive relief and attorneys’ fees.
115

Table of Contents
VISA INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
September 30, 2016
Consumer Class Actions . In October 2011, a purported consumer class action was filed against Visa and MasterCard in the same federal court
challenging the same ATM access fee rules. Two other purported consumer class actions challenging the rules, later combined, were also filed in
October 2011 in the same federal court naming Visa, MasterCard and three financial institutions as defendants. Plaintiffs seek treble damages,
restitution, injunctive relief, and attorneys' fees where available under federal and state law, including under Section 1 of the Sherman Act and
consumer protection statutes.
On February 13, 2013, the court granted the defendants’ motions to dismiss and dismissed all of these cases without prejudice. On plaintiffs'
appeal, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit vacated the lower court's decisions and remanded for further proceedings.
On February 18, 2016, the National ATM Council moved for a preliminary injunction to prohibit Visa and MasterCard from imposing ATM
access fee non-discrimination rules. On June 28, 2016, the U.S. Supreme Court granted defendants' petitions for writ of certiorari seeking review of
the decisions of the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit, and the district court issued an order on July 21, 2016, staying the
cases pending that review. The U.S. Supreme Court is scheduled to hear oral argument in these cases on December 7, 2016.
U.S. Department of Justice Civil Investigative Demand
On March 13, 2012, the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Justice (the " Division " ) issued a Civil Investigative Demand, or "
CID, " to Visa Inc. seeking documents and information regarding a potential violation of Section 1 or 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1, 2. The
CID focuses on PIN-Authenticated Visa Debit and Visa's competitive responses to the Dodd-Frank Act, including Visa's fixed acquirer network fee.
Visa is cooperating with the Division in connection with the CID.
Federal Trade Commission
Voluntary Access Letter . The Bureau of Competition of the United States Federal Trade Commission (the " Bureau " ) has closed its inquiry
regarding potential violations of certain regulations associated with the Dodd-Frank Act focusing on Visa's optional PIN Debit Gateway Service.
Notice Regarding EMV Chip Debit Cards . On July 28, 2016, the Bureau notified Visa that the Bureau is conducting an investigation into
whether Visa's requirements for EMV chip inhibit merchant routing choice for debit card transactions. Visa is cooperating with the Bureau.
Pulse Network
On November 25, 2014, Pulse Network LLC filed suit against Visa Inc. in federal district court in Texas. Pulse alleges that Visa has
monopolized and attempted to monopolize debit card network services markets. Pulse also alleges that Visa has entered into agreements in
restraint of trade, engaged in unlawful exclusive dealing and tying, violated the Texas Free Enterprise and Antitrust Act and engaged in tortious
interference with prospective business relationships. Pulse seeks unspecified treble damages, attorneys' fees and injunctive relief, including to enjoin
the fixed acquirer network fee structure, Visa's conduct regarding PIN-Authenticated Visa Debit and Visa agreements with merchants and acquirers
relating to debit acceptance. On January 23, 2015, Visa filed a motion to dismiss the complaint. On December 17, 2015, the court denied Visa's
motion to dismiss the complaint, and the case remains pending.
New Mexico Attorney General
On December 23, 2014, a case similar to MDL 1720 was filed in New Mexico state court by New Mexico's attorney general on behalf of the
state, state agencies and citizens of the state, generally pursuing claims on allegations similar to those raised in MDL 1720. On May 15, 2015,
defendants filed a partial motion to dismiss, which the court granted in part and, among other things, narrowed the state antitrust damages claims.
EMV Chip Liability Shift
Following their initial complaint filed on March 8, 2016, B&R Supermarket, Inc., d/b/a Milam's Market, and Grove Liquors LLC filed an amended
class action complaint on July 15, 2016, against Visa Inc., Visa U.S.A.,
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MasterCard, Discover, American Express, EMVCo and certain financial institutions in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California.
The amended complaint asserts that defendants, through EMVCo, conspired to shift liability for fraudulent, faulty or otherwise rejected consumer
credit card transactions from defendants to the purported class of merchants, defined as those merchants throughout the United States who have
been subject to the "Liability Shift" from October 2015 to the present. Plaintiffs claim that the so-called "Liability Shift" violates Sections 1 and 3 of the
Sherman Act and certain state laws, and seek treble damages, injunctive relief and attorneys' fees. On September 30, 2016, the court granted
motions to dismiss the amended complaint filed by EMVCo and the financial institution defendants, but denied motions to dismiss filed by Visa Inc.,
Visa U.S.A., MasterCard, American Express and Discover.
Walmart Acceptance Agreement
On May 10, 2016, Wal-Mart Stores Inc. and various affiliates ("Walmart") filed a lawsuit against Visa U.S.A. in New York County Supreme
Court. Walmart seeks a declaratory judgment that certain of its practices related to the acceptance of Visa debit cards did not previously and would
not in the future constitute a breach of the acceptance agreement entered into between Walmart and Visa. Walmart also seeks attorneys' fees and a
declaratory judgment that certain of Visa's actions violated the same agreement. On June 29, 2016, Visa answered the complaint and filed
counterclaims seeking declaratory and injunctive relief, as well as costs and other remedies. In its counterclaims, Visa alleges that certain of
Walmart's conduct and practices relating to the acceptance of Visa debit cards constitute a breach of the acceptance agreement and a breach of the
implied duty of good faith and fair dealing, and that Walmart fraudulently induced Visa to enter into the acceptance agreement. On August 19, 2016,
Walmart moved to dismiss Visa’s counterclaim for fraudulent inducement.
Kroger
On June 27, 2016, The Kroger Co. ("Kroger") filed a lawsuit against Visa Inc. in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Ohio. In its
complaint, Kroger seeks a declaratory judgment that certain of Visa's rules related to the acceptance of Visa debit cards are inconsistent with the
Dodd-Frank Act. Kroger also seeks damages and other relief related to certain state law claims. On August 11, 2016, Visa filed a motion to dismiss
the complaint. On September 15, 2016, Kroger filed its opposition to Visa’s motion to dismiss, arguing, among other things, that Kroger seeks a
declaratory judgment that Kroger has not breached its contract with Visa.
Broadway Grill
On July 12, 2016, Broadway Grill, Inc. ("Broadway Grill"), on behalf of itself and a putative class of California merchants that have accepted
Visa-branded cards since January 1, 2004, filed a lawsuit against Visa Inc., Visa International and Visa U.S.A. in California state court. Based on
allegations similar to those advanced by plaintiffs in MDL 1720, Broadway Grill pursues claims under California state antitrust and unfair business
statutes. Broadway Grill seeks damages, costs and other remedies. On July 18, 2016, the case was removed to the U.S. District Court for the
Northern District of California. On September 27, 2016, the district court granted leave to amend the complaint and entered an order remanding the
case to California state court. Thereafter, Broadway Grill amended its complaint and Visa sought permission from the U.S. Court of Appeals for the
Ninth Circuit to appeal the district court’s decision. On October 17, 2016, the district court ordered the case remanded to California state court, and
Visa's request for permission to appeal is pending.
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Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
The following tables show selected quarterly operating results for each quarter and full year of fiscal 2016 and 2015 for the Company:
Quarter Ended (unaudited)
Sept. 30,
2016 (1)

Visa Inc.

June 30,
2016 (2),(3)

Fiscal Year

Mar. 31,
2016 (3)

Dec. 31,
2015 (4)

2016 Total

(in millions, except per share data)

Operating revenues

$

4,261

$

3,630

$

3,626

$

3,565

$

15,082

Operating income

$

2,625

$

428

$

2,434

$

2,396

$

7,883

Net income

$

1,931

$

412

$

1,707

$

1,941

$

5,991

Class A common stock

$

0.79

$

0.17

$

0.71

$

0.80

$

2.49

Class B common stock

$

1.31

$

0.29

$

1.17

$

1.32

$

4.10

Class C common stock

$

3.17

$

0.69

$

2.85

$

3.20

$

9.94

Class A common stock

$

0.79

$

0.17

$

0.71

$

0.80

$

2.48

Class B common stock

$

1.30

$

0.28

$

1.17

$

1.32

$

4.09

Class C common stock

$

3.16

$

0.69

$

2.84

$

3.20

$

9.93

Basic earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share

Quarter Ended (unaudited)
Sept. 30,
2015

Visa Inc.

June 30,
2015 (5)

Fiscal Year

Mar. 31,
2015

Dec. 31,
2014 (6)

2015 Total

(in millions, except per share data)

Operating revenues

$

3,571

$

3,518

$

3,409

$

3,382

$

13,880

Operating income

$

2,283

$

2,262

$

2,281

$

2,238

$

9,064

Net income

$

1,512

$

1,697

$

1,550

$

1,569

$

6,328

Class A common stock

$

0.62

$

0.69

$

0.63

$

0.63

$

2.58

Class B common stock

$

1.02

$

1.14

$

1.04

$

1.05

$

4.26

Class C common stock

$

2.48

$

2.78

$

2.53

$

2.54

$

10.33

Class A common stock

$

0.62

$

0.69

$

0.63

$

0.63

$

2.58

Class B common stock

$

1.02

$

1.14

$

1.04

$

1.04

$

4.25

Class C common stock

$

2.48

$

2.77

$

2.52

$

2.53

$

10.30

Basic earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share

(1)

(2)

Our unaudited consolidated statement of operations include the impact of several significant one-time items. See Overview within Item 7—
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this report.
The Company did not include Visa Europe's financial results in the Company's unaudited consolidated financial statements of operations from the
acquisition date, June 21, 2016, through June 30, 2016 as the impact was immaterial. The dilutive impact of the outstanding shares of series B
and C convertible participating preferred stock from June 21, 2016 through June 30, 2016 was also not included in the calculation of basic or
diluted earnings per share as the effect was immaterial. See Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe and Note 15—Earnings Per Share to our
consolidated financial statements. During the quarter ended June 30, 2016, the Company recorded several one-time items associated with the
Visa Europe acquisition as follows:
•
•
•

$1.9 billion Visa Europe Framework Agreement loss related to the effective settlement of the Framework Agreement;
$152 million of acquisition related costs; and
$145 million of foreign exchange gains on euro deposits held for a short period prior to the Closing.
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(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

See Overview within Item 7—Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this report.
During the second and third quarters of fiscal 2016, the Company recorded a net gain of $116 million and a net loss of $42 million, respectively,
before tax, related to currency forward contracts associated with the euro cash consideration paid in the Visa Europe acquisition. See Overview
within Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations within this report.
During the three months ended December 31, 2015, the Company recorded $255 million non-operating income related to a decrease in the fair
value of the Visa Europe put option. This amount is not subject to income tax. See Overview within Item 7—Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this report.
In the third quarter of fiscal 2015, the Company recorded a $110 million, non-operating loss related to an increase in the fair value of the Visa
Europe put option. This amount is not subject to income tax. See Overview within Item 7—Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations .
The per share amounts for the first quarter of fiscal 2015 presented have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the four -for-one stock split
effected in the fiscal second quarter of 2015. See Note 14—Stockholders' Equity .
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ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures
Not applicable.
ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain a system of disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in the Rules 13a-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) that is designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act
reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we
conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures. On June 21, 2016, we acquired Visa Europe Limited ("Visa Europe").
Management has excluded the acquired business from its assessment of the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures as of September
30, 2016. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of September 30, 2016 , our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective, at the reasonable assurance level. Management expects to include Visa Europe in its
assessment of the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures beginning in fiscal year 2017.
There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures. These limitations include the possibility
of human error, the circumvention or overriding of the controls and procedures and reasonable resource constraints. In addition, because we have
designed our system of controls based on certain assumptions, which we believe are reasonable, about the likelihood of future events, our system of
controls may not achieve its desired purpose under all possible future conditions. Accordingly, our disclosure controls and procedures provide
reasonable assurance, but not absolute assurance, of achieving their objectives.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the
Company. Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2016 .
Management has excluded Visa Europe from its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as its acquisition was
completed in the last half of fiscal year 2016 on June 21, 2016. Visa Europe represented 4% of net operating revenue for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2016, and 7% of total assets at September 30, 2016, after excluding goodwill and intangible assets recorded upon Visa Europe's
acquisition. The recognition of goodwill and intangible assets is covered by our internal controls over mergers and acquisitions, which were included
in management's assessment of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting for the fiscal year ended September 30,
2016. Management expects to include Visa Europe in its assessment of internal control over financial reporting beginning in fiscal year 2017. See
Note 2—Acquisition of Visa Europe to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8—Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of
this report for pro forma information.
Based on management’s assessment, management has concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective
as of September 30, 2016 using the criteria set forth in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework).
Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. There are inherent limitations
to the effectiveness of any system of internal control over financial reporting. These limitations include the possibility of human error, the
circumvention or overriding of the system and reasonable resource constraints. Because of its inherent limitations, our internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risks discussed
in Item 1A—Risk Factors of this report.
The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2016 , has been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm and is included in Item 8 of this report.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
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In preparation for management’s report on internal control over financial reporting, we documented and tested the design and operating
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. During fiscal 2016 , there were no significant changes in our internal controls over
financial reporting that occurred during the year ended September 30, 2016 , that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
ITEM 9B. Other Information
Not applicable.
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PART III
Certain information required by Part III is omitted from this Report and the Company will file a definitive proxy statement pursuant to Regulation
14A under the Exchange Act (the “Proxy Statement”) not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended September 30, 2016 , and certain
information included therein is incorporated herein by reference. Only those sections of the Proxy Statement that specifically address the items set
forth herein are incorporated by reference. Such incorporation does not include the report of the Audit and Risk Committee included in the Proxy
Statement.
ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
The information required by this item concerning the Company's directors, executive officers, the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and
corporate governance matters is incorporated herein by reference to the sections entitled “Director Nominee Biographies,” “Executive Officers” and
“Corporate Governance” in our Proxy Statement.
The information required by this item regarding compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is
incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in our Proxy Statement.
Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers and our Corporate Governance Guidelines are
available on the Investor Relations page of our website at http://investor.visa.com, under “Corporate Governance.” Printed copies of these
documents are also available to stockholders without charge upon written request directed to Corporate Secretary, Visa Inc., P.O. Box 193243, San
Francisco, California 94119.
ITEM 11. Executive Compensation
The information required by this item concerning director and executive compensation is incorporated herein by reference to the sections
entitled “Compensation of Non-Employee Directors” and “Executive Compensation” in our Proxy Statement.
The information required by this item pursuant to Item 407(e)(4) of Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in our Proxy Statement.
The information required by this item pursuant to Item 407(e)(5) of Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled
“Compensation Committee Report” in our Proxy Statement.
ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
The information required by this item pursuant to Item 403 of Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled
“Beneficial Ownership of Equity Securities” in our Proxy Statement.
For the information required by item 201(d) of Regulation S-K, refer to Item 5 in this report.
ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
The information required by this item concerning related party transactions pursuant to Item 404 of Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by
reference to the section entitled “Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions” in our Proxy Statement.
The information required by this item concerning director independence pursuant to Item 407(a) of Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by
reference to the section entitled “Independence of Directors” in our Proxy Statement.
ITEM 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled “Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm Fees” in our Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:
1.

Consolidated Financial Statements
See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8—Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this report.

2.

Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules
None.

3.

The following exhibits are filed as part of this report or, where indicated, were previously filed and are hereby incorporated by
reference:

Refer to the Exhibit Index herein.
123

Table of Contents
SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this
Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
VISA INC.
By:
Name:

/s/ Charles W. Scharf
Charles W. Scharf

Title:

Chief Executive Officer

Date:

November 15, 2016

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated:
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Signature

/s/ Charles W. Scharf
Charles W. Scharf

/s/ Vasant M. Prabhu
Vasant M. Prabhu

/s/ James H. Hoffmeister
James H. Hoffmeister

Title

Chief Executive Officer and Director

Date

November 15, 2016

(Principal Executive Officer)
Chief Financial Officer

November 15, 2016

(Principal Financial Officer)
Global Corporate Controller and

November 15, 2016

Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Robert W. Matschullat

Independent Chair

November 15, 2016

Director

November 15, 2016

Director

November 15, 2016

Director

November 15, 2016

Director

November 15, 2016

Director and Chief Executive Officer

November 15, 2016

Robert W. Matschullat

/s/ Lloyd A. Carney
Lloyd A. Carney

/s/ Mary B. Cranston
Mary B. Cranston

/s/ Francisco Javier Fernández-Carbajal
Francisco Javier Fernández-Carbajal

/s/ Gary A. Hoffman
Gary A. Hoffman

/s/ Alfred F. Kelly, Jr.
Alfred F. Kelly, Jr.

/s/ Cathy E. Minehan

Designate
Director

November 15, 2016

Director

November 15, 2016

Director

November 15, 2016

Director

November 15, 2016

Director

November 15, 2016

Cathy E. Minehan

/s/ Suzanne Nora Johnson
Suzanne Nora Johnson

/s/ David J. Pang
David J. Pang

/s/ John A. C. Swainson
John A. C. Swainson

/s/ Maynard G. Webb, Jr.
Maynard G. Webb, Jr.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit

Exhibit

Number

Description

File

Exhibit

Filing

Form

Number

Number

Date

2.1

Amended and Restated Transaction Agreement, dated as of
May 10, 2016, between Visa Inc. and Visa Europe Limited #

8-K

001-33977

2.1

5/10/2016

3.1

Sixth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of
Visa Inc.

8-K

001-33977

3.2

1/29/2015

3.2

Certificate of Correction of the Certificate of Incorporation of
Visa Inc.

8-K

001-33977

3.1

2/27/2015

3.3

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Visa Inc.

10-K

001-33977

3.3

11/20/2015

4.1

Form of stock certificate of Visa Inc.

S-4/A

333-143966

4.1

9/13/2007

4.2

Form of specimen certificate for class B common stock of
Visa Inc.

8-A

000-53572

4.1

1/28/2009

4.3

Form of specimen certificate for class C common stock of
Visa Inc.

8-A

000-53572

4.2

1/28/2009

4.4

Indenture dated December 14, 2015 between Visa Inc. and
U.S. Bank National Association

8-K

001-33977

4.1

12/14/2015

4.5

Form of 1.200% Senior Note due 2017

8-K

001-33977

4.2

12/14/2015

4.6

Form of 2.200% Senior Note due 2020

8-K

001-33977

4.3

12/14/2015

4.7

Form of 2.800% Senior Note due 2022

8-K

001-33977

4.4

12/14/2015

4.8

Form of 3.150% Senior Note due 2025

8-K

001-33977

4.5

12/14/2015

4.9

Form of 4.150% Senior Note due 2035

8-K

001-33977

4.6

12/14/2015

4.10

Form of 4.300% Senior Note due 2045

8-K

001-33977

4.7

12/14/2015

4.11

Certificate of Designations of Series A Convertible
Participating Preferred Stock of Visa Inc.

8-K

001-33977

3.1

6/21/2016

4.12

Certificate of Designations of Series B Convertible
Participating Preferred Stock of Visa Inc.

8-K

001-33977

3.2

6/21/2016

4.13

Certificate of Designations of Series C Convertible
Participating Preferred Stock of Visa Inc.

8-K

001-33977

3.3

6/21/2016

10.1

Form of Indemnity Agreement

8-K

001-33977

10.1

10/25/2012

1

Table of Contents
10.2

Amended and Restated Global Restructuring Agreement,
dated August 24, 2007, by and among Visa Inc., Visa
International Service Association, Visa U.S.A. Inc., Visa
Europe Limited, Visa Canada Association, Inovant LLC,
Inovant, Inc., Visa Europe Services, Inc., Visa International
Transition LLC, VI Merger Sub, Inc., Visa USA Merger Sub
Inc. and 1734313 Ontario Inc.

S-4/A

333-143966

Annex A

9/13/2007

10.3

Form of Visa Europe Put-Call Option Agreement between
Visa Inc. and Visa Europe Limited

S-4/A

333-143966

Annex B

9/13/2007

10.4

Amended and Restated Amendment No. 1 to the Visa
Europe Put-Call Option Agreement, dated May 10, 2016, by
and between Visa Inc. and Visa Europe Limited

8-K

001-33977

2.2

5/10/2016

10.5

Form of Escrow Agreement by and among Visa Inc., Visa
U.S.A. Inc. and the escrow agent

S-4

333-143966

10.15

6/22/2007

10.6

Form of Framework Agreement by and among Visa Inc., Visa
Europe Limited, Inovant LLC, Visa International Services
Association and Visa U.S.A. Inc. †

S-4/A

333-143966

10.17

7/24/2007

10.7

Five Year Revolving Credit Agreement, dated January 27,
2016, by and among Visa Inc., Visa International Service
Association, Visa U.S.A. Inc., as borrowers, Bank of America,
N.A., as administrative agent, JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A.,
as syndication agent, and the lenders referred to therein #

10-Q

001-33977

10.1

4/25/2016

10.8

Form of Interchange Judgment Sharing Agreement by and
among Visa International Service Association and Visa
U.S.A. Inc., and the other parties thereto †

S-4/A

333-143966

10.13

7/24/2007

10.9

Interchange Judgment Sharing Agreement Schedule

8-K

001-33977

10.2

2/8/2011

10.10

Amendment of Interchange Judgment Sharing Agreement

10-K

001-33977

10.10

11/20/2015

10.11

Form of Loss Sharing Agreement by and among Visa U.S.A.
Inc., Visa International Service Association, Visa Inc. and
various financial institutions

S-4/A

333-143966

10.14

7/24/2007

10.12

Loss Sharing Agreement Schedule

8-K

001-33977

10.1

2/8/2011

10.13

Amendment of Loss Sharing Agreement

10-K

001-33977

10.13

11/20/2015

10.14

Form of Litigation Management Agreement by and among
Visa Inc., Visa International Service Association, Visa U.S.A.
Inc. and the other parties thereto

S-4/A

333-143966

10.18

8/22/2007
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10.15

Omnibus Agreement, dated February 7, 2011, regarding
Interchange Litigation Judgment Sharing and Settlement
Sharing by and among Visa Inc., Visa U.S.A. Inc., Visa
International Service Association, MasterCard Incorporated,
MasterCard International Incorporated and the parties thereto

8-K

001-33977

10.2

7/16/2012

10.16

Amendment, dated August 26, 2014, to the Omnibus
Agreement regarding Interchange Litigation Judgment
Sharing and Settlement Sharing by and among Visa Inc.,
Visa U.S.A. Inc., Visa International Service Association,
MasterCard Incorporated, MasterCard International
Incorporated and the parties thereto

10-K

001-33977

10.14

11/21/2014

10.17

Second Amendment, dated October 22, 2015, to Omnibus
Agreement regarding Interchange Litigation Judgment
Sharing and Settlement Sharing

10-K

001-33977

10.17

11/20/2015

10.18

Settlement Agreement, dated October 19, 2012, by and
among Visa Inc., Visa U.S.A. Inc., Visa International Service
Association, MasterCard Incorporated, MasterCard
International Incorporated, various U.S. financial institution
defendants, and the class plaintiffs to resolve the class
plaintiffs' claims in the matter styled In re Payment Card
Interchange Fee and Merchant Discount Antitrust Litigation,
No. 05-MD-1720

10-Q

001-33977

10.3

2/6/2013

10.19

Loss Sharing Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2015,
among the UK Members listed on Schedule 1 thereto, Visa
Inc. and Visa Europe Limited

8-K

001-33977

10.1

11/2/2015

10.20

Litigation Management Deed, dated as of June 21, 2016, by
and among the VE Member Representative, Visa Inc., the
LMC Appointing Members, the UK&I DCC Appointing
Members, the Europe DCC Appointing Members and the
UK&I DCC Interested Members

8-K

001-33977

10.1

6/21/2016

10.21*

Visa 2005 Deferred Compensation Plan, effective as of
August 12, 2015

10-K

001-33977

10.21

11/20/2015

10.22*

Visa Directors Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended
and restated as of July 22, 2014

10-K

001-33977

10.17

11/21/2014

10.23*

Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan, as
amended and restated as of February 3, 2016

DEFA 14A

001-33977

Annex A

1/12/2016

10.24*

Visa Inc. Incentive Plan, as amended and restated as of
February 3, 2016

DEF 14A

001-33977

Annex B

12/11/2015

10.25*

Visa Excess Thrift Plan, as amended and restated as of
January 1, 2008

10-K

001-33977

10.31

11/21/2008

10.26*

Visa Excess Retirement Benefit Plan, as amended and
restated as of January 1, 2008

10-K

001-33977

10.32

11/21/2008
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10.27*

First Amendment, effective January 1, 2011, of the Visa
Excess Retirement Benefit Plan, as amended and restated as
of January 1, 2008

10-K

001-33977

10.34

11/18/2011

10.28*

Visa Inc. Executive Severance Plan, effective as of
November 3, 2010

8-K

001-33977

10.1

11/9/2010

10.29*

Visa Inc. 2015 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

DEF 14A

001-33977

Appendix B

12/12/2014

10.30*

Form of Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
Stock Option Award Agreement for executive officers, other
than the CEO, for awards granted after November 1, 2010

10-K

001-33977

10.40

11/19/2010

10.31*

Form of Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
Stock Option Award Agreement for executive officers, other
than the CEO, for awards granted after November 1, 2011

10-K

001-33977

10.35

11/18/2011

10.32*

Form of Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
Stock Option Award Agreement for the CEO, for awards
granted after November 1, 2012

10-Q

001-33977

10.4

2/6/2013

10.33*

Form of Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
Stock Option Award Agreement for awards granted after
November 18, 2013

10-Q

001-33977

10.1

1/30/2014

10.34*

Form of Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
Restricted Stock Award Agreement for awards granted after
November 18, 2013

10-Q

001-33977

10.2

1/30/2014

10.35*

Form of Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for awards granted
after November 18, 2013

10-Q

001-33977

10.3

1/30/2014

10.36*

Form of Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
Performance Share Award Agreement for awards granted
after November 18, 2013

10-Q

001-33977

10.4

1/30/2014

10.37*

Form of Alternate Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive
Compensation Plan Stock Option Award Agreement for
awards granted after November 18, 2013

10-Q

001-33977

10.5

1/30/2014

10.38*

Form of Alternate Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive
Compensation Plan Restricted Stock Award Agreement for
awards granted after November 18, 2013

10-Q

001-33977

10.6

1/30/2014

10.39*

Form of Alternate Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive
Compensation Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement
for awards granted after November 18, 2013

10-Q

001-33977

10.7

1/30/2014
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10.40*

Form of Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
Director Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for awards
granted after November 18, 2013

10-Q

001-33977

10.8

1/30/2014

10.41*

Form of Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
Director Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for awards
granted after November 1, 2014

10-K

001-33977

10.40

11/21/2014

10.42*

Form of Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
Stock Option Award Agreement for awards granted after
November 1, 2014

10-K

001-33977

10.41

11/21/2014

10.43*

Form of Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
Restricted Stock Award Agreement for awards granted after
November 1, 2014

10-K

001-33977

10.42

11/21/2014

10.44*

Form of Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for awards granted
after November 1, 2014

10-K

001-33977

10.43

11/21/2014

10.45*

Form of Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
Performance Share Award Agreement for awards granted
after November 1, 2014

10-K

001-33977

10.44

11/21/2014

10.46*

Form of Alternate Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive
Compensation Plan Stock Option Award Agreement for
awards granted after November 1, 2014

10-K

001-33977

10.45

11/21/2014

10.47*

Form of Alternate Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive
Compensation Plan Restricted Stock Award Agreement for
awards granted after November 1, 2014

10-K

001-33977

10.46

11/21/2014

10.48*

Form of Alternate Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive
Compensation Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement
for awards granted after November 1, 2014

10-K

001-33977

10.47

11/21/2014

10.49*

Form of Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
Stock Option Award Agreement for awards granted after
November 1, 2015

10-Q

001-33977

10.1

1/28/2016

10.50*

Form of Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for awards granted
after November 1, 2015

10-Q

001-33977

10.2

1/28/2016

10.51*

Form of Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
Performance Share Award Agreement for awards granted
after November 1, 2015

10-Q

001-33977

10.3

1/28/2016
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10.52*+

Form of Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for the CEO, for the
Make-Whole Award.

10.53*

Form of Letter Agreement relating to Visa Inc. Executive
Severance Plan

8-K

001-33977

10.2

11/9/2010

10.54*

Offer Letter, dated October 23, 2012, between Visa Inc. and
Charles W. Scharf

8-K

001-33977

99.2

10/24/2012

10.55*

Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement, dated November 7, 2012,
between Visa Inc. and Charles W. Scharf

8-K

001-33977

10.1

11/9/2012

10.56*

Amendment No. 1 to the Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement,
effective December 13, 2013, between Visa Inc. and Charles
W. Scharf

10-K

001-33977

10.51

11/21/2014

10.57*

Consulting Agreement, dated October 17, 2016, between
Visa Inc. and Charles W. Scharf

8-K

001-33977

99.2

10/21/2016

10.58*

Offer Letter, dated October 17, 2016, between Visa Inc. and
Alfred F. Kelly, Jr.

8-K

001-33977

99.1

10/21/2016

10.59*+

Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement, dated November 9, 2016,
between Visa Inc. and Alfred F. Kelly, Jr.

10.60*

Offer Letter, dated May 20, 2013, between Visa Inc. and
Ryan McInerney

8-K

001-33977

99.2

5/23/2013

10.61*

Sign-On Bonus Agreement, dated May 22, 2013, between
Visa Inc. and Ryan McInerney

10-K

001-33977

10.53

11/21/2014

10.62*

Offer Letter, dated November 6, 2013, between Visa Inc. and
Rajat Taneja

10-K

001-33977

10.54

11/21/2014

10.63*

Sign-On Bonus Agreement, dated November 12, 2013,
between Visa Inc. and Rajat Taneja

10-K

001-33977

10.55

11/21/2014

10.64*

Offer Letter and One-Time Cash Award
Agreement, dated January 27, 2015, between
Visa Inc. and Vasant M. Prabhu

8-K

001-33977

99.2

2/2/2015

12.1+

Statement of Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed
Charges

21.1+

List of Significant Subsidiaries of Visa Inc.

23.1+

Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm

31.1+

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to
Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
6
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31.2+

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1+

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2+

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

_______________
†
Confidential treatment has been requested for portions of this agreement. A completed copy of the agreement, including the redacted
portions, has been filed separately with the SEC.
*
Management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement.
+
Filed or furnished herewith.
#
Schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule will be furnished
supplementally to the SEC upon request; provided, however, that the parties may request confidential treatment pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of
the Exchange Act for any document so furnished.
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EXHIBIT 10.52

Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Grant
Participant:

<first_name> <middle_name> <last_name>

Employee ID:

<emp_id>

Company:

Visa Inc.

Notice:

You have been granted the following Restricted Stock Units in accordance with the terms of the Visa Inc. 2007 Equity
Incentive Compensation Plan (the “Plan”) and the Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (“Agreement”) attached
hereto.

Type of Award:Restricted Stock Units
Grant ID:<award_id>
Grant:Grant Date: <award_date>
Number of Shares Underlying Restricted Stock Units: <shares_awarded>
Period of Restriction:

The Period of Restriction applicable to those portions of the total number of your Restricted Stock Units listed in the
schedule below shall commence on the Grant Date and shall lapse on the corresponding “Vesting Date” listed below.
Shares on Vesting Date
<vesting_schedule>
However, in the event of your termination of employment due to your death or Disability (as those terms are defined in
the Agreement), the Period of Restriction will immediately lapse as to the full number of Restricted Stock Units. In the
event of the termination of your employment by the Company (as defined in the Agreement) without Cause or your
resignation of employment with Visa for Good Reason (as those terms are defined in the Agreement), conditioned on
your execution and failure to revoke a release of claims against the Company and its affiliates in the form attached to
the Visa Inc. Executive Severance Plan, the Period of Restriction will lapse with respect to the number of Restricted
Stock Units that would have lapsed assuming you had continued employment with the Company for the twelve month
period following your termination of employment. In addition, in the event of your termination of employment due to
Retirement (as defined in the Agreement), the Period of Restriction will continue to lapse according to the vesting
schedule set forth above. Moreover, the Award and any Shares issued or cash payment(s) made hereunder are
subject to rescission and forfeiture during Participant’s employment and for twelve (12) months after the later of
Participant’s (i) Termination or (ii) receipt of cash payment(s) or Shares hereunder if Participant engages in
Detrimental Activity during such periods, as described in Section 4(f) below.

Acceptance:

To accept or reject your Restricted Stock Units award, please complete the on-line form ("Accept or Reject Your
Grant") as promptly as possible, but, in any case, within ninety (90) days after the Grant Date. If you accept your
award, you will be deemed to have agreed to

the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, the terms and conditions of the Plan, and the Addendum with
Additional Country Specific Terms and Conditions attached as Exhibit A, all of which are made part of the Agreement.
Your Agreement is available to you online in your Schwab Equity Award Center (EAC) account via this link
https://eac.schwab.com .

Visa Inc.
2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement
This Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (this “Agreement”), dated as of the Grant Date (the “Grant Date”) set forth in
the Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Grant attached as Schedule A hereto (the “Grant Notice”), is made between Visa Inc. (the “Company”) and the
Participant set forth in the Grant Notice. The Grant Notice is included in and made part of this Agreement.
1.

Definitions .

Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meaning set forth in the Visa Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive
Compensation Plan (the “Plan”).
2.

Grant of the Restricted Stock Units .

Subject to the provisions of this Agreement and the provisions of the Plan, the Company hereby grants to the Participant,
pursuant to the Plan, the number of Restricted Stock Units set forth in the Grant Notice (the “Restricted Stock Units”).
3.

Dividend Equivalents .

Each Restricted Stock Unit shall entitle the Participant to Dividend Equivalents with respect to regular cash dividends that
would otherwise be paid on the Share underlying such Restricted Stock Unit during the period from the Grant Date to the date such Share is
delivered in accordance with Section 5. Any such Dividend Equivalent shall be paid to the Participant at (or within thirty (30) days following) the time
such related dividends are paid to holders of Shares.
4.

Period of Restriction; Termination .

The Period of Restriction with respect to the Restricted Stock Units shall be as set forth in the Grant Notice (the “Period of
Restriction”). The Participant acknowledges that an important and material purpose of this Agreement, as a matter of the internal affairs of the
Company, is to ensure that Participant’s interests and those of the Company remain aligned. This is achieved by Participant agreeing to avoid
Detrimental Activity during Participant’s employment and for twelve (12) months after the later of Participant’s (i) Termination or (ii) receipt of cash
payment(s) or Shares hereunder. Avoidance of Detrimental Activity in accordance with the terms of this Agreement is understood to be
precondition to entitlement and retention of any award under this Agreement. The Participant acknowledges that prior to the expiration of the
applicable portion of the Period of Restriction, the Restricted Stock Units may not be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, encumbered, alienated,
hypothecated or otherwise disposed of (whether voluntary or involuntary or by operation of law by judgment, levy, attachment, garnishment or any
other legal or equitable proceedings (including bankruptcy)), other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution. Upon the expiration of the
applicable portion of the Period of Restriction, the restrictions set forth in this Agreement with respect to the Restricted Stock Units theretofore
subject to such expired Period of Restriction shall lapse, except as may be provided in accordance with Section 11 hereof. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, prior to the expiration of the applicable portion of the Period of Restriction, the Restricted Stock Units may be transferred to the
Participant’s former spouse pursuant to a domestic relations order which is approved by the Company, in accordance with any procedures, and
subject to any limitations, as the Company may prescribe and subject to applicable law. Subject to the terms of the Plan and the remaining
provisions of this Section 4, all Restricted Stock Units for which the Period of Restriction had not lapsed prior to the date of the Participant’s
Termination shall be immediately forfeited. Notwithstanding the foregoing to the contrary:

(a)
Death and Disability . Upon Termination of the Participant due to death or disability (within the meaning of the
Company’s or its Affiliate’s long-term disability plan under which the Participant is covered from time to time (“Disability”)), then the Period of
Restriction shall immediately lapse as to the full number of Restricted Stock Units.
(b)
Good Reason or Without Cause . Upon Termination of the Participant for Good Reason (as defined below) or upon
his Termination by the Company, a Subsidiary or an Affiliate without Cause (as defined below), whether prior to or following a Change of Control,
then conditioned on the Participant’s execution and failure to revoke a release of claims against the Company and its affiliates in the form attached
to the Visa Inc. Executive Severance Plan, the Period of Restriction shall lapse with respect to the number of Restricted Stock Units that would have
lapsed assuming the Participant had continued employment with the Company for the twelve month period following the Participant’s Termination.
For the avoidance of doubt, Section 15.1(a) of the Plan shall not apply to the Restricted Stock to the extent such provision conflicts with this Section
4(c).
(c)
Change of Control. If a Change of Control occurs, and, at any time prior to the second (2nd) anniversary of the
Change of Control, the Participant incurs a Termination, either by the Company, a Subsidiary or an Affiliate without Cause (as defined below), or by
the Participant for Good Reason (as defined below), then the Period of Restriction shall immediately lapse as to the full number of Restricted Stock
Units. For the avoidance of doubt, Section 15.1(b) of the Plan shall not apply to the Restricted Stock Units to the extent such provision conflicts with
this Section 4(d).
(d)
Other Terminations . Upon Termination of the Participant due to any reason other than due to death, Disability,
Termination by the Participant for Good Reason or by the Company a Subsidiary or an Affiliate without Cause, or termination without Cause or
termination for Good Reason following a Change of Control, then all Restricted Stock Units for which the Period of Restriction had not lapsed prior to
the date of such Termination shall be immediately forfeited.
(e) Detrimental Activity . If, at any time during Participant’s employment by the Company, any Affiliate or a Subsidiary or
within the later of (i) twelve (12) months after the Participant’s Termination (as defined in the Plan) or (ii) twelve (12) months after Participant is
delivered Shares or cash payment(s) pursuant to this Award, Participant engages in any Detrimental Activity, then the Company may rescind any
portion of the Award distributed to the Participant within the twenty-four (24) month period immediately prior to the Participant’s engagement in
Detrimental Activity and/or pursue any other remedies allowed under applicable law. In the event of such a rescission, Participant’s then outstanding
Restricted Stock Units will be cancelled for no additional consideration by the Company and Participant will have no rights in same, and Participant
shall immediately repay or return to the Company any cash payment(s) and Shares that have been paid or issued to Participant by the Company
pursuant to this Agreement within the twenty-four (24) month period immediately prior to the Participant’s engagement in Detrimental Activity. If any
such Shares are no longer held by Participant then Participant shall pay the Company a sum equal to the Fair Market Value of the Shares at the
time they were sold or otherwise conveyed to another party by Participant. This Section 4(f) shall be construed to supplement, and not contradict,
replace or eliminate, any remedies available to the Company under Section 14, or otherwise available under applicable law.
5.

Payment of Restricted Stock Units .

As soon as reasonably practicable following the lapse of the applicable portion of the Period of Restriction, but in no event
later than 90 days following the date of such lapse, the Company shall cause to be delivered to the Participant (a) the full number of Shares
underlying the Restricted Stock Units as to which such portion of the Period of Restriction has so lapsed, (b) a cash payment determined by
reference to the then-current Fair Market Value of such Shares or (c) a combination of Shares and such cash payment as the Committee, in its sole
discretion, shall determine, subject to satisfaction of applicable tax withholding obligations with respect thereto in accordance with Section 6 of this
Agreement; provided , however , that if the Participant’s Termination occurs under any circumstances other than death, any such delivery of Shares
or cash payment due to lapse of the Period of Restriction upon such Termination shall be delayed for six months from the date of such Participant’s
Termination if the Participant is a “specified employee” (as such term is defined in Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code) determined in accordance
with the methodology established by the Company as in effect on the date of such Termination.

6.

Taxes and Withholdings .

Upon the expiration of the applicable portion of the Period of Restriction, or such earlier date on which the value of any
Restricted Stock Units otherwise becomes includible in the Participant’s gross income for income tax purposes or on which taxes are otherwise
payable, any taxes of any kind required by law to be withheld with respect to such Restricted Stock Units shall be satisfied by the Company
withholding Shares or cash otherwise deliverable or payable to the Participant pursuant to the Restricted Stock Unit award; provided , however , that
the amount of any Shares so withheld shall not exceed the amount necessary to satisfy required Federal, state, local and non-United States
withholding obligations using the minimum statutory withholding rates for Federal, state, local and/or non-U.S. tax purposes, including payroll taxes,
that are applicable to supplemental taxable income, subject to any limitations as the Committee may prescribe and subject to applicable law, based
on the Fair Market Value of the Shares on the payment date. The Company, a Subsidiary or an Affiliate may, in the discretion of the Committee,
provide for alternative arrangements to satisfy applicable tax withholding requirements in accordance with Article XVII of the Plan.
Regardless of any action the Company, an Affiliate and /or a Subsidiary takes with respect to any or all tax withholding
(including social insurance contribution obligations, if any), the Participant acknowledges that the ultimate liability for all such taxes is and remains
the Participant’s responsibility (or that of the Participant’s beneficiary), and that none of the Company, an Affiliate and /or a Subsidiary: (a) makes
any representations or undertakings regarding the treatment of any tax withholding in connection with any aspect of the Restricted Stock Units,
including the grant or vesting thereof, the subsequent sale of Shares and the receipt of any dividends; or (b) commits to structure the terms of the
Restricted Stock Units or any aspect of the Restricted Stock Units to reduce or eliminate the Participant’s (or his or her beneficiary’s) liability for such
tax.
7.

No Rights as a Shareholder Prior to Issuance of Shares .

Neither the Participant nor any other person shall become the beneficial owner of the Shares underlying the Restricted
Stock Units, nor have any rights to dividends or other rights as a shareholder with respect to any such Shares, until and after such Shares, if any,
have been actually issued to the Participant and transferred on the books and records of the Company or its agent in accordance with the terms of
the Plan and this Agreement.
8.

No Right to Continued Employment .

Neither the Restricted Stock Units nor any terms contained in this Agreement shall confer upon the Participant any rights or
claims except in accordance with the express provisions of the Plan and this Agreement, and shall not give the Participant any express or implied
right to be retained in the employment or service of the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate for any period or in any particular position or at any
particular rate of compensation, nor restrict in any way the right of the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate , which right is hereby expressly
reserved, to modify or terminate the Participant’s employment or service at any time for any reason. The Participant acknowledges and agrees that
any right to lapse of the Period of Restriction is earned only by continuing as an employee of the Company or a Subsidiary or Affiliate at the will of
the Company or such Subsidiary or Affiliate, or satisfaction of any other applicable terms and conditions contained in the Plan and this Agreement,
and not through the act of being hired or being granted the Restricted Stock Units hereunder.
9.

The Plan .

By accepting any benefit under this Agreement, the Participant and any person claiming under or through the Participant
shall be conclusively deemed to have indicated his or her acceptance and ratification of, and consent to, all of the terms and conditions of the Plan
and this Agreement and any action taken under the Plan by the Board, the Committee or the Company, in any case in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Plan. Subject to Section 4(c) of this Agreement, in the event of any conflict between the provisions of the Plan and this
Agreement, the provisions of the Plan shall control, and this Agreement shall be deemed to be modified accordingly. This Agreement is subject to all
the terms, provisions and conditions of the Plan, which are incorporated herein by reference, and to such rules, policies and regulations as may from
time to time be adopted by the Committee. The Plan and the prospectus describing the Plan can be found on the Company’s Human Resources
intranet site. A paper copy of the Plan and the

prospectus shall be provided to the Participant upon the Participant’s written request to the Company at 900 Metro Center Blvd., Foster City,
California 94404, Attention: Stock Plan Administrator.
10.

Certain Defined Terms .
For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:

(a)
“Cause” means: the Participant’s (i) willful failure to perform his duties with the Company or any subsidiary or
controlled affiliate thereof (other than any such failure resulting from incapacity due to physical or mental illness); (ii) willful engagement in illegal
conduct or gross misconduct which is materially and demonstrably injurious to the Company; (iii) conviction of, or plea of guilty or nolo contendere
to, a charge of commission of a felony; or (iv) disclosure of confidential information in violation of the Company’s written policies which is materially
and demonstrably injurious to the Company; provided, that no act or failure to act, on your part, shall be considered “willful” unless it is done, or
omitted to be done, by you in bad faith or without reasonable belief that your action or omission was in the best interests of the Company. Any act, or
failure to act, based upon authority given pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by the Board or upon the advice of counsel for the Company shall be
conclusively presumed to be done, or omitted to be done, by you in good faith and in the best interests of the Company. The cessation of
employment by you shall not be deemed to be for Cause unless and until there shall have been delivered to you a copy of a resolution duly adopted
by the affirmative vote of not less than a majority of the entire membership of the Board at a meeting of the Board called and held for such purpose
(after reasonable notice is provided to you and you are given an opportunity, together with counsel, to be heard before the Board), finding that, in the
good faith opinion of the Board, you are guilty of the conduct described in clauses (i), (ii) or (iv) above, and specifying the particulars thereof in detail.
(b)
“Good Reason” means: (i) the assignment to the Participant of any duties inconsistent with his position (including
status, offices, titles and reporting requirements), authority, duties or responsibilities or any action by the Company which results in a diminution in
any of the foregoing, excluding for this purpose an isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent action not taken in bad faith and that is remedied by the
Company promptly after receipt of notice thereof given by the Participant; (ii) any failure by the Company to provide the Participant with the
compensation or other benefits contemplated under this offer letter, other than an isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent failure not occurring in bad
faith and that is remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of notice thereof given by the Participant; (iii) any other material breach of the
Participant’s offer letter of employment by the Company; or (iv) any failure by the Company to require any successor (whether direct or indirect, by
purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company to assume expressly and agree
to satisfy all of the obligations under the Participant’s offer letter of employment in the same manner and to the same extent that the Company would
be required to satisfy such obligations if no such succession had taken place.
(c)
“Detrimental Activity” means: (i) providing services or material assistance to any payments business that is in
competition with the payments business of the Company in the United States or any other country where the Company does business; (ii) soliciting
or knowingly inducing a Company customer that Participant had material dealings with or was provided confidential information about while
employed with the Company to cease or reduce doing business with the Company or to divert a business opportunity related to the Company’s line
of business to another party; or, (iii) soliciting or knowingly inducing an employee of the Company that Participant gained knowledge of while
employed with the Company to leave the employment of the Company. Detrimental Activity is not intended to include (i) duly authorized activity
undertaken for the benefit of the Company in the ordinary course of Participant’s employment duties for the Company, (ii) employment with an
independently operated subsidiary, division, or unit of a diversified corporation so long as the independently operated business unit at issue is truly
independent and does not compete in any way with the Company; or, (iii) holding a passive and non-controlling ownership interest of less than 5% of
the stock or other securities of a publicly traded company.
11.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations .

(a) The Restricted Stock Units and the obligation of the Company to deliver Shares or cash payments hereunder shall be
subject in all respects to (i) all applicable Federal and state laws, rules and regulations; and (ii) any registration, qualification, approvals or other
requirements imposed by any government or regulatory agency or

body which the Committee shall, in its discretion, determine to be necessary or applicable. Moreover, the Company shall not deliver any certificates
for Shares to the Participant or any other person pursuant to this Agreement if doing so would be contrary to applicable law. If at any time the
Company determines, in its discretion, that the listing, registration or qualification of Shares upon any national securities exchange or under any
state or federal law, or the consent or approval of any governmental regulatory body, is necessary or desirable, the Company shall not be required to
deliver any certificates for Shares to the Participant or any other person pursuant to this Agreement unless and until such listing, registration,
qualification, consent or approval has been effected or obtained, or otherwise provided for , free of any conditions not acceptable to the Company.
(b) It is intended that any Shares received upon expiration of the Period of Restriction shall have been registered under
the Securities Act. If the Participant is an “affiliate” of the Company, as that term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act (“Rule 144”), the
Participant may not sell the Shares received except in compliance with Rule 144. Certificates representing Shares issued to an “affiliate” of the
Company may bear a legend setting forth such restrictions on the disposition or transfer of the Shares as the Company deems appropriate to comply
with federal and state securities laws.
(c) If at any time the Shares are not registered under the Securities Act, and/or there is no current prospectus in effect
under the Securities Act with respect to the Shares, the Participant shall execute, prior to the delivery of any Shares to the Participant by the
Company pursuant to this Agreement, an agreement (in such form as the Company may specify) in which the Participant represents and warrants
that the Participant is purchasing or acquiring the Shares acquired under this Agreement for the Participant's own account, for investment only and
not with a view to the resale or distribution thereof, and represents and agrees that any subsequent offer for sale or distribution of any kind of such
Shares shall be made only pursuant to either (i) a registration statement on an appropriate form under the Securities Act, which registration
statement has become effective and is current with regard to the Shares being offered or sold; or (ii) a specific exemption from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act, but in claiming such exemption the Participant shall, prior to any offer for sale of such Shares, obtain a prior
favorable written opinion, in form and substance satisfactory to the Company, from counsel for or approved by the Company, as to the applicability
of such exemption thereto.
12.

Notices and Consent to Service of Process .

Any notice or other communication provided for hereunder shall be made in writing and deemed given (a) three days after
being deposited in the U.S. mail, first class, postage prepaid, certified receipt requested, or (b) when delivered by a nationally recognized overnight
courier which provides confirmation of delivery. All notices by the Participant or the Participant’s successors or permitted assigns shall be addressed
to the Company at 900 Metro Center Blvd., Foster City, California 94404, Attention: Stock Plan Administration in the Benefits Department, or such
other address as the Company may from time to time specify, and any notice that involves service of legal process on the Company shall be
directed to Company’s Registered Agent for purposes of service of legal process. All notices and service of legal process to the Participant shall be
addressed to the Participant at the Participant’s last known address in the Company's records or such forwarding address as Participant may
provide to the Company in writing and in accordance with this Section 12.
13.

Other Plans .

The Participant acknowledges that any income derived from this Restricted Stock Units award shall not affect the
Participant’s participation in, or benefits under, any other benefit plan or other contract or arrangement maintained by the Company or any
Subsidiary or Affiliate.
14.

Clawback Policy.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, any cash incentive compensation received by the
Participant, Restricted Stock Unit granted, Shares issued and/or amount paid hereunder, and/or any amount received with respect to any sale of any
such Shares, shall be subject to potential cancellation, recoupment, rescission, payback or other action in accordance with the terms of the
Company’s Clawback Policy, as it

may be amended from time to time (the “Policy”). The Participant agrees and consents to the Company’s application, implementation and
enforcement of (a) the Policy or any similar policy established by the Company that may apply to the Participant and (b) any provision of applicable
law relating to cancellation, rescission, payback or recoupment of compensation, and expressly agrees that the Company may take such actions as
are necessary to effectuate the Policy, any similar policy (as applicable to the Participant) or applicable law without further consent or action being
required by the Participant. To the extent that the terms of this Agreement and the Policy or any similar policy conflict, then the terms of such policy
shall prevail.
15.

Rights of Participant .
In accepting the grant, the Participant acknowledges that:

(a)
the Plan is established voluntarily by the Company, it is discretionary in nature and it may be modified, suspended or
terminated by the Company at any time, as provided in the Plan and this Agreement;
(b)
the grant of Restricted Stock Units is voluntary and occasional and does not create any contractual or other right for
the Participant or any other person to receive future grants, or benefits;
(c)

all decisions with respect to any future grants will be at the sole discretion of the Company;

(d)
the Restricted Stock Units grants do not constitute compensation of any kind for services of any kind rendered to the
Company, its Affiliates and /or Subsidiaries, and are not part of the terms and conditions of the Participant’s employment;
(e)
no provision of this Agreement or the Restricted Stock Units granted hereunder shall give the Participant any right to
continue in the employ of the Company or any Affiliate or Subsidiary, create any inference as to the length of employment of the Participant, affect
the right of an employer to terminate the employment of the Participant, with or without Cause, or give the Participant any right to participate in any
employee welfare or benefit plan or other program (other than the Plan);
(f)
if the Participant ceases to be an employee of the Company or any Affiliate or Subsidiary for any reason, the
Participant shall not be entitled by way of compensation for loss of office or otherwise howsoever to any sum or other benefit to compensate the
Participant for the loss of any rights under this Agreement or the Plan;
(g)
notwithstanding any terms or conditions of the Plan to the contrary, in the event of termination of the Participant’s
employment for any reason other than a termination pursuant to which accelerated or continued lapsing of restrictions occurs as provided in Section
4 hereof, the Participant’s right to receive Restricted Stock Units and vest in Restricted Stock Units under the Plan, if any, will terminate immediately
on the date that the Participant is no longer actively employed and will not be extended by any notice period mandated under local law (e.g., active
employment would not include a period of “garden leave” or similar period pursuant to local law); and
(h) notwithstanding any provisions in this Agreement, the Restricted Stock Units granted hereunder shall be subject to any
special terms and conditions for Participant’s country set forth in the Addendum, attached hereto as Exhibit A. Moreover, if Participant relocates to
one of the countries included in the Addendum, the special terms and conditions for such country will apply to Participant, to the extent the Company
determines that the application of such terms and conditions is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons. The Addendum
constitutes part of this Agreement.
16. Data Protection .
(a) The Participant hereby explicitly and unambiguously consents to the collection, use and transfer, in electronic or other
form, of his personal data as described in this document by and among, as applicable, the Company, its Affiliates and its Subsidiaries (“the Group”)
for the exclusive purpose of implementing, administering and managing his participation in the Plan.

(b)
The Participant acknowledges that the Group holds certain personal information about him, including, but not limited
to, his name, home address and telephone number, date of birth, social insurance number or other identification number, salary, nationality, job title,
details of all Options or any other entitlement to Shares outstanding in the Participant’s favor, for the purpose of implementing, administering and
managing the Plan (“Data”).
(c)
The Participant acknowledges and agrees that Data may be transferred to any third parties assisting in the
implementation, administration and management of the Plan, that these recipients may be located in the Participant’s country of residence or
elsewhere, and that the recipient’s country of residence may have different data privacy laws and protections than those of the Participant’s country.
The Participants authorize the recipients to receive, possess, use, retain and transfer the Data, in electronic or other form, for the purposes of
implementing, administering and managing the Participant’s participation in the Plan, including any requisite transfer of such Data as may be
required to a broker or other third party with whom the Participant may elect to deposit any Shares acquired. The Participant understands that Data
will be held only as long as is necessary to implement, administer and manage his participation in the Plan. The Participant understands that he
may, at any time, view Data, request additional information about the storage and processing of Data, require any necessary amendments to Data or
refuse or withdraw the consents herein, in any case without cost, by contacting in writing his local human resources representative. The Participant
understands, however, that refusing or withdrawing his consent may affect his ability to participate in the Plan.
17. Choice of Law and Forum / Consent to Jurisdiction .
In order to maintain uniformity in the interpretation of this Agreement across the Company’s operations in many different
locations, the parties have expressly agreed that this Agreement shall be governed by and enforced under the laws of the State of Delaware, without
regard to any contrary principles of conflict of laws of Delaware or another state. The parties further agree that any legal action, suit or proceeding
arising from or related to this Agreement shall be instituted exclusively in a state or federal court of competent jurisdiction located in Delaware. The
parties consent to the personal jurisdiction of such Delaware courts over them, waive all objections to the contrary, and waive any and all objections
to the exclusive location of legal proceedings in Delaware (including, without limitation, any objection based on cost, convenience or location of
relevant persons). The parties further agree that there shall be a conclusive presumption that this Agreement has a significant, material and
reasonable relationship to the State of Delaware.
18.

Acceptance .

The Participant must accept or reject his award under this Agreement no later than ninety (90) days after the Grant Date
(“Acceptance Period”). If the Participant accepts the award within the Acceptance Period, he will be deemed to have agreed to the terms and
conditions set forth in this Agreement, the terms and conditions of the Plan, and the Addendum with Additional Country Specific Terms and
Conditions attached as Exhibit A, all of which are made part of this Agreement.

EXHIBIT 10.59

AIRCRAFT TIME SHARING AGREEMENT
THIS AIRCRAFT TIME SHARING AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”) is made and entered into effective November 9,
2016, by and between Visa U.S.A. Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “ Company ” ), and Alfred F. Kelly, Jr. (the “ Executive ” ).
RECITALS
WHEREAS, Company owns and/or operates the aircraft (individually and/or collectively, as the case may be, the “ Aircraft
” ) listed on Schedule A hereto for business use by employees and non-employee directors of the Company;
WHEREAS, Company has agreed to make the Aircraft, with flight crew, available to Executive for personal travel on a nonexclusive time sharing basis in accordance with Section 91.501(c)(1) of the Federal Aviation Regulations (“ FAR ”); and
WHEREAS, Executive agrees to reimburse Company for the personal use of the Aircraft as permitted under the FAR and
pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, which sets forth the understanding of the parties.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the provisions of this Agreement, and for other good and
valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:
1. Term. The term of this Agreement (the “ Term ”) shall commence on the date hereof and shall continue until terminated
by either party on written notice to the other party, such termination to become effective ten (10) days from the date of the notice;
provided, however, that this Agreement may be terminated by Company on such shorter notice as may be required for Company to
comply with applicable law, regulations, the requirements of any financial institution with a security or other interest in the Aircraft,
insurance requirements, or in the event the insurance required hereunder is not in full force and effect. This Agreement also shall
terminate automatically on the date Executive ceases to serve as Company’s Chief Executive Officer. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
any provisions directly or indirectly related to Executive's payment obligations for flights completed prior to the date of termination
and the limitation of liability provisions in Section 11 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.
2. Provision of Aircraft and Crew. Subject to Aircraft availability and Section 4 of this Agreement, Company agrees to
provide to Executive the Aircraft and flight crew on a time sharing basis, as defined in FAR Sections 91.501(c)(1) and 91.501(d).
Company shall provide, at its sole expense, qualified flight crew for all flight operations under this Agreement. If Company becomes
the owner and/or operator of any aircraft not listed on Schedule A hereto, Schedule A shall be modified to include such aircraft as an
Aircraft covered by this Agreement, and thereafter this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect with respect to such Aircraft
and each of the other Aircraft identified thereon, if any. If Company is no longer the owner and/or operator of any of the Aircraft,
Schedule A shall be deemed amended to delete any reference to such Aircraft and this Agreement shall be terminated as to such
Aircraft but shall remain in full force and effect with

respect to each of the other Aircraft identified thereon, if any. No such termination shall affect any of the rights and obligations of
the parties accrued or incurred prior to such termination.
3. Expenses.
(a) Reimbursement. For each flight conducted under this Agreement (including return and deadhead flights, as
described in Section 6(c)), Executive shall pay Company an amount (as determined by Company in its sole discretion) equal to the
lesser of (i) the amount that would, absent reimbursement, be reportable with respect to Executive in the Summary Compensation
Table of Company’s Proxy Statement (as determined by Company in its sole and absolute discretion in accordance with Item 402 of
Regulation S-K (17 CFR 229.402), including any amendments or successor rules thereto) (the “ SEC Cost ”), or (ii) the expenses of
operating such flight that may be charged pursuant to FAR Section 91.501(d) as in effect from time to time (the “ FAR Expenses ”).
Under no circumstances shall Executive pay Company more than the maximum amount of expense reimbursement allowed under
FAR Section 91.501(d) for any flight.
(b) SEC Cost . For purposes of this Agreement, the SEC Cost shall include, but not be limited to, the following
variable operating costs: aircraft fuel and oil, hourly engine program charges, communication, catering, allowance for maintenance
and maintenance programs, contract pilots and cabin coordinators, flight crew expenses, flight crew meals, aircraft expenses,
cleaning, landing and ground services, navigation, landing fees, parking charges and flight costs associated with repositioning the
Aircraft in connection with deadhead flights (as described in Section 6 (c) of this Agreement).
(c) FAR Expenses. As of the date of this Agreement, FAR Expenses are limited to the following costs:
i.

Fuel, oil, lubricants, and other additives;

ii.

Travel expenses of the crew, including food, lodging, and ground transportation;

iii. Hangar and tie-down costs away from the Aircraft's base of operation;
iv. Insurance obtained for the specific flight as per Section 9(b);
v.

Landing fees, airport taxes, and similar assessments;

vi. Customs, foreign permit, and similar fees directly related to the flight;
vii. In-flight food and beverages;
viii. Executive ground transportation;
ix. Flight planning and weather contract services; and
x.

An additional charge equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the expenses listed in subsection (i) above.

4. Annual Cap. Company’s obligation to provide Executive the Aircraft and flight crew for personal use in any fiscal year
shall cease at such time as the total cost of Executive’s personal
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travel (which includes both personal travel by Executive and his guests) equals $500,000, as determined by Company using the
lesser of (i) the SEC Cost, and (ii) the FAR Expenses.
5. Invoicing and Payment. All payments to be made to Company by Executive hereunder shall be paid in the manner set
forth in this Section. Company will pay, or cause to be paid, the expenses related to the operation of the Aircraft hereunder in the
ordinary course. Company shall provide or cause to be provided to Executive a monthly invoice, within fifteen (15) days after the
end of each month, that shows the personal use of the Aircraft by Executive pursuant to this Agreement during that month and
provides a complete accounting detailing all amounts that are payable by Executive pursuant to Section 3 for that month (plus
applicable domestic or international air transportation excise taxes, and any other fees, taxes or charges assessed on Executive by and
remitted to a government agency or airport authority). Executive shall pay all amounts due under the invoice not later than fifteen
(15) days after receipt thereof. In the event Company has not received all supplier invoices for reimbursable charges relating to
personal use of the Aircraft prior to the date of the invoice, Company shall issue supplemental invoices for such charges to
Executive, and Executive shall pay each supplemental invoice within fifteen (15) days after receipt thereof.
6. Scheduling Flights.
(a) Flight Requests. Executive shall provide Company with flight requests for Executive's personal travel to be
undertaken pursuant to this Agreement and proposed flight schedules as far in advance of Executive's desired departure date as
possible. Flight requests shall be made by Executive in a form that is acceptable to Company. Company shall have sole and
exclusive authority over the scheduling of the Aircraft. Company shall not be liable to Executive or any other person for loss, injury,
or damage occasioned by the delay or failure to furnish the Aircraft and crew pursuant to this Agreement for any reason. In addition
to requested schedules and departure times, Executive shall provide at least the following information for each proposed flight
reasonably in advance of the desired departure time as reasonably required by Company or its flight crew:
i.

Departure point;

ii.

Destination;

iii. Date and time of flight;
iv. Number and identity of anticipated passengers;
v.

Nature and extent of luggage and/or cargo expected to be carried;

vi. Date and time of return flight, if any; and
vii. Any other information concerning the proposed flight that may be pertinent to or required by Company,
its flight crew, or governmental entities.
(b) Approval of Flight Requests. Subject to Aircraft and crew availability, Company shall use its good faith efforts,
consistent with its approved policies, to accommodate Executive's needs and avoid conflicts in scheduling. Although every good
faith effort shall be made to avoid its occurrence, any flights scheduled under this Agreement are subject to cancellation by either
party
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without incurring liability to the other party. In the event of a cancellation, the canceling party shall provide the maximum notice
reasonably practicable.
(c) Repositioning of Aircraft. In the absence of another flight scheduled on the Aircraft by Executive or another
scheduled business trip, the Aircraft may remain at the destination until its next required use. In the event the Aircraft must be
repositioned, this Agreement shall be implemented such that all costs of deadhead flights (up to the amount described in Section 3)
shall be borne by Executive if such flights are attributable to the personal use of the Aircraft and would be reportable in the
Summary Compensation Table for Executive absent reimbursement.
7. Flight Operations.
(a) Operational Control and Authority. Company shall be responsible for the physical and technical operation of the
Aircraft and the safe performance of all flights under this Agreement, and shall retain full authority and control, including exclusive
operational control and exclusive possession, command and control of the Aircraft for all flights under this Agreement.
(b) Flight Crew. Company shall furnish at its expense a fully qualified flight crew with appropriate credentials to
conduct each flight undertaken under this Agreement and included on the insurance policies that Company is required to maintain
hereunder . In accordance with applicable FAR, the qualified flight crew provided by Company will exercise all required and/or
appropriate duties and responsibilities in regard to the safety of each flight conducted hereunder.
(c) Authority of Pilot-in-Command. The pilot-in-command shall have absolute discretion in all matters concerning
the preparation of the Aircraft for flight and the flight itself, the load carried and its distribution, the decision whether or not a flight
shall be undertaken, the route to be flown, the place where landings shall be made, and all other matters relating to operation of the
Aircraft. Executive specifically agrees that the flight crew shall have final and complete authority to delay or cancel any flight for
any reason or condition that in the sole judgment of the pilot-in-command could compromise the safety of the flight, and to take any
other action that in the sole judgment of the pilot-in-command is necessitated by considerations of safety. No such action of the pilotin-command shall create or support any liability to Executive or any other person for loss, injury, damage or delay. Company's
operation of the Aircraft hereunder shall be strictly within the guidelines and policies established by Company and FAR Part 91.
8. Aircraft Maintenance. Company shall, at its own expense, cause the Aircraft to be inspected, maintained, serviced,
repaired, overhauled, and tested in accordance with FAR Part 91 so that the Aircraft will remain in good operating condition and in a
condition consistent with its airworthiness certification and shall take such requirements into account in scheduling the Aircraft
hereunder, including but not limited compliance with applicable airworthiness directives and service bulletins. Performance of
maintenance, preventive maintenance or inspection shall not be delayed or postponed for the purpose of scheduling the Aircraft
unless such maintenance or inspection can safely be conducted at a later time in compliance with applicable laws, regulations and
requirements, and such delay or postponement is consistent with the sound discretion of the pilot-in-command. In the event that any
non-standard maintenance is required during the term and will interfere with Executive's requested or scheduled flights, Company, or
Company's pilot-in-command, shall notify
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Executive of the maintenance required, the effect on the ability to comply with Executive's requested or scheduled flights and the
manner in which the parties will proceed with the performance of such maintenance and conduct of such flight(s). In no event shall
Company be liable to Executive or any other person for loss, injury or damage occasioned by the delay or failure to furnish the
Aircraft under this Agreement, whether or not maintenance-related.
9. Insurance.
(a) Aviation Liability and Hull Insurance Policy. Company, at its expense, will maintain or cause to be maintained
in full force and effect throughout the Term of this Agreement an aviation liability and hull insurance policy including: aviation
liability insurance against bodily injury and property damage claims arising out of the use of the Aircraft in an amount not less than
$250 Million for each occurrence; and breach of warranty and hull insurance for the Aircraft in amounts determined by Company at
its sole discretion. The aviation liability coverage shall include Executive as an insured, and include a severability of interest
provision providing that the insurance shall apply separately to each insured against whom a claim is made, except as respects the
limits of liability. The aviation liability and hull insurance coverage shall include provisions whereby the insurer(s) waive all rights
of subrogation they may have or acquire against Executive and shall permit the use of the Aircraft by Company for compensation or
hire as provided in FAR Section 91.501.
(b) Additional Insurance. Company shall use reasonable commercial efforts to provide such additional insurance for
specific flights under this Agreement as Executive may reasonably request. Executive acknowledges that any trips scheduled to areas
not currently covered by existing policies may require Company to purchase additional insurance to comply with applicable
regulations, and Company shall be required to maintain or cause to be maintained such additional insurance. The cost of all flightspecific insurance shall be borne by Executive as provided in Section 3 above.
10. Use of Aircraft . Executive represents and warrants that :
(a) Executive will use the Aircraft under this Agreement for and only for his own account, including the carriage of
his guests, and will not use the Aircraft for the purpose of providing transportation of executives or cargo for compensation or hire or
for common carriage;
(b) Executive will not permit any lien, security interest or other charge or encumbrance to attach against the Aircraft
as a result of his actions or inactions, and shall not attempt to convey, mortgage, assign, lease or in any way alienate the Aircraft or
Company's rights hereunder or create any kind of lien or security interest involving the Aircraft or do anything or take any action that
might mature into such a lien; and
(c) During the Term of this Agreement, Executive will abide by and conform to all such laws, governmental and
airport orders, rules, and regulations as shall from time to time be in effect relating in any way to the operation or use of the Aircraft
by a lessee under a time sharing arrangement and all applicable policies of Company.
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11. Limitation of Liability . NEITHER COMPANY (NOR ITS AFFILIATES) MAKES, HAS MADE OR SHALL BE
DEEMED TO MAKE OR HAVE MADE ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED,
WRITTEN OR ORAL, WITH RESPECT TO ANY AIRCRAFT TO BE USED HEREUNDER OR ANY ENGINE OR
COMPONENT THEREOF INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY WARRANTY AS TO DESIGN, COMPLIANCE
WITH SPECIFICATIONS, QUALITY OF MATERIALS OR WORKMANSHIP, MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR ANY
PURPOSE, USE OR OPERATION, AIRWORTHINESS, SAFETY, PATENT, TRADEMARK OR COPYRIGHT
INFRINGEMENT OR TITLE. IN NO EVENT SHALL COMPANY OR ANY OF ITS AFFILIATES, SHAREHOLDERS,
DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, OR AGENTS BE LIABLE FOR OR HAVE ANY DUTY FOR INDEMNIFICATION
OR CONTRIBUTION TO EXECUTIVE OR EXECUTIVE’S GUESTS FOR ANY CLAIMED LIABILITIES, LOSSES, OR
INDIRECT, SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES RESULTING FROM OR ARISING OUT OF THE USE
OR OPERATION OF THE AIRCRAFT PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT (ALTOGETHER, THE “ LOSSES ”),
REGARDLESS OF WHETHER SUCH LOSSES ARISE OUT OF OR ARE CAUSED BY, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, THE
COMPANY’S NEGLIGENCE, GROSS NEGLIGENCE, OR STRICT LIABILITY OR WHETHER THE COMPANY KNEW OR
SHOULD HAVE KNOWN OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH LOSSES.
The provisions of this Section 11 shall survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement.
12. Risk of Loss. Company assumes and shall bear the entire risk of loss, theft, confiscation, damage to, or destruction of the
Aircraft from any cause whatsoever.
13. Base of Operations. For purposes of this Agreement, the base of operations of the Aircraft is Oakland International
Airport (KOAK), Oakland, California, provided that such base may be changed at Company's sole discretion upon notice from
Company to Executive.
14. Copy of Agreement in Aircraft. A copy of this Agreement shall be carried in the Aircraft and available for review at the
request of the Federal Aviation Administration on all flights conducted pursuant to this Agreement.
15. Notices and Communications. All notices and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing (except as
permitted in Section 6) and shall be given (and shall be deemed to have been duly given upon receipt or refusal to accept receipt) by
personal delivery, by facsimile or electronic mail (with a simultaneous confirmation copy sent by first class mail properly addressed
and postage prepaid), or by a reputable overnight courier service, addressed as follows:
If to Company:

Visa U.S.A. Inc.
c/o General Counsel
900 Metro Center Blvd.
Foster City, California 94404
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If to Executive:

Alfred F. Kelly, Jr.
Visa Inc.
c/o Executive Assistant to CEO
900 Metro Center Blvd.
Foster City, California 94404

The address of a party may be changed from time to time by such party by written notice to the other party.
16. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding between the parties with respect to its subject
matter, and there are no representations, warranties, rights, obligations, liabilities, conditions, covenants, or agreements relating to
such subject matter that are not expressly set forth herein.
17. Further Acts. Company and Executive shall from time to time perform such other and further acts and execute such other
and further instruments as may be required by law or may be reasonably necessary (i) to carry out the intent and purpose of this
Agreement, and (ii) to establish, maintain and protect the respective rights and remedies of the other party.
18. Non-Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any party’s interest hereunder shall be assignable to any person
whatsoever. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding on the parties hereto and their respective heirs, executors,
administrators, successors and assigns.
19. Taxes . Executive shall be responsible for paying, and Company shall be responsible for collecting from Executive and
paying over to the appropriate authorities, all applicable Federal excise taxes imposed under Section 4261 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended, and all sales, use and other excise taxes imposed by any authority in connection with the use of the
Aircraft by Executive hereunder.
20. Governing Law and Consent to Jurisdiction . This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with,
the laws of the State of California, without regard to principles of conflicts of laws.
21. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable, the legality, validity and
enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not be affected or impaired.
22. Amendment or Modification. This Agreement may be amended, modified or terminated only in writing duly executed by
the parties hereto.
23. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an
original, and all of which shall constitute one and the same Agreement, binding on all the parties notwithstanding that all the parties
are not signatories to the same counterpart.
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24. Truth-in-Leasing Compliance . Company, on behalf of Executive, shall (i) deliver a copy of this Agreement to the
Federal Aviation Administration, Aircraft Registration Branch, Attn: Technical Section, P.O. Box 25724, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma
73125 within 24 hours of its execution, (ii) notify the appropriate Flight Standards District Office at least 48 hours prior to the first
flight under this Agreement of the registration number of the Aircraft, and the location of the airport of departure and departure time
for such flight, and (iii) carry a copy of this Agreement onboard the Aircraft at all times when the Aircraft is being operated under
this Agreement.
25. TRUTH-IN-LEASING STATEMENT PURSUANT TO FAR SECTION 91.23.
COMPANY CERTIFIES THAT EACH OF THE AIRCRAFT HAS BEEN INSPECTED AND MAINTAINED DURING THE 12MONTH PERIOD PRECEDING THE DATE OF THIS AGREEMENT (OR SUCH SHORTER PERIOD AS OPERATOR SHALL
HAVE POSSESSED THE AIRCRAFT) IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF PART 91 OF THE FEDERAL
AVIATION REGULATIONS. EACH OF THE AIRCRAFT WILL BE MAINTAINED AND INSPECTED IN COMPLIANCE
WITH THE MAINTENANCE AND INSPECTION REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL OPERATIONS TO BE CONDUCTED UNDER
THIS AGREEMENT.
COMPANY AGREES, CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES, AS EVIDENCED BY ITS SIGNATURE BELOW, THAT
WHENEVER ANY OF THE AIRCRAFT IS OPERATED UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, COMPANY SHALL BE KNOWN AS,
CONSIDERED, AND SHALL IN FACT BE THE OPERATOR OF THE AIRCRAFT, AND THAT COMPANY UNDERSTANDS
ITS RESPONSIBILITIES FOR COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE FEDERAL AVIATION REGULATIONS.
THE PARTIES UNDERSTAND THAT AN EXPLANATION OF FACTORS AND PERTINENT FEDERAL AVIATION
REGULATIONS BEARING ON OPERATIONAL CONTROL CAN BE OBTAINED FROM THE NEAREST FAA FLIGHT
STANDARDS DISTRICT OFFICE.
SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement to be duly executed on the
day and year first above written .

Visa U.S.A. Inc.

Alfred F. Kelly, Jr.

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Alfred F. Kelly, Jr.

/s/ Vasant M. Prabhu
Vasant M. Prabhu
EVP, Chief Financial Officer
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SCHEDULE A

Type of Aircraft

U.S. Registration Number

Manufacturer Serial Number

GULFSTREAM GV-SP (550)

N107VS

5043

GULFSTREAM GVI (G650ER)

N358V

6161
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Exhibit 12.1
VISA INC.
STATEMENT OF COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
For the Years Ended September 30,
2016

(in millions, except for ratios)

(1)

2015 (1)

2013

2014 (2)

2012 (2)

Earnings:
Income before income taxes including non-controlling interest

$

Fixed charges

$

432

Other adjustments
Total earnings

8,012

8,995

$

3

1

7,724

$

8

3

7,257

$

4

1

2,207
(29)

4

7

$

8,445

$

9,001

$

7,733

$

7,265

$

2,185

$

432

$

3

$

8

$

4

$

(29)

$

432

$

3

$

8

$

4

$

(29)

Fixed charges:
Interest expense (3)
Total fixed charges
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges (4)
(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

19.5

2,576.8

926.6

1,880.7

(75.9)

On June 21, 2016, the Company acquired 100% of the share capital of Visa Europe, resulting in the recognition of $1.9 billion loss from the
effective settlement of the Framework Agreement between the Company and Visa Europe, and the recognition of $255 million non-cash
decrease in the fair value of the put option liability as non-operating income from the revaluation of the Visa Europe put option. During fiscal 2015,
we recorded an increase of $110 million in the fair value of the Visa Europe put option as non-cash, non-operating expense. See Note 2—
Acquisition of Visa Europe and Note 4—Fair Value Measurements and Investments to our consolidated financial statements of this report.
During fiscal 2014 and 2012, we recorded litigation provisions of $450 million and $4.1 billion, respectively, and related tax benefits, associated
with the interchange multidistrict litigation, which is covered by the U.S. retrospective responsibility plan. See Note 3—U.S. and Europe
Retrospective Responsibility Plans and Note 20—Legal Matters to our consolidated financial statements of this report.
Interest expense in fiscal 2016 primarily consists of interest expense on the fixed-rate senior notes issued in December 2015 and interest
expense on deferred consideration related to the Visa Europe acquisition. Interest expense in fiscal 2012 through 2015 primarily consists of
accretion on litigation matters and interest expense related to uncertain tax positions. During fiscal 2012, we reversed all previously recorded tax
reserves and accrued interest associated with uncertainties related to the deductibility of covered litigation expense recorded in fiscal 2007
through fiscal 2011.
Figures in the table may not recalculate exactly due to rounding. Earnings to fixed charges ratios are calculated based on unrounded numbers.

Exhibit 21.1
List of Significant
Subsidiaries of Visa Inc.
as of September 30, 2016
Name
Visa International Service Association

Jurisdiction
Delaware

Visa U.S.A. Inc.

Delaware

Visa Worldwide Pte. Limited

Singapore

Visa Europe Limited

United Kingdom

Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors
Visa Inc.:
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (No. 333-214208, No. 333-201770, No. 333-150426 and No. 333157191) on Form S-8 and (No. 333-205813) on Form S-3 of Visa Inc. of our report dated November 15, 2016, with respect to the consolidated
balance sheets of Visa Inc. and subsidiaries as of September 30, 2016 and 2015, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended September 30, 2016, and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2016, which report appears in the September 30, 2016 annual report on
Form 10-K of Visa Inc.
Our report dated November 15, 2016, on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2016, contains an
explanatory paragraph that states that management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and our audit of
internal control over financial reporting of Visa Inc. excludes an evaluation of internal control over financial reporting of Visa Europe.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Santa Clara, California
November 15, 2016

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13A-14(A)/15D-14(A)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Charles W. Scharf, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Visa Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date:

November 15, 2016

/s/ Charles W. Scharf
Charles W. Scharf
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13A-14(A)/15D-14(A)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Vasant M. Prabhu, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Visa Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date:

November 15, 2016

/s/ Vasant M. Prabhu
Vasant M. Prabhu
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Visa Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended September 30, 2016, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Charles W. Scharf, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, do hereby
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
•

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

•

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date:

November 15, 2016

/s/ Charles W. Scharf
Charles W. Scharf
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Visa Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended September 30, 2016, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Vasant M. Prabhu, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, do hereby
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
•

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

•

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date:

November 15, 2016

/s/

Vasant M. Prabhu

Vasant M. Prabhu
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

